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Welcome

Our services

Welcome to the City of Whittlesea’s Annual Report
2017-2018. Council is committed to transparent
reporting and accountability to the community and
our stakeholders.

As a local government organisation, the City of Whittlesea
is responsible for a wide range of services to our
community. These include waste and recycling collection
services, building and planning services, maternal and
child health services, maintenance and provision of local
parks and open spaces, services and support for the aged,
people with a disability and migrants, and many other
services essential to our community.

This report provides an overview of Council’s
performance in the 2017-18 financial year against the
seven Council Priorities set out in our Council Plan
2017-21 and Annual Budget 2017-18.
The report highlights achievements and challenges
faced and includes statutory reporting and legislative
information as required under the Local Government
Act 1989 and other legislation.
The City of Whittlesea recognises the rich Aboriginal
heritage of this country and acknowledges the Wurundjeri
Willum Clan as the Traditional Owners of this place.

Council is also responsible for ensuring residents can
enjoy new and improved community infrastructure such
as community centres, bike paths, upgrades to sporting
facilities, local roads and playgrounds and parks.
Council works with the State and Federal Governments,
other local councils, developers, local organisations and
community groups to advocate, plan and provide for our
community’s needs.
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Mayor’s message

CEO’s message

Cr Kris Pavlidis

Simon Overland

Mayor

I am proud to present the 2017-18 City of Whittlesea Annual
Report. It has been a busy and exciting year in the City of
Whittlesea with a number of significant projects and plans
being delivered.
An important project is Whittlesea 2040 which is helping
us to develop and deliver on our community’s vision for
our municipality.
We reached out to our community in a variety of creative
ways and received an excellent response. More than 4000
people completed surveys about what they’d like to see in
their future vision of the City of Whittlesea.
We are now consolidating our vision and look forward to
continuing the conversation with our community.
A highlight for me this past year was the City of Whittlesea
joining the international Welcoming Cities network. This
global movement provides a Standards framework to guide
Councils work in supporting newly-arrived residents. We are
also proud to be the first Australian council to support the
National Campaign for community sponsorship of refugees.
Another exciting first is the Walk With the Mayor program,
providing mentoring opportunities for local students.
We’ve seen the rapid population growth continue and of
course with this comes the challenge of catching up with an
inevitable infrastructure lag. We’ve had much success in our
efforts to work with other levels of government and this year
saw pledges to deliver billions of dollars of much needed
community infrastructure. We are continuing with our
strong advocacy efforts.
Council is also committing significant funds to important
projects. This year we resolved to spend $10 million to
install traffic lights and extra lanes at the intersection of
Findon Road, Ferres Boulevard and The Lakes Boulevard
in South Morang. This intersection overhaul will help ease
some of the traffic congestion that continues to be
a challenge for our residents.
And of course the long-awaited Mernda Rail is now
complete, well ahead of schedule. We have been working
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Chief Executive Officer

with the State Government to ensure footpaths and other
important connections are complete.
In May we were excited to receive news of a $2.2 billion
Suburban Roads Upgrade package in the 2018/19 State
Budget. The package includes some of our major road
priorities such as the widening of Bridge Inn Road, Childs
Road duplication, Epping Road duplication and intersection
upgrades as well as new shared pathways.
This is in addition to the work already beginning on the
O’Herns Road, Plenty Road and Yan Yean Road projects.
In December we received news that Council was successful
in our application to the Growing Suburbs Fund and would
receive $5 million for the Mill Park Leisure redevelopment,
$2 million for the Main Street Community Pavilion
redevelopment in Thomastown, $1 million for an All Abilities
Play Space and $560,000 to renovate Mill Park Library. This
important partnership with the State Government allows us
to achieve so much more for our community than we could
afford to do on our own.
We were pleased this year to sign off on the $25 million
Mill Park Leisure redevelopment project. Work has now
begun on this major transformation and we expect the
centre to reopen mid-2020.
Another serious challenge is the increasing rate of gambling
losses. We know poker machines are designed to addict
and are causing untold harm to our community. The City of
Whittlesea has renewed our commitment to the Pokies Play
You campaign which calls for policy change to reduce the
impact of poker machines.

I am pleased to be able to present to you the 2017-18
City of Whittlesea Annual Report. The past financial year
has seen some interesting challenges but also some
exciting opportunities.
A key project has involved looking at the way the
organisation is structured and runs to ensure that
community sits at the heart of everything that we do.
New initiatives include the rollout of an organisation-wide
business service improvement program. By focusing on
continuous improvements and reviewing the way we
work, we will ensure that all departments are working
towards better business practices, and improving
business efficiency and performance for our community.
The first year of the roll out of our People Plan is
complete and work on Year 2 actions are now underway
to provide staff with the skills, support and capability to
deliver our commitments to the community.
Our corporate values were also reviewed – Excellence,
Respect, Open Communication, Valuing Diversity and
Wellbeing – with an increased accountability for staff to
live the values and behaviours in their work.
The Whittlesea 2040 project saw work begin on
establishing a long-term strategic vision for the
municipality. A key component in developing the vision
has been to use feedback from our residents to inform
it. Once endorsed, Whittlesea 2040: A Place for All will
be Council’s long-term vision for the municipality and
strategically guide all of our work.

This year we rolled out an important online OHS system
ensuring it is quick and easy for staff to report incidents
and hazards. Keeping our staff and our community safe
is an important Council priority. And our Civic Centre
upgrade is almost complete, bringing teams to work
together in a more collaborative space.
In a changing financial landscape, it is important to look at
new ways to work and partnering with other agencies and
governments is becoming increasingly important. We were
pleased to work with two other local councils to explore
ways to improve the digitalisation of our work. With vital
services and activities to deliver for our rapidly expanding
community, it is always a challenge to find software that
will cope with such diverse systems and processes. This
continues to be an important work in progress.
We also appointed a new waste contractor, JJ Richards
with 20 new collection vehicles to replace the previous
ageing waste trucks. This move has already boosted
satisfaction levels for this very important service.
While we are pleased with the progress we have made
this year, we know there is still lots of work to do on
ensuring we deliver the best services and activities that
we can for our community.

Simon Overland
Chief Executive Officer

I would like to thank my colleagues, Council staff and the
community for their work over the past 12 months. I look
forward to reaping the positive rewards for our municipality
and building on our achievements in 2019.

Cr Kris Pavlidis
Mayor
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The year in review

Organisational sustainability

Key achievements

Good governance means that the decision-making
processes for managing public resources are accessible,
transparent and appropriate.

Council’s work is guided by our Community Plan Shaping Our
Future that details our community’s vision for the City of
Whittlesea in 2030.

Council Plans setting out the objectives and strategies
that will help Council achieve the community’s goals
and vision.

It is a plan that sets out the type of municipality our community
can expect in the future with clear outcomes that Council works
towards achieving. It is these community outcomes that guide
Council’s operational work, with our four yearly strategic

In 2017-18, the City of Whittlesea successfully delivered
many key actions and projects. The following is a
snapshot of some of the key achievements delivered
under the Community Plan’s seven Council Priorities.

Roads, access and public transport

Highlights
• Council provided Budget submissions to the state and
federal governments to boost investment in local roads,
public transport, social and affordable housing as well
as drive pokies reform.
• Completion of the Development Assessment and
Building Services Service Review. The proposal will
provide the greatest value for money for the community
and improve the quality of customer service.
• A number of planning processes were streamlined to
improve customer service. These included FastLane and
Priority Development Process, Functional Layout

Plan simplification and digital transformation of services
such as Trapeze, Sharepoint overhaul, online payment
and lodgement of property information requests and
secondary consents.
• Council has developed an Occupational Health
and Safety Roadmap to improve Council staff
safety performance.
• Adoption of the IT & Digital Strategy 2018-2021 to
provide the foundation to ensure our organisation is
well-positioned to efficiently deliver services now and
into the future.

Public transport, roads for vehicles, walking and bike pathways, communication and digital
networks allow us to get to where we need to go and easily access locally provided services.

Highlights
• The final stages of the Darebin Creek Trail between
Childs Road and Findon Road were completed,
including a safe pedestrian crossing at the
intersections of the trail with Hendersons Road
and Findon Road. The trail is one of Council’s major
cycling corridors and has seen a 500 per cent increase
in patronage since construction began.
• The successful urbanisation of Regent Street,
between Nissoria Avenue and Grafton Street, in
Mernda completes the local road network and
improves access to the broader Mernda-Doreen area.
This $1.3 million project was jointly funded by Council
and the Federal Government to enhance the existing
road network and greatly improve traffic congestion
in the area.
• The missing link of Deveny Road, Epping between
High Street to the east and Edgars Road to the west
was opened in mid-2018. Built on existing Council
reservations by Pacific Group of Companies as part of
the Costco development, it will serve as an important
connector road to reduce congestion around that
part of our municipality.
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Health and wellbeing
• Council successfully lobbied the State Government to
upgrade the City’s arterial road network.
In mid-2018, the State Government announced
funding for the upgrade of Epping Road, Bridge Inn
Road and Childs Road.
• Council continues its advocacy to the State
Government to secure the best possible outcomes
from the Mernda Rail Extension project. This includes
contributing to the design of the Mernda Station
precinct to ensure it aligns with the future Mernda
town centre main street.

A healthy community that supports and includes diverse
people through all of life’s stages and cares about life-long
learning has a sense of wellbeing and belonging.

Highlights
• In December 2017, the Victorian Council Administrative
Tribunal upheld Council’s decision to refuse the
application for the Commercial Hotel in South Morang
to install 40 electronic gaming machines. This is a
huge victory for the community and will contribute to
the prevention of the harmful impacts of gambling on
individuals, families, businesses and communities.
• In collaboration with the City of Darebin and City of
Moreland, the City of Whittlesea opened the new
$13 million Epping Animal Welfare Facility. The
RSPCA (Vic) will manage the day to day services
including impounding, shelter and adoption services
for domestic animals and livestock brought into the
facility from the three municipalities.
• The Mernda Town Centre needs analysis will be used
to identify the emerging priorities for the provision
of services in the Mernda town centre. It has been

developed with key human services agencies and
council departments to assist with the planning for
human services delivery to meet community needs.
• Council reaffirmed its commitment to reconciliation
by adopting the Stretch Reconciliation Action Plan,
completing the Gathering Place Feasibility study and
continuing to support the Whittlesea Reconciliation
Group. Events such as a scar tree trail and yarning circles
were also held on Sorry Day and during Reconciliation
Week to increase awareness of reconciliation.
• Council adopted a number of strategies including the
new Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan 201721, the Disability Action Plan 2017-21, the Multiple
Sports Strategy, the City of Whittlesea Soccer
Strategy and the Youth Plan 2030+, which provides a
strategic and long term plan to improve outcomes for
young people.
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Community safety

Environmental sustainability

Working to create a safe community where the harmful
effects of violence, alcohol and drugs are removed.

Environmental sustainability means managing
the impacts of environmental, economic and
social activities so that we remain healthy over
the long term.

Highlights
• Council has developed the Welcome to Whittlesea
booklet to provide people seeking asylum with
a comprehensive list of free or low cost services
available from more than 40 organisations in the City
of Whittlesea and around the state.
• Planning enforcement processes were reviewed
to ensure a greater focus on community safety
and amenity.

Highlights

• A Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) Policy has been
endorsed to support community safety and the
subsequent Department of Justice and Regulation
funding of a pilot CCTV project in May Road Lalor.

• Council conducted 11 community events around
environmental sustainability to inform and inspire
over 450 residents.
• Our Land Management Team’s supportive
approach for rural land owners paid dividends with
90 per cent of rural properties addressing pest
plants controlled under the local law.

Planning and infrastructure

Jobs and investment

Places, spaces and events bring people together to socialise
and access services and also help build our community and an
understanding and appreciation of our diversity.

A diverse economy offers varied career opportunities
so people can live and work in the City of Whittlesea.

Highlights
• Commenced work on several key sporting
infrastructure projects including Mosaic Recreation
Reserve and Painted Hills Recreation Reserve, while
upgrades were completed for existing sites such as the
cricket practice nets at WA Smith Recreation Reserve
and new ground lighting at Mill Park Lakes Reserve.
• Successfully resolved all heritage overlay submissions
prior to panel hearings. Council also advanced the
Housing Diversity and Design, River Red Gum, Child
Care Centre policies to exhibition. These policies
will protect more of the municipality’s heritage and
ensure improved development outcomes.
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Highlights
• Council adopted the Economic Development Strategy
which aims to boost local economic activity and attract
10,000 new jobs to the City of Whittlesea over the
next five years.

• Mill Park Leisure Centre redevelopment process
commenced. The complete rebuild will include
the addition of new fully accessible pools and
water play features, enlarged gym and fitness
program areas, outdoor fitness, family play and
barbecue areas.
• Council adopted the 2018-19 New Works Program
that will deliver a record $80 million of public
infrastructure and community facilities.

• A number of Planning Scheme Amendments have
been successfully progressed to improve amenity
and boost local jobs, including 75 O'Herns Road
and 100B Yale Drive, Epping. The ‘New Epping’
amendment, concerning the former Epping waste
disposal site, was resolved ahead of the Planning
Panel hearing, while the hearing for the Plenty Valley
Town Centre Structure Plan was reduced to one
final submission.

• Council has secured in-principle agreements for the last
two land holdings in the Cooper Street employment
precinct, assisting the delivery of Edgars Road and
other critical projects to the value of $7 million, with
no shortfall exposure. In addition, Council finalised six
other works-in-kind agreements across the municipality
to the value of $30 million.
• Council is committed to supporting local business and
has established a local supplier database to reference
when obtaining quotes for purchasing goods and
services locally.
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Major capital works

Community satisfaction survey

In the 2017-18 financial year, the City of Whittlesea spent $42 million on our New Works Program, which included more
than 175 projects to build and upgrade community centres, sporting fields and tennis courts, playgrounds, roads, bike
paths and footpaths across our new and established areas.

Each year, Local Government Victoria coordinates a statewide Local Government community satisfaction survey.
The survey measures the community’s perceptions of
their local council’s performance in key areas.

New and improved infrastructure works

$40,190,284 including:
• construction of two soccer pitches and pavilion at
Doreen South Reserve and Lalor West Reserve
• upgrade to the tennis courts and pavilion at
TH Hurrey Reserve
• renewal of playgrounds and general landscape
improvements

• completion of building and heating, ventilation
and air-conditioning refurbishments across the
municipality including Epping Services Hub,
Whittlesea Community Activity Centre,
Barry Road Community Activity Centre and the
Civic Centre

• completion of the design and commencement of
the redevelopment of the Mill Park Leisure Centre

• completion of the drainage upgrade at the
Queenscliff Road and Michigan Terrace intersection
in Thomastown

• upgrade to tennis courts and pavilion at
Lalor Tennis Club

• signalisation and construction of the intersection at
Yan Yean Road and Cookes Road, Doreen

• refurbishment of the Wollert Hall

• various road improvements including the
completion of Regent Street in Mernda

• conversion of the Janefield School Building into a
Community Facility at University Hill

• construction and upgrade of various roundabouts
across the municipality.

During February and March 2018, a total of 400
residents from across the municipality provided their
feedback via a telephone survey.
Our community considered emergency and disaster
management to be the most important service delivered
by Council; this was also rated as Council’s strongest
area of performance with a performance score of 72.
Council’s performance in advocacy (lobbying on behalf
of the community) also rated well and measured
significantly higher than state-wide scores (+ 3 points).

Other areas of performance that rated significantly
higher than the state-wide average were: sealed
local roads (+ 7 points); town planning (+ 6 points);
planning and building permits (+ 6 points); slashing and
weed control (+ 6 points); business and community
development (+ 6 points); and local streets and
footpaths (+ 4 points).
The community considered the performance of art
centres and libraries (performance score of 70);
customer service (performance score of 70); and
family support services (performance score of 68)
as favourable, with our residents rating Council’s
overall performance at 62 – higher than the
state-wide average of 59.
The full survey results are available on Council’s website
– whittlesea.vic.gov.au

City of Whittlesea’s results from the 2018 Community Satisfaction Survey

62
for overall performance
(State average – 59)

52

for overall
council direction

56

(State average – 52)

for making

Plant and equipment improvements

community decisions

$1,495,335 including:

(State average – 54)

• furniture and fittings for community halls and centres
• replacement of heavy fleet vehicles.

56
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70

57

for customer service
(State average – 70)

(State average – 54)

for advocacy

72

for community

60

(State average – 55)

for sealed local roads
(State average – 53)

consultation

for emergency and
disaster management
(State average – 71)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial summary
Council’s financial position continues to remain sound. A summary of our performance is outlined below. Detailed
information relating to Council’s financial performance is included within the Financial Statements and Performance
Statement sections of this Report.

Operating position
Council achieved a surplus of $96.4 million in 2017-18.
This surplus compares unfavourably to the prior year
surplus of $106.9 million. As per the Comprehensive
Income Statement in the Financial Report, the
unfavourable variance is due mainly to the reduction in
non-monetary developer contributions, grants funding
and an increase in costs of materials and services.
The adjusted underlying result of Council in 2017-18
was a surplus of $16.02 million. The underlying result is
an important indicator of Council’s long-term financial
sustainability. The underlying result from operations
excludes a number of transactions which are either
'non-recurring' or not operational in nature.

Reconciliation of Comprehensive
Result to Underlying Surplus/(Deficit)

Comprehensive result from
Comprehensive Income Statement

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

405,024

160,012

308,612

53,086

96,412

106,926

Less other comprehensive income
Asset revaluation increment (decrement)
Net result for the year from
Comprehensive Income Statement

These items are frequently unpredictable and typically
can change from one year to the next. The best examples
of these items are assets (roads, footpaths, drains, land
reserves) that are given to Council by developers once a
new subdivision is completed.
There are also other accounting adjustments for 'found
assets' (when assets that have not been previously
recognised by Council are identified as a result of more
accurate data being captured), 'lost assets' (when existing
assets are written off) or when existing assets are re-valued.
The aim of an underlying result is to determine
whether Council's operational costs/income result is in
a surplus or deficit outcome. In this way, Council can, in
long-term financial planning, aim for an outcome where
pure operational outcomes assist Council in achieving a
sustainable organisation.

Stability and efficiency

Council aims to ensure that it is able to maintain its
infrastructure assets at the expected levels, while at the
same time continuing to deliver the services needed by
the community. Council invested $10 million in renewal
works during the 2017-18 year. Being a growth Council,
the renewal expenditure reflects the fact that Council’s
assets are relatively new and in very good condition.

Council raises a wide range of revenues including rates,
user fees, fines, grants and contributions. Despite this,
Council’s rates concentration which compares rate
revenue to adjusted underlying revenue was 65.22 per
cent for the 2017-18 year which is toward the top end of
the expected target band of 40 per cent-80 per cent.

At the end of the 2017-18 year, Council’s debt ratio which
is measured by comparing interest bearing loans and
borrowings to rate revenue was 11.3 per cent. Council’s
asset renewal ratio which is measured by comparing
asset renewal expenditure to depreciation was 36.49 per
cent which was higher than the expected target of 25.2
per cent. This was due to the completion of a number of
renewal projects.

Loans and borrowing ratio per cent

Council has focussed on broadening its revenue base for
the 2017-18 year and kept its rate increase to the rate cap
of 2.5 per cent.
This resulted in an average residential rate per residential
assessment of $1,488 which compares favourably to similar
councils in the outer metropolitan area.

Rates concentration ratio per cent

2017-18

Liquidity

2017-18
2016-17

Cash has decreased by $8 million from the prior year
mainly due to an increase in costs of materials and
services. The working capital ratio which assesses
Council’s ability to meet current commitments is
calculated by measuring Council’s current assets as a
percentage of current liabilities. Council’s result of 364
per cent is an indicator of satisfactory financial position
and is slightly below the anticipated target of 378 per cent.

2016-17
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2015-16

2014-15
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Asset renewal ratio per cent
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2017-18
12,710

14,063

Contributions – monetary

19,757

15,361

Contributions – non-monetary assets

47,921

53,323

-
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18,405
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0
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Revenue level ratio $000
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Grants – Capital
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Working capital ratio per cent

Less non-operating income and
expenditure

Adjusted underlying surplus/(deficit)
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Description of Operations
Whittlesea City Council is responsible for more than
100 services, from family and children’s services,
traffic regulation, open space, youth facilities, waste
management and community building; to matters
concerning business development, planning for
appropriate development and ensuring accountability for
Council’s budget. This broad range of community services
and infrastructure for residents support the wellbeing
and prosperity of our community.

The delivery of services, facilities, support and advocacy
to achieve the Strategic Objectives is measured by a set
of service performance indicators and measures. Council
also has responsibility for administering a wide range of
State and Federal legislation.

Council’s vision, strategic objectives and strategies to
further improve services and facilities are described in
our Council Plan 2017-2021 and the associated Budget
2017-18 and reported upon in this document. Refer to the
section on Our Performance for more information about
Council services.

The prolonged low global economic growth has a direct
adverse impact on local economy and household income,
which continue to put pressure on Council to provide
affordable services to the community.
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Our municipality

City of Whittlesea stats at a glance

The City of Whittlesea is located in Melbourne’s northern
suburbs, about 20 kilometres from the city centre. It is
one of Melbourne’s largest municipalities, covering a land
area of approximately 490 square kilometres.

growth is projected for Wollert and Donnybrook.
The rural areas of the municipality are characterised
by farming, forested areas and historic township
communities including Whittlesea.

The majority of the City of Whittlesea population live in
urban areas. This is split across the major established
suburbs of Bundoora, Epping, Lalor, Mill Park and
Thomastown, the current growth area precincts
of Mernda, Doreen, South Morang, Epping North
and Wollert, and the rural areas of Donnybrook and
Whittlesea township and surrounds. Significant future

The Wurundjeri Willum people were the original
inhabitants of the area and are the traditional owners
of this land. Compared with other municipalities, the
City of Whittlesea has the second largest population of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders (ATSI) by person
count in Metropolitan Melbourne, with 1,635 ATSI
residents, whose median age is 21 years1.

1 profile.id (2018). City of Whittlesea Community Profile. Accessed September 2018: http://profile.id.com.au/whittlesea
2 forecast.id (2018). City of Whittlesea Population Forecast. Available: www.forecast.id.com.au/whittlesea (accessed September 2018)
3 Atlas.id (2018). City of Whittlesea Population Demographics. Available: www.atlas.id.com.au/whittlesea (accessed September 2018)

‘...a culturally diverse community’

223,566
total population (2018)1
3.8% growth in 2017-18

2

34 years – median age of residents1
27.2% of population aged 0-19 years1
16.3% of population aged over 60 years1

Males 49.4% Females 50.6%1

of residents born overseas1

44.1% of residents speak a language
other than English at home1

The most common languages spoken other than
English include Macedonian (5.1%), Arabic (5%),
Italian (5%), Greek (3.7%) and Punjabi (3.2%)1

8.8% of population in
primary school1

82.9% of residents live in
detached houses1

42.3% of households are
couples with children1

21.6% of households are

couples without children1
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35.5%

6.2% of population in

secondary school1

6.7% of population in tertiary
or technical institutions1
7.2%

Unemployment3
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Our Council
NORTH WARD

Melbourne

Beveridge
Humevale
Eden Park

City of Whittlesea

Whittlesea

Kinglake
West

NORTH WARD
Donnybrook

Woodstock
Yan Yean

Doreen

Wollert

Epping North

Mernda
South Morang

Lalor
Mill Park
Bundoora
Thomastown

SOUTH EAST
WARD

NORTH WARD

SOUTH EAST WARD

SOUTH WEST WARD

Cr Emilia Lisa Sterjova

Cr Sam Alessi

Cr Kris Pavlidis

Deputy Mayor
emilia.sterjova@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0429 226 133

Cr Tom Joseph

tom.joseph@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0424 567 392

Cr Ricky Kirkham

ricky.kirkham@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0419 659 872

sam.alessi@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0417 392 578

Cr Alahna Desiato

alahna.desiato@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0428 726 939

Cr Norm Kelly

norm.kelly@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0409 355 665

Cr Mary Lalios

mary.lalios@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0400 132 117
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Councillor 2016-2017
North Ward
Councillors, members of Council
staff and the community
acknowledged and paid their
respects to the late Councillor
John Butler who passed away in
September 2017.
The following is an extract of a
statement made by the Mayor,
Councillor Kirkham on behalf of
Council at the Council meeting
held on 19 September 2017.
Last week we sadly farewelled
one of our colleagues, Councillor
John Butler, who passed away after
an illness.

Epping

SOUTH WEST
WARD

In memory of
Cr John Butler

Mayor
kris.pavlidis@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0407 689 032

Cr Lawrie Cox

lawrie.cox@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0419 379 180

Cr Stevan Kozmevski

stevan.kozmevski@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0417 390 854

Cr Caz Monteleone

caz.monteleone@whittlesea.vic.gov.au
0437 601 113

The City of Whittlesea acknowledges
and pays respect to the contribution
Cr Butler made to the nation, his
local community and the Council.
Cr Butler spent 39 years in the
Australian Regular Army, achieving
the rank of Lieutenant Colonel before
retiring. Cr Butler was first elected as
North Ward Councillor at the City of
Whittlesea in October 2016.
A passionate member of the
Doreen community, Cr Butler
was involved in a number of
community organisations, including
as a volunteer fire fighter with the
Doreen Country Fire Authority.
Cr Butler also recently served as the
inaugural president of the Doreen
RSL Sub-Branch.
Cr Butler was highly respected by
the community and Council staff
who had the privilege of working
with him. He provided his time
without question and was trusted
mentor to many. His warm, kind
nature and humor were notable
traits that will leave a lasting legacy
amongst his family and friends.
Cr Butler will be sorely missed. Our
thoughts continue to be with his
family and loved ones during this
difficult time.

Cr Emilia Lisa Sterjova Cr Tom Joseph

Cr Ricky Kirkham

Deputy Mayor
Cr Emilia Lisa Sterjova was
first elected as a City of
Whittlesea Councillor in
November 2016 and is our
youngest ever Councillor.
She is currently serving her
first term as Deputy Mayor.
As a Mernda resident
Cr Sterjova is a passionate
local advocate for improving
key transport and road
infrastructure within the
municipality.
She is also passionate about
improving youth services
and providing greater support
to local community groups
and clubs.
Cr Sterjova is currently
completing a Bachelor of
Laws/Bachelor of International
Relations and a Diploma
in Indonesian.

Cr Tom Joseph was first
elected as a City of Whittlesea
Councillor in October 2017.
He has lived in the City of
Whittlesea since 2007 and is
a Mernda resident. Cr Joseph
holds a degree in business
management and has worked in
management roles with some
of Australia’s largest companies.
He is now an entrepreneur and
currently runs a small business.
As an active member of the
local community, Cr Joseph
founded the successful
community campaign ‘Mernda
Needs a Police Station’ which
resulted in a new police
station in Mernda. He was also
previously the president of the
Mernda and District Residents
Association and founding
president of the Mernda
and Doreen Multicultural
Association. He is currently
chairman of the combined
social committees of the
Catholic Schools and Parish of
Mernda, Doreen, Whittlesea
and Kinglake and a member of
Friends of South Morang.
Cr Joseph is a member of the
City of Whittlesea Australia
Day Awards Committee
and Whittlesea Courthouse
Association.

Cr Ricky Kirkham has been
a Councillor with the City of
Whittlesea since October 2012.
In November 2014 at the age
of 25, he was elected as the
youngest Mayor of the City
of Whittlesea and in November
2016 was again elected
as Mayor.
In his professional career,
Cr Kirkham was an advisor with
the Department of Defence
and has previously served in
the Royal Australian Air Force
with active service in the
Middle East.
During this second term with
the City of Whittlesea, Cr
Kirkham has committed to
lobby the State and Federal
Governments for increased
funding for much-needed road
infrastructure, recreational
facilities and services for young
people. He is committed to
community safety and crime
prevention initiatives.
Born and raised in the City of
Whittlesea, Cr Kirkham also
sits on the Bundoora Indoor
Netball and Sport Centre Board
and Whittlesea Secondary
College Chaplaincy Committee.

Election of Cr Tom Joseph
On Wednesday 4 October 2017, the Victorian Electoral Commission conducted a countback in the North Ward
to fill the extraordinary vacancy that occurred after the passing of Councillor John Butler. After redistribution
of preferences, Tom Joseph was the successful candidate and was declared elected and was sworn in as a
Councillor on Tuesday 10 October 2017.
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OUR COUNCIL

SOUTH EAST WARD

SOUTH WEST WARD

Cr Sam Alessi

Cr Alahna Desiato

Cr Norm Kelly

Cr Mary Lalios

Cr Kris Pavlidis

Cr Lawrie Cox

Cr Stevan Kozmevski

Cr Caz Monteleone

Cr Kris Pavlidis is honoured to
have the privilege to serve the
City of Whittlesea as an elected
Councillor now in her fourth
Term. She was the first female
Mayor of Greek background to
serve the municipality in 2006
and is again serving as Mayor.

Prior to the 2016 election
Cr Lawrie Cox was the youngest
serving Councillor having
been elected to the Shire of
Whittlesea from 1979 to 1986,
including being Shire President
from 1982 to 1983.

Cr Stevan Kozmevski has
been a City of Whittlesea
Councillor since 1997 and
has served twice as Mayor in
2011 and 2015.

Cr Caz Monteleone was first
elected as a City of Whittlesea
Councillor in November 2016.
He has lived in the City of
Whittlesea for over 40 years
and lives in Epping.

Mayor
A City of Whittlesea Councillor for
over twenty years, Cr Sam Alessi
was first elected in 1987 and has
served three terms as Mayor
of the City of Whittlesea (1997,
2000 and 2004), nine years as a
Municipal Association of Victoria
Board member including four
years as Vice President and a short
term as Interim President. He has
also served terms as an Australian
Local Government Association
Board member, member of the
Australian Packaging Covenant, five
terms as Chair of the Yarra Plenty
Regional Library Board and Chair
and member of various other local
boards and committees.
Cr Alessi has extensive experience
with waste and resource recovery
within the local government context.
He is Council’s representative on
the Metropolitan Local Government
Waste Forum where he has served
two terms as Forum Chair, worked
actively to establish the Forum's
Strategies and Policy Advisory
Group. In May 2017 Sam received
a four year Ministerial appointment
to the Metropolitan Waste and
Resource Recovery Group Board
of Directors.

Cr Alahna Desiato was first
elected to the position of City
of Whittlesea Councillor in
November 2016.
Having lived in Mill Park all
her life, Cr Desiato is a keen
advocate for improving the
road network and public
transport options for residents.
She launched the campaign to
extend the No.86 tram line from
McKimmies Road in Bundoora
to Bush and Lakes Boulevards
and onto Plenty Road in
South Morang and continues
to support the campaign as
Council’s representative on
the Friends of South Morang
committee and Metropolitan
Transport Forum.
Cr Desiato sits on the Victorian
Local Government Association
as well as the Council’s Arts
Cultural and Sporting Grants
Program for Young People
Advisory Committee.

Cr Alessi is passionate about
advocating for and providing
improved services for young
people, the aged and families as
well as being a strong advocate for
responsible gambling and gambling
reform. He holds a Bachelor of
Arts (Social Sciences) degree and
a Bachelor of Education degree
from La Trobe University and a Post
Graduate Diploma in Computing
from Deakin University.
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Cr Norm Kelly was first elected
in 2008 and has served three
terms as Deputy Mayor.
A Bundoora resident for 35
years, Cr Kelly is committed to
the community and passionate
about the value local sporting
clubs and venues can offer in
keeping youth off the streets.
Cr Kelly has worked as a Union
Official for the Plumbing Trades
Employees Union for the past
17 years and currently sits on
the boards of the CEPUTEC
Unions training school and
Bundoora Indoor Netball and
Sport Centre.

Cr Mary Lalios has been a
City of Whittlesea Councillor
since 2005 and has served as
Mayor three times, including
2008, 2009 and 2014. In March
2017, Cr Lalios was elected as
the first female President of
the Municipal Association of
Victoria. On a national level, her
strong representation continues
through the Australian Local
Government Association Board.
Cr Lalios believes it is an honour
and privilege to serve at the
local, state and national level.
A lifelong resident, Cr Lalios is a
strong voice and fights for what
our community needs. Current
priorities include better local
roads; addressing congestion,
community safety, CCTV
cameras, more public transport;
upgrading parks and greening
our streets with more trees. She
is passionate about supporting
and helping those less
fortunate. A strong disability
advocate, she has been part of
successful campaigns to attract
more respite facilities to the
City of Whittlesea.
As Mayor in 2014, Cr Lalios
led the successful community
campaign to extend the train
line to Mernda. Cr Lalios is an
Accountant (FCPA) and is a
graduate of AICD course.
Cr Lalios sits on the Riverside
Community Activity Centre
Committee of Management.

A proud resident for more
than 40 years, Cr Pavlidis is a
passionate community activist
and advocate for social justice
and has actively pursued
Reconciliation, cultural diversity
and gender equity portfolios.
She is a strong advocate for
increased infrastructure that
our community expects and
deserves and would like to see
improved planning of roads and
neighbourhoods.
Cr Pavlidis sits on several
committees including the
Australian Local Government
Women’s Association, Council’s
Arts Cultural and Sporting Grants
Program for Young People
Advisory Committee, Health
and Wellbeing Partnership Plan
2017-2021 Steering Committee,
Municipal Association of Victoria
Multicultural Committee,
Visual Art and Civic History
Collections Acquisitions Advisory
Group, Whittlesea Community
Futures Partnership, Whittlesea
Multicultural Communities Council
and is a Director with the Ethnic
Communities Council Victoria
and Pronia Family Support.

He has chaired several large
organisations including the
Victorian Trades Hall Council
and has been a director of an
Industry superannuation fund
for over 20 years.
Cr Cox is passionate about the
community, infrastructure
and providing sporting
opportunities for young people
and sits on Council’s Arts
Cultural and Sporting Grants
Program for Young People
Advisory Committee, Darebin
Creek Management Committee,
Municipal Association of
Victoria, Municipal Emergency
Management Planning
Committee, Municipal Fire
Management Planning
Committee, Westgarthtown
Pioneer Precinct Advisory
Committee, Whittlesea
Community Futures
Partnerships and Whittlesea
Reconciliation Group.

A proud Thomastown resident
since 1968, Cr Kozmevski
is passionate about making
infrastructure improvements and
the important role Council plays
in advocating for residents.
Cr Kozmevski sits on the
Meadowglen International
Athletics Stadium Committee
of Management, Merri Creek
Management Committee
and Council’s Risk and
Audit Committee.

As a passionate advocate
for improving community
infrastructure and jobs growth,
Cr Monteleone would like to
see greater transparency and
accountability for Council.
Professionally, Cr Monteleone
is a successful small business
owner having run an electrical
contracting firm, dairy
manufacturing, hospitality and
aviation related businesses.
Cr Monteleone supports
community events including the
Whittlesea Agricultural Show
and Hawkstowe Jazz Festival.
Cr Monteleone sits on the Epping
Community Activity Centre
Committee of Management
and Municipal Association of
Victoria Planning Committee.

Cr Pavlidis holds post graduate
Degrees in Behavioural Sciences
and Management.
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Our people
Organisational structure

SENIOR OFFICERS REPORTING DIRECTLY TO THE CEO

Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO
has responsibility for the day to day management of operations in accordance with
the strategic directions of the Council Plan.
Five Directors and the CEO form the Executive Leadership Team (ELT), details of
which are outlined on the following page.

Organisational chart
CEO
Office of the CEO

Community
Services

Partnerships
and
Engagement

Family,
Children and
Young People

Advocacy,
Communications
and Economic
Development

Parks and
Open Space

Major
Projects

Finance
and Assets

Community
Wellbeing

Community
Building and
Planning

City
Presentation

Building
Services

People and
Capability

Community
Cultural
Development

Aged and
Disability

Governance

City Transport
and
Presentation

City Design
and
Transport

Major
Facilities

Leisure and
Community
Facilities

20 | City of Whittlesea ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018

Planning
and
Major Projects

Strategic
Planning and
Design

Development
Assessment

Corporate
Services

Corporate
Accountability
and
Performance

Information
Services

Property,
Rates and
Valuations

Chief
Executive Officer

Director
Community
Services

Director
Partnerships
and Engagement

Director
Planning and
Major Projects

Director
Corporate
Services

Director
City Transport
and Presentation

Simon Overland

Russell Hopkins

Liana Thompson

Steve O’Brien

Helen Sui

Nick Mann

Simon started as Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) at the City of
Whittlesea on 21 August 2017.
He has extensive experience
in executive management,
leadership and community
service roles. He was secretary
of the Department of Justice
in Tasmania for five years from
2012 to 2017, and former chief
commissioner of Victoria Police
from March 2009 to mid-2011.

Our Community
Services Directorate
oversees many service
areas that impact the
day-to-day living and
wellbeing of City of
Whittlesea residents.

The Partnerships
and Engagement
Directorate is central
to achieving Council’s
vision of creating
vibrant self-sustaining
communities together.

Our Planning and
Major Projects
Directorate coordinates
the City of Whittlesea’s
land use growth,
planning it to ensure
a sustainable future.

Departments include:
Aged and Disability;
Community Cultural
Development; Family,
Children and Young
People; Community
Wellbeing.

The directorate aims to
improve the social and
economic wellbeing
of the Whittlesea
community and foster
strong, resilient and
connected local
communities.

Planning and Major
Projects is designed to
provide a streamlined
link through everything
from strategic planning
across the City, to the
delivery of both private
development and
public infrastructure.

Our Corporate Services
Directorate ensures
that Council has the
funds available to
provide safe, useful
and sustainable assets
and services to our
community.

The services provided
by City Transport and
Presentation seek
to shape a city that
is well connected
and accessible,
has active and safe
public spaces and
community facilities,
and is environmentally
sustainable.

The CEO is directly accountable
to council and is the main person
to which council delegates
powers. The specific authorities
and responsibilities of the CEO
are set out in Section 94A of the
Local Government Act 1989.
These include establishing and
maintaining an appropriate
organisational structure, managing
the day-to-day operations of
the organisation, ensuring that
council decisions are implemented
promptly, overseeing operations
to align with the council plan,
developing a code of conduct for
council staff and providing timely
advice to the council.

The directorate works
collaboratively with
the state and federal
governments to
provide many of these
services, and operates
in partnership with a
variety of community
service organisations
to meet the needs of
our diverse and vibrant
community.

The directorate also
provides important
services to the
community and
organisation, including
governance and council
business, marketing
and communications,
advocacy, community and
social planning, heritage
coordination, research
and engagement,
economic development,
Local Laws enforcement,
community grants and
customer service.

This significant, diverse
portfolio includes
sustainable, strategic
and statutory planning
for development across
the City, building
standard compliance, as
well as the coordination
and implementation
of the City’s New
Works Program.

The directorate
manages, analyses,
reports and provides
advice to Council
across a wide range
of matters, including
financial, property,
procurement, safety
and organisational
performance.
It directs and assists
the organisation to
achieve its goals by
providing accurate
data and introducing
efficiencies and
enhancements that
best utilise Council’s
resources.

It does so through
the delivery of new
infrastructure, the
provision of services that
ensure the maintenance
and management of the
City’s streets, public
spaces and buildings,
and through advocacy to
the State Government.
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Council staff
A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff by organisational structure, employment type and
gender is set out below.
EMPLOYMENT TYPE/GENDER

Permanent
Full-time
Permanent
Part-time
Casual

CITY
TRANSPORT &
PRESENTATION

COMMUNITY
SERVICES

CORPORATE
SERVICES

25.05

69.73

36.42

4

41.78

33.63

210.61

161.19

24.28

33

1

23.16

43.44

286.07

7.82

153.39

17.61

1.29

45.04

15.27

240.42

Male

2.5

10.1

3.34

17.77

2.16

35.87

Female

3.3

5.48

0.47

2.11

Male

0.4

0.82

1.21

200.26

263.8

92.05

Female
Male
Female

TOTAL

Employment classification and gender
CLASSIFICATION

FEMALE

MALE

TOTAL

Band 1

17.26

14.03

31.29

Band 2

4.32

0.08

4.40

Band 3

60.8

67.63

128.43

Band 4

64.95

19.86

84.81

Band 5

66.61

29.75

96.36

Band 6

109.93

58.4

168.33

Band 7

56.98

64.26

121.24

Band 8

26.22

40.75

66.97

Other

55.33

29.88

85.21

TOTAL

462.4

324.64

787.04

Equal Employment Opportunity
Council is committed to providing a workplace free from
all forms of discrimination, harassment and bullying,
and continues to promote equality of opportunity for all
employees through merit-based recruitment and selection,
employment conditions, benefits, training and promotion.

EXECUTIVE
SERVICES

PARTNERSHIPS
& ENGAGEMENT

6.29

129.86

PLANNING
& MAJOR
PROJECTS

TOTAL

11.36
0.28

2.71

94.78

787.04

Organisational changes
The City of Whittlesea is continually reviewing its services
and operations to ensure that our organisation meets
the needs of our community in the most efficient and
effective manner.
Organisation changes that have occurred are:
• review and minor structure change of the Office of
the CEO to strengthen administrative support to
Councillors and to better manage their requests on
behalf of residents and community members
• creation of a more streamlined operating structure
for Plenty Ranges Arts and Convention Centre
(PRACC) and Civic Centre Halls Services
• Leisure and Community Facilities structure
realigned to meet the needs of our community
• Resilience and Emergency Management Team
aligned to the emerging requirements of relevant
legislation and a new tiered incident and
activation structure.

Staff continue to receive training and information on
discrimination, harassment and bullying. All new employees
receive training as part of the induction process. Relevant
policies are available to staff via the intranet, plus the
organisation has ten Equal Employment Opportunity contact
officers across all council sites.
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Our performance
Planning and Accountability Framework
The Planning and Accountability Framework is found in part 6 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act). The Act requires
councils to prepare the following planning and reporting documents:
•
•
•
•

a council plan within the six months after each general election or by 30 June, whichever is later
a strategic resource plan for a period of at least four years and include this in the council plan
a budget for each financial year
an annual report in respect of each financial year.

The following diagram shows the relationships between the key planning and reporting documents that make up the
planning and accountability framework for local government. It also shows that there are opportunities for community and
stakeholder input and feedback at each stage of the planning and reporting cycle.

Time horizon
Medium term

Planning
Council plan
• Strategic objectives
• Strategies
• Strategic indicators

Reporting

Jan-Jun
Stakeholder
and
community
engagement

Feb-Jun

Strategic resource plan
• Financial statements
• Statements of
non-financial resources

Mar-Jun

Budget
• Services and initiatives
• Service outcome indicators
• Major initiatives
• Financial statements

Short term
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Timing

Annual Report
• Report of Operations
• Financial Statements
• Performance Statement

Jul-Sep
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Council Plan
The Council Plan 2017-21 includes:
•
•
•
•

Council Priorities (the Council’s strategic objectives)
actions (strategies) to achieve these for the four year period
measures (strategic indicators) for monitoring achievement of the strategic objectives
a strategic resource plan.

Community safety
Working to create a safe community where the harmful effects
of violence, alcohol and drugs are removed.
Council is committed to improving safety in our neighbourhoods and towns and
working in partnership with police and service providers to address safety issues
and build a safe community for all who work, live and visit our city.

The following are the seven Council Priorities as detailed in the City of Whittlesea Council Plan 2017-21.

Planning and infrastructure
Roads, access and public transport
Public transport, roads for vehicles, walking and bike pathways,
communication and digital networks allow us to get to where
we need to go and easily access locally provided services.
Access in, out and around our community happens in many ways – through public transport,
roads for vehicles, walking and bike pathways, communication and digital networks. Having
access to locally provided services means that our daily business is conducted easily. Design
and construction of our built infrastructure enables access for all. Travel times for residents
are significant and increasing, particularly during the peak hours in the morning and
afternoon when commuting to and from work, or when dropping off or picking up children
at childcare facilities or schools. Reducing travel times will increase overall wellbeing and
productivity and enable residents to spend more time with their families, friends, at work,
shopping or while pursuing recreational activities.

Organisational sustainability
Good governance means that the decision-making processes for
managing public resources are accessible, transparent and appropriate.
Good governance is critical to keep Council sustainable organisationally. Council
must take into consideration principles of social justice and human rights in the
delivery of democratic government. It links to our people, where we need to
attract, develop and retain skills to build a high performance culture. Council also
understands the importance of adapting to the fast-paced change in technology,
looking for continuous improvement opportunities aimed to deliver best-value
services and operations to our community. Council is committed to exploring
regional collaboration and joint services to support organisational sustainability.

Health and wellbeing
A healthy community that supports and includes diverse people
through all of life’s stages and cares about life-long learning
has a sense of wellbeing and belonging.
Health services are available locally and easily accessed in community hubs.
Support is available for young people, families, the elderly, and those who are
isolated and disadvantaged. Access to education, training and information enables
life-long learning for everyone.
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Places, spaces and events bring people together to socialise
and access services and also help build our community and an
understanding and appreciation of our diversity.
Our community hubs provide a central place to meet, shop, have a haircut,
go to the doctor, post a letter, do banking, have coffee, visit the library and be
entertained. They bring people together. Urban design develops a sense of place
built on heritage. Parks and recreation facilities improve community wellbeing
and can be used for events and celebrations. There are many pathways to bring
people together in all the communities that together make our city.

Environmental sustainability
Environmental sustainability means managing the impacts of
environmental, economic and social activities so that we remain
healthy over the long term.
Our natural environment is a resource for all to enjoy and we need to
protect it for future generations. This means our carbon footprint, water,
waste, energy use, flora (particularly the majestic River Red Gums) and our
fauna need to be cared for. Immigration, strong housing demand, economic
growth, climate change, alternative energies and transport all provide
challenges for our environment, future planning and how we live. Our daily
routines have changed; we plan for tomorrow and use innovation to become
more sustainable. Everyone does their bit to help.

Jobs and investment
A diverse economy offers varied career opportunities so people
can live and work in the City of Whittlesea.
Business attraction requires infrastructure and transport planning, affordable
housing, skill development and a supportive regulatory environment. We need
to work on supporting and developing opportunities for local businesses like
growing the food we need locally. Education facilities offer everyone career and
skill development options. Council will focus on increasing the number of local
jobs. Residents benefit from local employment opportunities in multiple ways.
Local workers spend less time commuting, spend more of their money locally
and form stronger relationships within their community.
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2017-18
Council’s performance for the 2017-18 financial year has been reported against each Council Priority
to demonstrate how Council is performing in achieving the 2017-21 City of Whittlesea Council Plan.
Performance has been measured as follows:
•
•
•
•

results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan
progress in relation to the major initiatives identified in the budget
services funded in the budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided those services
results against the prescribed service performance indicators and measures.

Council Priority
Roads, access and public transport
Public transport, roads for vehicles, walking and bike pathways, communication and digital networks
allow us to get to where we need to go and easily access locally provided services.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results achieved in relation
to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

4
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STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 4

Access to public transport

Percentage of dwellings that are within 400m of a bus stop, 600m of a tram
stop or 800m of a train station

80.1%

Commuter travel time

Percentage of individuals whose daily commute time to and from work is 90
minutes or more

17.7%

Cycling facilities

Percentage of households that ‘strongly agree’ there are good facilities in
Whittlesea for cycling

27.3%

Walking facilities

Percentage of households that ‘strongly agree’ there are good facilities in
Whittlesea for walking

18.3%

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017
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Major initiatives

Service performance indicators and measures

The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The road network
responds to our needs in
accessing jobs, services
and recreational
activities

Appropriate and
accessible public
transport services meet
our needs

We can cycle safely

KEY:

Completed

MAJOR INITIATIVES

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

Advocate for the duplication
of Bridge Inn Road and
Epping Road

Included in State Government Northern
Arterial Roads Package announcement.

Work with land owners to
progress planning and design
of Edgars Road extension

South of O’Herns Road: Concept design and
planning process completed.
North of O’Herns Road: Planning application
has been submitted by Development Victoria.

Driving
good design
outcomes for
state road
infrastructure

Collaborate with VicRoads
to get the best community
outcomes for Plenty Road,
Yan Yean Road and
O'Herns Road interchange
through participation and
design reviews

Multiple positive outcomes for the community
have been embedded into the design of
the arterial road upgrades, including shared
pathways, additional signalised intersections
and strong streetscape design.

Construction
of Findon Road
extension

Complete relevant land
acquisitions and design of the
Findon Road extension

Joint valuations have been agreed with
Melbourne Water for the land at Ferres
Boulevard/Findon Road. However there
is disagreement over the valuation of the
Melbourne Water land at 135 Williamsons
Road. Negotiations remain ongoing in relation
to the land acquisition process with the
developer further east along Findon Road
(towards Plenty Road).

Develop and action a
public transport advocacy
campaign for the Epping/
Wollert rail corridor,
including land acquisitions

Land parcel purchased along corridor, business
case completed and provided to State agencies.

Contribute to the Public
Transport Victoria tram 86
extension feasibility study

Feasibility study is complete, awaiting its release.

Implement the 2017/18
shared pathway and on-road
bicycle lane works, including
works on the Darebin Creek
Trail and linkages along
McDonalds Road

2017/18 program of works complete, including
linkages in McDonalds Road, Darebin Creek
Reserve, Roslyn Way and the South Morang
Pipe Track.

Road and
Public
Transport Plan

Public
transport
advocacy

Implementation
of shared path
network

Ongoing

Discontinued
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SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

Engineering
Support Services

Statutory engineering approvals and the construction of new residential/commercial
subdivision developments.

(219)
(277)
(58)

Traffic Management

Safe and efficient management of Council's Local Road Network. Community education
programs for safe traffic behaviour around schools. Delivery of School Crossing Safety
program at flagged and un-flagged crossings, including management of crossing supervisors.

2,688
2,974
286

SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

ROADS
Satisfaction of use
Sealed local road requests
[Number of sealed local road
requests/kilometres of sealed
local roads ] x100

0.35

8.87

4.64

19.89

Council continued to experience significant
growth, in both number of residents and length
of road, during the 17/18 financial year. An
increase in the number of requests in relation to
sealed local roads is a result of a change in the
way Council’s call data is interpreted, as well as
increased promotion of local road works, which
is likely to have led to increased community
engagement on local road condition.

Condition
Sealed local roads below the
intervention level
(The percentage of sealed local
roads that are below the renewal
intervention level set by Council
and not requiring renewal)

99%

96.82%

98.90%

97.84%

Road lengths have increased due to assets
being vested in Council through the subdivisions
process in the 2017/18 financial year.

Service Costs
Cost of sealed local road
reconstruction
(The direct reconstruction cost
to Council per square metre of
sealed local roads reconstructed)

$105.25

$140

$120.95

$98.41

2017/18 program of works complete.

Service Costs
Cost of sealed local road resealing
(The direct resealing cost to
Council per square metre of
sealed local roads resealed)

$36.09

$30.15

$21.32

$47.96

Council focused road renewal projects on full
road reconstruction, rather than resealing,
during the 17/18 financial year. This can be
seen in the reduction in the road reconstruction
indicator (R3). The resealing program for 17/18
was less than 10% of what was completed in
16/17 resulting in a loss of efficiencies of scale,
significantly increasing the unit rate.

Satisfaction with sealed local roads
(Community satisfaction rating
out of 100 on how well Council
has performed providing sealed
local roads)

65

64

62

62

We remain at the same level as last year.
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Council Priority
Organisational sustainability
Good governance means that the decision-making
processes for managing public resources are accessible,
transparent and appropriate.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan
including results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

6

STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 8

Community consultation
and engagement

Percentage of individuals rating Council’s performance on consultation and
engagement as ‘good’ or ‘very good’

45%

Decisions in community’s interest

Percentage of individuals rating Council’s performance on decisions made on
behalf of the community as ‘good’ or ‘very good’

43%

Lobbying for community

Percentage of individuals rating Council’s performance on lobbying on behalf of
the community as ‘good’ or ‘very good’

38%

Satisfaction with Council’s
overall performance

Percentage of individuals rating Council’s overall performance as ‘good’ or
‘very good’

58%

Participation in decision-making

Percentage of households that strongly agree: There are opportunities to have a
real say on issues that are important to me/us

14.7%

Broadband access

Percentage of households with broadband internet access

82.3%

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017

Major initiatives
The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

Our Council strives
to achieve long term
financial sustainability

Long Term
Financial Plan

Council has a 15 year
financial plan which is
updated annually and
endorsed by Council

Council’s 15 year financial plan was
updated and endorsed by Council on
14 November 2017.

Efficient and effective
Council services
are responsive to
community need

Implementation
of the People
Strategy –
Phase 1

People Strategy endorsed,
People Plan developed, and
identified 2017/18 actions
implemented.

The People Strategy and People Plan were
developed and the agreed 2017/18 actions
were implemented.

Efficient and effective
Council services
are responsive to
community need

Digital
Transformation
Strategy

Digital Transformation
Strategy adopted

The IT and Digital Strategy was adopted by
Council in January 2018.

KEY:
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MAJOR INITIATIVES

Completed

Ongoing

Discontinued
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Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.
SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

Advocacy

The service advocates on behalf of and along-side Whittlesea communities and other
partners to influence public policy decisions including the resource allocation of state
and federal governments. This includes advocating for local investment by not for
profit organisations, the private sector and philanthropic organisations.

Corporate Planning

Coordination of the corporate planning processes of Council including the Council
Plan, Council Action Plan, Business Plans, LGPRF and other reporting requirements.

496
388
(108)

Customer Services

Implementation of the Customer Service Strategy and associated projects.
Management of frontline Customer Services and the Customer Contact Centre
including dealing with requests for services and residents’ complaints.

1,614
1,591
(23)

Financial Services

Budget preparation and reporting, forward financial planning, performance reporting
and management, compliance and accounts payable services.

1,583
1,620
37

Governance

Delivery of corporate and civic functions and events. Production of agenda and minutes
for corporate meetings. Guidance and advice to Councillors on governance matters.
The processing of requests for Council documents under Freedom of Information
legislation. Responding to requests for information by the Victorian and Commonwealth
Ombudsman, Local Government Victoria and the Human Rights Commission.
Maintenance of statutory registers and coordination of naming proposals with the Office
of Geographic Place Names.

1,617
1,689
72

Information,
Communication and
Technology Services

Provides information management, communication and technology services for
all Councillors and departments in the City of Whittlesea and supports Council's
online service delivery platform. Responsible for delivering a strong Information
Management Framework and service and ensuring a sound ICT environment to
support Council's services.

6,364
7,357
993

Marketing and
Communication
Services

Strategically promote the City of Whittlesea to build a positive image of its projects,
services and initiatives.

1,529
1,505
(24)

262
275
13

Service performance indicators and measures (cont.)
SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

Procurement Services

Provision of support, systems, resources and advice to enable achievement of best
value purchasing and contracting of works, goods and services.

727
786
59

Research Services

Operates as an internal consultancy providing Council decision makers and external
stakeholders with accurate, accessible and contemporary information.

754
735
(19)

Revenue Generation

Generation and issue of rate notices, collection of rates and charges including debt
recovery, sundry debtors and the Fire Services Levy.

1,004
1,211
207

Risk Management

Provision of guidance and support in relation to the management of risk and
insurance claims.

1,776
1,398
(378)

Staff Services

Responsible for building, developing and supporting a motivated and engaged
workforce with the skills and capabilities to deliver quality services to Council and the
community. The team supports the delivery of people and culture strategy and related
organisational improvement projects.

2,944
3,044
100

Valuation Services

Provides statutory valuations on all properties within the municipality for general
valuation and supplementary valuation purposes and undertakes continual
maintenance of Council’s property database.

734
508
(226)

Council operations

Supports the core governance functions of the Chief Executive Officer and the
executive leadership team.

4,168
4,177
9

82.3% of
households
have broadband
internet access.
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Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including
explanation of material variations.
SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

GOVERNANCE
Transparency
Council decisions made at meetings
closed to the public
[Number of Council resolutions made at
ordinary or special meetings of Council,
or at meetings of a special committee
consisting only of Councillors, closed
to the public/Number of Council
resolutions made at ordinary or special
meetings of Council or at meetings of
a special committee consisting only of
Councillors ] x100

35.00%

37.91%

26.95%

21.75%

Council continues to review
matters submitted to Council
meetings with the aim of further
reducing items considered in that
section of the meeting closed to
the public.

60

61

60

56

The City of Whittlesea continues
to focus on strengthening its
community engagement practices
and is committed to providing our
residents with a say on matters
that may affect them.

Attendance
Councillor attendance at
council meetings
[The sum of the number of Councillors
who attended each ordinary and
special Council meeting/(Number of
ordinary and special Council meetings)
× (Number of Councillors elected at the
last Council general election)] x100

85.00%

84.85%

87.73%

85.38%

Service cost
Cost of governance
[Direct cost of the governance service/
Number of Councillors elected at the
last Council general election]

$52,001.00

$53,282.36

$52,537.82

$54,481.18

64

58

60

56

Consultation and engagement
Satisfaction with community
consultation and engagement
Community satisfaction rating out of
100 on how Council has performed
on community consultation and
engagement

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with Council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out
of 100 with how Council has performed
in making decisions in the interest of
the community]
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Councillor attendance is lower
than 2016/17 mainly due to
one Councillor being on
extended leave.

The cost of governance has
remained consistent with
previous years.

This decrease in satisfaction may
be due to a number of issues,
such as difficulties with our
waste collection services when
we changed contractors.
We are actively working to
improve communication of
Council’s decisions.
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Council Priority
Health and wellbeing
A healthy community that supports and includes diverse
people through all of life’s stages and cares about life-long
learning has a sense of wellbeing and belonging.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan
including results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

5
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STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 5

General health

Number of reported family violence incidents per 100,000 population

1,452

Psychological distress

Percentage of individuals who feel ‘somewhat’ or ‘very’ safe during the day/at night

68.5%

Risk factors

Percentage of individuals who are:
• a. overweight, or
b. obese

a. 31%
b. 24.1%

• undertake 2.5 hours or more of moderate-vigorous exercise

44.4%

• meet fruit and vegetable intake guidelines

47.4%

• at increased risk of alcohol-related injury on a single occasion

30.5%

• daily or occasional smokers

15.1%

Food insecurity

Percentage of households that ran out of food and couldn’t afford to buy more at
least once in the past 12 months

12.1%

Gambling loss

Average annual expenditure per adult on Electronic Gaming Machines

Affordable housing

Percentage of households reporting ‘moderate’ or ‘heavy’ household payment stress
in the last 12 months

53.8%

Access to health services

Percentage of households that believe it is ‘very easy’ to access hospitals, doctors,
dentists and mental health services

67.2%

Access to human services

Percentage of households that believe it is ‘very easy’ to access aged care, respite,
financial and legal support services

36.2%

Developmental vulnerability

Percentage of children in first year of school who are developmentally vulnerable on
two or more Australian Early Development Census domains

Connectedness to school

Percentage of students who report feeling connected with their school:
• a. Years 5-6, and
b. Years 7-9

Access to educational services

Percentage of households that believe it is ‘very easy’ to access primary schools,
secondary schools, early childhood services and tertiary education

59.7%

Participation in community groups

Percentage of individuals who participate in community groups

43.6%

Sense of community

Percentage of households that strongly agree: I/we feel part of the local community

21.4%

Volunteering

Percentage of individuals aged 15+ who volunteer

13.6%

Community acceptance
of diverse cultures

Percentage of households that strongly agree: People in my neighbourhood are
accepting of people from other cultural/religious backgrounds

39.6%

$679

9.7%

a. 84.4%
b. 62.5%

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017
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Major initiatives
The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

MAJOR INITIATIVES

There is a focus
on preventative
approaches to health
issues and health policy

Gambling
Strategy and
Action Plan

Health and human
services are accessible
and responsive to the
needs and aspirations of
all people

2017-21
Municipal
Public
Health and
Wellbeing Plan

Aged Care
Reform
transition
People of all ages
and abilities are
supported to live well
with appropriate
program, service and
infrastructure delivery

Our voice is reflected
through inclusive
Council decision making
processes

Family Connect
Plan 2013-18

Community
Building
Strategy

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Deliver Phase 2 of the
gambling advocacy campaign

Phase 2 of the gambling advocacy campaign
was successfully delivered. The aim was to
raise awareness of gambling harm in the
community and to advocate for legislative
change in the lead up to the State election.

We respect and promote
our Aboriginal heritage
and community

Municipal Public Health
and Wellbeing Plan
2017 -21 adopted

Following an extensive consultation process
and an analysis of health and social indicators
the Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan was
endorsed by Council in October 2017.

Implement the 2017/18
Municipal Public Health and
Wellbeing Plan actions

Collaborative partnerships with key external
stakeholders have been established to support
initiatives led by partners. Council led initiatives
on track. Progress on projects of note are
the Sons of the North project targeting less
advantaged men, research on use of green
space, and VicHealth funded alcohol culture
project with young people.

Aged care reform
implementation plan adopted

Council resolved on 3 July 2018 to implement
changes to some services we continue to
deliver and monitor others and report again in
mid-2019.

Middle Years Strategy
launched and Middle
Years Strategy Action Plan
developed by the Hume
Whittlesea Local Learning
and Employment Network

Strategy launched and Action Plan developed.
Endorsed by the Executive Leadership Team on
10 May 2017.

Established areas
long-term infrastructure
plan developed
Development of:
• Volunteer policy
• Equity framework
• Community
advocacy toolkit
• Council grants policy
• Participation and
Engagement Framework

We are socially inclusive
of all ages, abilities,
gender, race, ethnicity,
sexuality, religion,
culture and heritage

Youth Plan 2030
– Action Plan 2
Development

Youth Plan 2030 – Action
Plan 2 adopted

New and emerging
communities are
supported

Multicultural
Action Plan

Deliver the 17/18 priority
actions for the Multicultural
Action Plan, including
the Welcome Expo, the
Northern Multicultural
Business Awards and a
Refugee Week event

KEY:

Completed

Ongoing

Discontinued
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Major initiatives (cont.)

KEY:

Completed

MAJOR INITIATIVES
Reconciliation
Action Plan

Ongoing

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

Deliver the 17/18
priority actions for
the Reconciliation
Action Plan, including
a National Sorry Day
event and supporting
the Whittlesea
Reconciliation Group

During this period the Whittlesea Reconciliation
Group oversaw the successful delivery of the annual
reconciliation program. The National Sorry Day event was
attended by over 100 people including staff, residents
and local schools students. Of these attendees 85%
were non-Aboriginal, 67% had not previously attended a
Whittlesea Sorry Day event and 95% of attendees agreed
or strongly agreed that the event made them feel
more connected to the community.

Discontinued

Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.
SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

Community Cultural
Development Services

Strengthens social cohesion through the arts, events, Aboriginal reconciliation and
multiculturalism and addresses race-based discrimination.

2,253
2,435
182

Plan finalised and endorsed on 4 October 2017.

Community Planning
and Engagement

Enhances community wellbeing through building social capital, planning of local place
based programs and services, planning and delivery of community infrastructure, actively
engaging local residents, community organisations and other stakeholders.

3,261
2,898
(363)

The following policies and framework were
endorsed by Council:
• Volunteering Policy (17 September 2017)
• Council Grants Policy (21 November 2017)
• Participation and Engagement Policy and
Framework (27 June 2017).

Community
Support Service

Provides a range of Home and Community Care services to eligible residents to
support them living well in their homes.

4,157
4,135
(22)

Cultural Heritage
Management

Management of Cultural Heritage Policy and Strategy. Strategic heritage initiatives.
Relationship management with statutory authorities and organisations. Coordination
of protection for Council owned heritage places. Internal advice on heritage places,
projects, assets and community history.

Family, Children and
Youth Services

Provides a range of programs, services and activities to families and children within the
City of Whittlesea.

6,659
7,084
425

Health Services

Immunisation program provided for infants, school aged children and adults. Provision
of public health surveillance and enforcement services. Plan, implement and evaluate
activities to promote the health and wellbeing of the community.

1,692
1,879
187

Positive Ageing Services

Coordinated and integrated planning of land use, facility and service provision for an
ageing population.

818
839
21

Social Support

Provides a range of Planned Activity Groups including for people experiencing dementia,
various multicultural groups and Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander people. Volunteers
are recruited, trained, supported and their work is acknowledged. The volunteers assist
with group activities, meal delivery and community transport.

317
315
(2)

Both the Equity Framework (6 June 2018) and
Community Advocacy Toolkit (March 2018) are
also complete.
Youth Plan 2030+ and Action Plan adopted by
Council in November 2017.

The priority actions identified in the Multicultural
Action Plan have been achieved. The Welcome
Expo was held in October 2017, the Northern
Multicultural Business Awards in August 2017
and the Emerge festival ran 13 events in various
locations between the 22-30 June 2018 to
celebrate Whittlesea's cultural diversity.

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

68
131
63
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Service performance indicators and measures

Service performance indicators and measures

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including
explanation of material variations.
SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

FOOD SAFETY
Timeliness
Time taken to action food complaints
[Number of days between receipt
and first response action for all food
complaints/Number of food complaints]

2.1

Service Standard
Food safety assessments
[Number of registered class 1 food
premises and class 2 food premises
that receive an annual food safety
assessment in accordance with the
Food Act 1984/Number of registered
class 1 food premises and class 2 food
premises that require an annual food
safety assessment in accordance with
the Food Act 1984] x100

100%

Service Cost
Cost of food safety service
[Direct cost of the food safety service/
Number of food premises registered or
notified in accordance with the Food
Act 1984]

$452.23

Health & Safety
Critical and major non-compliance
notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance
outcome notifications and major
non-compliance notifications about
food premises followed up/Number
of critical non-compliance outcome
notifications and major non-compliance
notifications about food premises] x100

85.00%
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1.41

100%

$356.08

99.24%

1.23

99.11%

$270.47

100%

1.88

99.42%

$309.07

100%

Council is upgrading to a purpose
built computer program for
Environmental Health that will
automate this recording function
in 2018. It is expected this
system will improve the current
response rate.
In 2017, 99.4% of Food Act
assessments were completed.
Four food premises were not
assessed in 2017 because they
opened in late December 2017
so an assessment was not
conducted until January 2018.

In 2017/18 there was a significant
number of temporary food
premises that did not renew
their registration from 2016/17.
Therefore this reduction of food
premises created a higher than
expected cost per premises.
This year we completed 100% of
follow up inspections required
from all notifications that had
received a critical or major
non-compliance determination.

SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

Satisfaction
Participation in first MCH home visit
[Number of first MCH home visits/
Number of birth notifications
received] x100

98.00%

98.87%

105.71%

105.30%

The excess of 100% is due to
families with babies moving
into the municipality having
an address outside of the
municipality when commencing
antenatal care.

Service Standard
Infant enrolments in MCH service
[Number of infants enrolled in the
MCH service (from birth notifications
received)/Number of birth notifications
received] x100

98.00%

93.25%

100%

100%

Providing a range of flexible and
responsive services has enabled
parents to remain engaged with
the MCH service.

Service Cost
Cost of MCH service
[Cost of the MCH service/Hours worked
by MCH nurses]

$68.34

$67.43

$70.35

$70.57

City of Whittlesea continues
to monitor the unit price given
changes in program requirements
and funding arrangements.

Participation
Participation in MCH service
[Number of children who attend the
MCH service at least once (in the year)/
Number of children enrolled in the
MCH service] x100

79.00%

78.44%

78.23%

76.96%

We do not believe that this
decrease is of a material nature.

Participation
Participation in MCH service by
Aboriginal children
[Number of Aboriginal children
who attend the MCH service at
least once (in the year)/Number of
Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH
service] x100

72.00%

70.95%

65.37%

71.63%

This year we have assisted
Aboriginal families to feel
comfortable in participating
and choosing the Maternal
Child Health service to suit
their children.

MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH

By providing a range of
flexible and responsive
MCH services,
our service standards
have continually
improved over the past
three years.
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Council Priority
Community safety
Working to create a safe community where the harmful
effects of violence, alcohol and drugs are removed.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results achieved in relation
to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

6
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STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 6

Family violence

Number of reported family incidents per 100,000 population

1,452

Safety in public areas

Percentage of individuals who feel ‘somewhat’ or ‘very’ safe during the day/at night

68.5%

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017
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Major initiatives

Service performance indicators and measures

The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Our neighbourhoods are
designed to create safe
public spaces

MAJOR INITIATIVES
Neighbourhood
and Town
Centre renewal

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

Develop a neighbourhood
streetscape improvement
plan bordered by Main
Street, High Street, Metro
Ring Road and Edgars Road

Draft Local Area Traffic Management and
Streetscape Improvement Plan was presented
to Council Forum on 10 July 2018.

Implement Stage 1 of
the Local Area Traffic
Management Plan 20
(between Childs Road, Betula
Avenue, McKimmies Road, E6
Transport Corridor Reserve)

2017/18 program of works complete.

Commence urban streetscape
improvement works at the
Lalor Shopping Centre

Construction works commenced in June 2018.
Tender for works have been advertised twice
and a contract awarded in June 2018.

We see a reduction of
crime in our community

Community
Safety
and Crime
Prevention
Strategy

Delivery of a burglary
prevention project, two
crime prevention audits and
a community safety forum

The burglary prevention pilot was completed
with over 90% of targeted Mill Park households
participating, two crime prevention audits were
completed and a community safety forum was
held in October 2017.

We have access
to family violence
prevention programs

Family Violence
Strategy
– Year 3
Implementation

Advocate for a community
safety hub, develop a policy
for pets of family violence
victims and review the family
violence workplace policy

Family Violence Workplace policy reviewed
and endorsed in November 2017. Policy for
pets of family violence victims developed in
February 2018. State Government determined
that Community Safety Hub for this region
would be in Heidelberg, however advocacy
continues for increased family violence services
in the municipality.

We have disaster,
community safety and
resilience programs

KEY:

Completed

Emergency
Management
Improvements

Ongoing

Undertake community
emergency risk assessment,
update the Municipal
Emergency Management
Plan and conduct external
audit, conduct training/
exercises to improve
emergency response
capability and capacity

Community Emergency Risk Assessment
undertaken and completed with relevant
emergency management specialists. Municipal
Emergency Management Plan reviewed and
updated following quarterly meetings. North
West Collaboration exercises undertaken
with member councils to improve response,
capability and capacity.

Completion of the Eden Park
Fire Mitigation Project

Final Plan noted by Council on 1 May 2018. The
plan was positively received by local authorities
and will be updated periodically to ensure it
remains current.

Discontinued
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SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

Animal Management

The service manages domestic animal registration and renewals, animal pounds/
shelters and associated vet services for dogs, cats, and livestock. Animal collection
services for dogs, cats and livestock are run along with investigations of dog attacks,
noise and nuisance complaints. Audits of declared dangerous guard dogs and domestic
animal business premises are undertaken to ensure compliance with all legislative
requirements. Review and implementation of the Domestic Animals Management Plan.

350
902
552

Emergency
Management Planning

Supports the Emergency Management Planning Committee to build community
emergency preparedness and resilience; increase Council’s capacity to respond to
emergencies; and leads business continuity planning in the event of emergency.

381
493
112

Local Laws
Enforcement

Protection of Council assets to minimise damage during construction. Parking
enforcement services and removal of derelict and abandoned vehicles. Local laws
prosecutions and review. Proactive and compliance activities on unsightly properties.
Municipal fire prevention and inspections in urban and rural areas. Litter investigations
and prosecution of dumped rubbish in the public domain and notified private properties.

(2,051)
(1,711)
340

Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including
explanation of material variations.
SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

ANIMAL MANAGEMENT
Timeliness
Time taken to action animal
management requests
[Number of days between receipt and
first response action for all animal
management requests/Number of
animal management requests]

1

1

1

1

Service standard
Animals reclaimed
[Number of animals reclaimed/Number
of animals collected] x100 reclaimed)

41.%

47.78%

37.13%

43.34%

Of the 2,065 animals impounded in 2017/18, 895
were reclaimed (43%). This is overwhelmingly
due to cats not being reclaimed by owners, with a
reclaim rate of 8%. Of dogs impounded, 87% were
reclaimed by their owners.

Service cost
Cost of animal management service
[Direct cost of the animal
management service/Number of
registered animals]

$41.79

$47.68

$41.57

$94.65

The 71% increase this year reflects the trend being
experienced across local government in delivering
animal management services, including animal
pound operations. The City of Whittlesea is actively
working with other councils to provide a combined
animal management service that delivers better
value across participating municipalities.

Health and Safety
Animal prosecutions proven in court
[Number of successful animal
management prosecutions]

5

2

1

7

The City of Whittlesea continues its commitment
to delivering a high-quality animal service.
Council responded to all 2,716 animal-related
requests on the same day of receiving them.

This year we successfully prosecuted seven dog
attack cases at the Magistrates Court.
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Council Priority
Planning and infrastructure
Places, spaces and events bring people together to socialise
and access services and also help build our community
and an understanding and appreciation of our diversity.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results achieved in relation
to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

9
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STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 9

Use of open space

Percentage of households that visited one or more types of local open spaces
at least monthly

71.2%

Community meeting spaces

Percentage of residential dwellings that are within 800m of a Council
community meeting space

31.7%

Recreation facilities

Percentage of households that rate a) libraries; b) sports facilities as ‘very
important’ to the community

Participation in sports and recreation

Percentage of individuals who participate in sports and recreation activities

49.8%

Distinct community character

Percentage of households that strongly agree: the community has a distinct
character, it’s a special place

26.4%

a. 65.0%
b. 67.4%

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017
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Major initiatives

Service performance indicators and measures

The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
We have public
spaces and community
hubs that bring
people together

Urban design helps
build our connection
to place, the natural
environment and
the community

We have open
spaces that are
welcoming and safe
for public gathering

We can access
recreation facilities
and open spaces that
reflect and respond to
local need

MAJOR INITIATIVES
Plenty Valley
Town Structure
Plan

Planning Scheme
Amendment adopted

Report requesting panel was presented to Council
in October 2017. Councillors requested additional
consultation. Panel Hearing request endorsed at
February Council meeting. Panel was conducted
last week of June. Adoption of the Amendment can
only occur following Panel Hearing. It is anticipated
that the Panel Report will be provided in August
2018, after which Council can consider the Panel
recommendations and seek to adopt the amendment.

Mernda Town
Centre and Rail
Extension

Mernda Town Centre Development Plan adopted.
Awaiting finalisation of Section 173 Agreement from
the proponent relating to Development Contributions
to allow for issue of the Stage 1 Permit.

Stage 1 planning
permit issued

Draft planning permit finalised. Awaiting finalisation
of the Section 173 Agreement by the proponent
relating to Development Contributions to allow for
issue of the planning permit. Timing of finalisation of
the Agreement is dependent on the proponent.

Housing
Diversity
Strategy review

Housing diversity issues
paper and background
report completed

Issues paper and background report on housing
diversity has been completed. The planning
scheme amendment exhibition process has also
been completed.

Greening our
streets and
upgrading
parks in
established
areas

Delivery of 2017/18 park
upgrades as per the Open
Space Strategy, including
Tarcoola Close Park, Thomas
Street Recreation Reserve,
Oakbank Park and the
township link in Whittlesea

All 2017/18 park upgrades have been completed and
the parks are open to the public for use.

Implementation of the
2017/18 Street Tree Renewal
Program as per the Street
Tree Management Plan

The 2017/18 Street Tree Renewal Program was
completed on time and within budget. The program
installed 1,566 new street trees for the City.

Adoption of the 2018-28
Recreation Strategy

Active Whittlesea Strategy (formerly known as
Recreation Strategy) was adopted by Council on
4 September 2018.

Award construction contract
for two soccer pitches and a
pavilion at Lalor West Reserve

Tender for works advertised and contract awarded
for construction to commence in January 2018.
Construction commenced and works are well underway.

Award construction contract
for two soccer pitches and
pavilion/ community facility
at Doreen South Reserve

Tender for works advertised and contract awarded in
October 2017 for construction works to commence.
The project commenced with the construction of the
car park, completed ahead of schedule.

Award construction contract
for pavilion and car park
for new soccer grounds at
Harvest Home Road

Initial tenders were unsuitable and a new tender
process was required. Council Report prepared and
submitted for Council Meeting. Awarded on
3 July 2018.

Award construction contract
for Mill Park Leisure Centre
redevelopment

Tender for works advertised and tender evaluation
completed. Council Report prepared and submitted
for Council Meeting on 3 July 2018. Construction
commenced in July 2018.

Recreation
Strategy
2018-2028
development

Mill Park
Leisure Centre
redevelopment

Completed

PROGRESS

Mernda Town Centre
Development Plan adopted

Deliver new
recreation
facilities

KEY:

ANNUAL MEASURES

Ongoing

SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

Asset and Facilities
Management

Maintenance of Council assets to present an inviting and well- maintained city
through road, facility and other infrastructure related maintenance. Also includes
strategic asset management to understand and manage the cost and use of an asset
over its life.

Building Control

The service is committed to ensuring that the amenity and safety of the community
is maintained when using Buildings and Places of Public Entertainment, (POPEs). This
includes the issue of building permits, occupancy permits for buildings and POPEs,
assessment and the issue of ‘report and consent’ notices regarding the siting of buildings
and encroachments. The service inspects existing buildings, including swimming pools,
to ensure compliance with essential safety measures and barriers. It enforces building
legislation with re-course to the Courts, as required and manages data information
regarding building and occupancy permits

Capital Works
Program Delivery

The service leads the organisation's planning, development and delivery of major
infrastructure and building projects from concept to completion.

2,921
3,148
227

Leisure Services

The service provides the management of community and sporting facilities;
community club liaison and development; and leisure strategic planning.

7,611
7,461
(150)

City Presentation
Services

Delivers waste management services to the municipality. Service also includes litter
collection, graffiti removal and street sweeping.

18,124
17,609
(515)

Land Planning

Undertakes strategic land use planning, design and policy projects including policy/
strategy development, structure plans, design guidelines, master plans, development
contributions and infrastructure planning. It provides consistent, accurate and timely
assessment of planning applications for land use, developments and subdivision.

3,768
5,266
1,498

Parks and Open Space

Management of parks and open space network. Includes planning for future parks and
open space projects.

14,080
15,404
1,324

Property Services

Provides professional property management of Council’s property portfolio.

20,647
21,488
841
864
874
10

691
941
250

Discontinued
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Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including
explanation of material variations.
SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

Timeliness
Time taken to decide planning applications
[The median number of days between
receipt of a planning application and a
decision on the application]

Service cost
Cost of statutory planning service
[Direct cost of the statutory planning
service/Number of planning
applications received]
Decision making
Planning decisions upheld at VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not
set aside Council's decision in relation
to a planning application/Number of
VCAT decisions in relation to planning
applications] x100

SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

LIBRARIES

STATUTORY PLANNING

Service standard
Planning applications decided
within 60 days
[Number of planning application
decisions made within 60 days/
Number of planning application
decisions made] x100

Service performance indicators and measures

98

113

112

72

There has been a significant
improvement in reducing the median
days when compared with last year.
This has been achieved through
initiatives, process and system
improvements.

64%

61.4%

54.15%

69.16%

There has been a significant
improvement in increasing the
number of applications processed
within statutory timeframes. This
has been achieved through initiatives,
process and system improvements.

$1,689.00

62.00%

$1,301.90

55.56%

$2352.90

38.89%

$2101.86

55%

The overall reduced amount has
largely been affected by position
vacancies and staff absences
throughout the year, as well as an
increase in the overall number of
applications.
VCAT affirmed 11 out of 20 of our
decisions. We also had a number
of consent orders reached and
one overturned.

Utilisation
Library collection usage
[Number of library collection item loans/
Number of library collection items]

Resource standard
Standard of library collection
[Number of library collection items
purchased in the last 5 years/Number
of library collection items] x100
Service cost
Cost of library service
[Direct cost of the library service/
Number of visits]
Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library members/
Municipal population] x100

6.41

6.62

4.92

6.75

86.00%

85.92%

83.95%

87.44%

-

$6.89

$6.22

%6.01

5.58%

-

16.00%

13.83%

14.89%

12.81%

In 2016/17 the library did a periodic
purge of records for items that were
still technically part of the collection
but which had been marked as
lost or missing and were no longer
circulating. Due to this situation, the
result in 2016/17 should have been
6.62 rather than 4.92. With a growing
City of Whittlesea population, this
figure may increase over time,
although in smaller increments.

The drop in active library members
relates to changing usage patterns
with some digital platforms not
providing enough data at this time
to include people who are not
identified as ‘active’ because they
have moved to digital content only.
Yarra Plenty Regional Library has
been reviewing the way this data
is collated to better align it with
the guidelines.

In 2017/18 Council
reduced the average
number of days taken
to make planning
application decisions
by 35 per cent.
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Service performance indicators and measures

Service performance indicators and measures

SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

AQUATIC FACILITIES
Service Standard
Health inspections of aquatic facilities
[Number of authorised officer
inspections of Council aquatic facilities/
Number of Council aquatic facilities]

Health and Safety
Reportable safety incidents at
aquatic facilities
[Number of WorkSafe reportable
aquatic facility safety incidents]
Service Cost
Cost of indoor aquatic facilities
[Direct cost of indoor aquatic facilities
less income received/Number of visits
to indoor aquatic facilities]
Service Cost
Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities
[Direct cost of outdoor aquatic facilities
less income received/Number of visits
to outdoor aquatic facilities]
Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities/
Municipal population]

SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

WASTE COLLECTION
3.33

0.00

$0.15

$13.31

6.41
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3.33

0.00

$0.10

$14.58

5.98

3.33

0.00

$0.18

$10.92

5.22

2.33

0.00

$0.73

$13.30

4.18

During 2017/18 Council carried
out 7 Public Health & Wellbeing
(PH&W) Act inspections of its
3 Council aquatic facilities
(2 indoor & 1 outdoor). Council
routinely schedules PH&W
inspections three times per year
for indoor and once per year for
outdoor aquatic facilities.
No incidents were reported
during the year.

Increases in utility costs and
a reduction in learn to swim
participation negatively
impacted the financial result.

Increased maintenance
expenses negatively impacted
the financial result.

Due to the increased number of
industry competitors, attendance
at Thomastown Recreation &
Aquatic Centre (TRAC) and Mill
Park Leisure (MPL) has declined.
The ‘Learn to Swim’ program
average monthly enrolments
have been most affected since
the previous year, TRAC seeing a
2.6% decrease and MPL seeing
a 25.5% decrease. The decrease
at Mill Park is attributed to the
closure of the facility which was
effective from 1 July 2018.

Satisfaction
Kerbside bin collection requests
[Number of kerbside garbage and
recycling bin collection requests/
Number of kerbside bin collection
households] x1000

330.63

302.89

282.72

303.28

An increase in the number of calls
from residents can be attributed
to an underperforming contractor
and the changeover to a new
waste contractor in April 2018.

Service Standard
Kerbside collection bins missed
[Number of kerbside garbage and
recycling collection bins missed/
Number of scheduled kerbside garbage
and recycling collection bin lifts] x10,000

3.88

3.93

3.68

12.10

Missed bins have increased this
year due to an underperforming
contractor. This contractor was
terminated and replaced by JJ
Richards. Missed bins expected to
decrease dramatically in 18/19.

Service cost
Cost of kerbside garbage bin
collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside garbage bin
collection service/Number of kerbside
garbage collection bins]

$53.55

$52.60

$54.24

$50.09

Lower than projected due to the
early start of JJ Richards which
provided better value per bin
lift rate.

Service cost
Cost of kerbside recyclables bin
collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside recyclables
bin collection service/Number of
kerbside recyclables collection bins]

$28.51

$28.05

$27.60

$25.72

Lower than projected due to the
early start of JJ Richards which
provided better value per bin
lift rate.

Waste diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted
from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green
organics collected from kerbside bins/
Weight of garbage, recyclables and
green organics collected from kerbside
bins] x100

43%

39.86%

41.8%

39.51%

Our diversion rates have remained
similar over recent years. Our
green waste tonnages are less
than we predicted, due to low rain
falls. Our recycling tonnages have
increased slightly.

The 2017/18
Street Tree
Renewal Program
saw 1,566 new
street trees planted
in the City.
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Council Priority
Environmental sustainability
Environmental sustainability means managing the
impacts of environmental, economic and social activities
so that we remain healthy over the long term.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results achieved in relation
to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

10
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STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 10

Household energy usage

Average resident daily electricity consumption (kWh per day)

Household waste generation

Average annual waste production (kg per household)

620kg

Household recycling contamination

Percentage of contamination in recycling stream (by kg of weight)

12.3%

Household water usage

Average annual residential potable water usage (kilolitres per property)

168kl

Stewardship of the environment

Number of active community-based environmental groups in the City of Whittlesea

4.5kWh

12

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017
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Major initiatives
The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

MAJOR INITIATIVES

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

We reduce waste to
landfill and take action
to stop illegal dumping

Waste
recovery
facility
improvements

Transfer station
options paper
developed and
considered by Council

A planning application has been received for the
development of a transfer station for use by Council’s
residents at a site within Wollert. Council will
progress the final operational details for this facility
with the applicant.

We reduce greenhouse
gas emissions and
help our community to
adapt to the effects of
climate change

Climate Ready
Plan

Climate Ready Plan
adopted by Council

Climate Ready Whittlesea Plan was adopted by
Council in November 2017. Priority projects update:
(1) Heat Vulnerability Mapping collaborative project
scoped, funding secured and project commenced;
(2) Environmentally Sustainable Design Local
Planning Policy scoped, policy developed and
proposed planning scheme amendment with
Planning Minister; (3) Tree canopy cover measure
being developed; (4) Climate Adaptation Governance
Assessment commenced.

We maintain and
improve rural land
health and protect
native flora and fauna

Municipal
Biodiversity
Action Plan
development

Municipal Biodiversity
Action Plan developed

Working Draft Biodiversity Strategy developed
for consultation purposes. This includes proposed
focus areas and actions. The Biodiversity Strategy
and Action Plan is listed as a key action in the Year 2
Council Action Plan.

KEY:

Completed

Ongoing

Discontinued

Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.
SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

Sustainability
Services

The service provides sustainability expertise in: strategy and policy development and
implementation; climate change adaptation; community and corporate sustainability
education and events; land management incentives, education and engagement;
environmental planning and compliance; natural resource management and
biodiversity planning.

1,091
1,062
(29)

Conservation and
Bushland Management

Planning and maintenance of Council's conservation and bushland reserves.

1,296
1,329
33

There are no prescribed service performance indicators for Council Priority 7 Environmental Sustainability.
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Council Priority
Jobs and investment
A diverse economy offers varied career opportunities
so people can live and work in the City of Whittlesea.

Strategic indicators
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan
including results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan.

7

STRATEGIC INDICATOR/MEASURE

MEASURE

RESULT 7

Income

Median weekly personal income

$528

Unemployment

Percentage of labour force unemployed

6.1%

Underemployment

Percentage of individuals who indicate they are underemployed

12.4%

Highly skilled workforce

Percentage of employed individuals who are employed as managers/
professionals or in trades

39.4%

Local employment

Percentage of employed individuals who are employed within the municipality

25.7%

Local jobs

Percentage of change in total number of local jobs over the last 5 years

22.1%

Qualifications

Percentage of individuals aged 15+ holding a post-secondary qualification

71.1%

Youth disengagement

Percentage of individuals aged 15-24 not engaged in education or employment

9.2%

Source: City of Whittlesea Community Wellbeing Indicators Report 2017

Major initiatives
The following statement reviews the annual progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2017-18 Budget.
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
New business and
investment are
attracted to our City

KEY:
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Completed

MAJOR INITIATIVES
Economic
Development
Strategy

Ongoing

ANNUAL MEASURES

PROGRESS

Implementation of
the 2017/18 Economic
Development Strategy
actions, including the
investment development
framework

Implementation of the Economic Development
Strategy is now an action of the 2018/19
Council Plan. The Investment Development
Framework was put on hold pending the
release of the Investment Attraction Strategy
for Melbourne's North (NORTH Link), which
will inform our strategy.

Discontinued
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Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-18 Budget and the persons or
sections of the community who provided the service.
SERVICE AREA

DESCRIPTION

NET COST
ACTUAL
BUDGET
VARIANCE
$000

City of Whittlesea
Business Support

Provides many levels of support to businesses including guidance, assistance with
other Council departments, promotion of funding opportunities, networking with
complementary businesses and promotion of business to increase their customer base.

828
919
91

Service performance indicators and measures
The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including
explanation of material variations.
SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS
AND COMMENTS

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT (OPTIONAL)
Participation
Participation in business
development activities
[Number of businesses with an ABN
in the municipality that participate
in a business development activity/
Number of businesses with an ABN in
the municipality] x100

-

-

7.77%

7.32%

Service standard
Delivery of planned business
development activities
[Number of business development
activities delivered/Number of planned
business development activities] x100

-

98.08%

100%

97.38%

The Economic Development team
strive to deliver a high standard
of service.

Service cost
Cost of economic development service
[Direct cost of delivering the
economic development service/
Number of businesses with an ABN in
the municipality]

-

-

$88.40

$69.93

Council continues to provide an
efficient and high value service
to the business community
through its programs and
support services. Partnership
opportunities with private
industry, NORTH Link and
the northern region councils
contribute to these programs.

Economic activity
Per cent change in number of businesses
[Number of businesses with an ABN
in the municipality at the end of the
financial year less the number of
businesses at the start of the financial
year/Number of businesses with an
ABN in the municipality at the start of
the financial year] x100

-

-

8.37%

11.42%

Opportunity and industry
confidence within the economic
landscape contributes to the
growth of local businesses.
Council celebrates the growth
of local businesses as this
contributes to the economic
prosperity of the municipality.
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The Economic Development
team continue to engage and
encourage the participation
of local businesses. The
team continues to explore
opportunities that will see
growth in participation.
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Governance
Council Governance

Special committees

Meetings of Council

The City of Whittlesea is constituted under the
Local Government Act 1989 to provide leadership for the
good governance of the municipal district and the local
community. Council has a number of roles including:

The City of Whittlesea does not have any special
committees established.

In 2018, Council adopted a new monthly meetings cycle
for its ordinary Council meetings.

• taking into account the diverse needs of the local
community in decision-making
• providing leadership by establishing strategic
objectives and monitoring achievements
• ensuring that resources are managed in a
responsible and accountable manner
• advocating the interests of the local community to
other communities and governments
• fostering community cohesion and encouraging
active participation in civic life.
Council is committed to effective and sustainable forms
of democratic and corporate governance as the key
to ensuring that Council and its administration meet
the community’s priorities. The community has many
opportunities to provide input into Council’s decisionmaking processes including community consultation and
the ability to make submissions to Council.
Council’s formal decision-making processes are conducted
through Council meetings. Council delegates the majority
of its decision making to Council staff. These delegations
are exercised in accordance with Council policies.

Councillor allowances
In accordance with Section 74 of the Local Government
Act 1989, the Mayor and Councillors are entitled to
receive an allowance while performing their duties.
The Minister for Local Government approved an
adjustment to Mayoral and Councillor allowances from
1 December 2017, increasing allowances by 2 per cent.
The current Mayoral and Councillor allowance includes
an amount equivalent to the superannuation guarantee
(currently 9.5 per cent).
Mayoral allowance:
$105,704 per annum. The Mayor is provided with an
office, administrative support and a fully maintained
motor vehicle.
Councillor allowance:
$33,094 per annum.

Meetings are held once a month on a Tuesday evening
from 6.30pm at the Council Offices. Special Council
meetings are occasionally held to consider urgent matters.
Council meeting dates are published in the local press and
on Council’s website. The agenda is available on Council's
website five days prior to the Council Meeting and the
minutes are available the Monday following the meeting.
For the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018, 13 ordinary
Council meetings, 10 special Council meetings and 34
Council forums were held. Council forums (also known
as Assemblies of Councillors) are informal meetings
where Councillors are briefed on current and proposed
programs, projects and services. These forums are not
open to the public.

Special meetings were held on 2 November 2017 to
elect the Mayor, 14 November 2017 for a proposed land
acquisition, 9 January 2018 to consider Construction of
Mosaic Recreation Reserve Contract – Tender Evaluation,
Mill Park Leisure Centre Redevelopment Staging Plan and
PRACC Future Directions, 24 April 2018 to advertise the
proposed Budget and Council Action Plan, 8 May 2018
to request the appointment of a Municipal Monitor,
22 May 2018 for the appointment of an Agent to
Administer a Process, 12 June 2018 to consider Epping
RSL – Bank Guarantee – Extension of Facility, 26 June
2018 to consider Epping RSL – Bank Guarantee –
Extension of Facility and 26 June 2018 to adopt Council
Plan 2017-21 – Year 2 Action Plan and the declaration of
rates and adoption of the 2018-19 Council Budget.

Summary of Councillor attendance for period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
COUNCILLOR

WARD

ORDINARY COUNCIL
MEETINGS (13)

SPECIAL COUNCIL
MEETINGS (10)

FORUM
MEETINGS (32)

Cr Kris Pavlidis (Mayor*)

South West Ward

12

8

25

Cr Lawrie Cox

South West Ward

10

8

21

Cr Stevan Kozmevski

South West Ward

12

8

25

Cr Caz Monteleone

South West Ward

12

8

28

Cr Emilia Lisa Sterjova (Deputy Mayor*)

North Ward

11

8

24

Cr Tom Joseph**

North Ward

8

8

13

Cr Ricky Kirkham

North Ward

12

7

18

Cr John Butler**

North Ward

0

0

0

Cr Sam Alessi

South East Ward

12

8

30

Cr Alahna Desiato

South East Ward

11

6

24

Cr Norm Kelly

South East Ward

10

8

24

Cr Mary Lalios

South East Ward

11

3

17

* The Mayoral and Deputy Mayoral term is for the period 2/11/2017 – 31/10/2018
** On 4 October 2017 the Victorian Electoral Commission conducted a countback in the North Ward to fill the extraordinary vacancy that occurred
after the passing of Cr John Butler. After redistribution of preferences, Tom Joseph was declared elected and was sworn in as a Councillor on
10 October 2017.
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Councillor expenses
In accordance with Section 75 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council is required to reimburse a Councillor for expenses
incurred while performing their duties as a Councillor. Council is also required to adopt and maintain a policy regarding the
reimbursement of Councillors’ expenses. The policy provides guidance for the reimbursement of expenses and the provision
of resources, facilities and other support to the Mayor and Councillors to enable them to discharge their duties. The policy is
published on Council’s website and details of each Councillor’s expenses is including in Council’s annual report, as set out in the
following table, as required by the Act. The expenses cover the period 1 July 2017- 30 June 2018, unless otherwise indicated.
COUNCILLOR

TRAVEL $

CAR MILEAGE $

CHILD CARE $

INFORMATION &
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY $

CONFERENCES
& TRAINING $

Cr Alessi

$1,268.09

$611.62

$0

$2536.34

$1,571.11

$5,987.16

Cr Butler*

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Cr Cox

$0

$0

$0

$70.00

$880.00

$950.00

Cr Desiato

$302.96

$0

$0

$1,767.31

$0

$2,070.27

Cr Joseph#

$0

$0

$0

$80.81

$3,104.50

$3,185.31

Cr Kelly

$320.36

$0

$0

$1,634.69

$0

$1,955.05

Cr Kirkham

$234.46

$0

$0

$1,099.67

$1,099.00

$2,433.13

$0

$0

$0

$2,781.37

$0

$2,781.37

Cr Lalios

$434.22

$0

$0

$2,500.97

$150.00

$3,085.19

Cr Monteleone

$802.85

$557.28

$0

$915.40

$1,684.00

$3,959.53

Cr Pavlidis

$978.84

$0

$0

$3,533.81

$1,573.55

$6,086.20

Cr Sterjova

$1,780.40

$1,983.26

$0

$2,201.63

$5,080.84

$11,046.13

Cr Kozmevski

TOTAL $

*For period 1.7.17 to 6.9.17. #For period 10.10.17 to 30.6.18.

Expense categories
1. Conferences and training
Costs incurred in this category may include those
incurred by partners, in accordance with the Councillor
Expenses and Resources Policy and associated guidelines.
This category covers registration fees for conferences,
seminars and one-off or short-term training
courses. These are usually held by local government
organisations, professional bodies, educational
institutions or private sector providers on subjects
which impact on the role of councillors and the City
of Whittlesea. These expenses also comprise costs
including accommodation and meals for interstate
conferences or training sessions.
2. Travel
Costs incurred in this category may include those
incurred by partners, in accordance with the relevant
policy and guidelines.
This category covers the transport costs incurred in
attending meetings, functions and other commitments
within and outside the municipality. This includes
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taxi services, myki cards, car parking fees, parking
permits and air fares in line with the relevant policy
and guidelines.
3. Information & communication technology
This category covers communication costs to ensure that
Councillors are accessible and able to communicate with
constituents, stakeholders, other Councillors, Council
officers and family members while conducting Council
business. This category includes all costs for the use of
mobile phones, home phones and internet services.
4. Car mileage
This category covers reimbursements for Councillors
who use their private vehicle while conducting Council
business in line with the relevant policy and guidelines.
5. Child care
The Council will reimburse the cost of carer expenses
incurred by Councillors in the course of carrying out
their duties. This includes child care and other forms
of care to support dependent family members.

Audit and Risk Committee
Role of the Audit and Risk Committee

Membership

The Audit and Risk Committee is an independent advisory
committee of Council. Its purpose is to support and
advise Council in fulfilling its responsibilities related to
external financial reporting, maintenance of a strong
and effective governance and control framework,
management of Council’s key risks and Council's
compliance with legislation and regulations. The
Committee has a prime responsibility to oversee and
monitor Council’s various audit processes.

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises five members;
two Councillors and three independent persons. The
Committee Charter states the Chairperson of the
Committee must be appointed from amongst its
independent members. All members have full voting rights.
The membership of the Audit and Risk Committee from
1 July 2017 – 30 June 2018 consisted of:
COMMITTEE MEMBER

APPOINTMENT DATE

Mr Geoff Harry
(Chairperson)

Appointed 31 October 2017

Council’s Audit and Risk Committee is independent of
management and is not involved in any operational
decisions. Committee members do not have any
executive powers, management functions or delegated
financial responsibilities.

Ms Theresa Glab

Appointed 31 October 2017

Mr Michael Ulbrick

Re-appointed 1 October 2016

Mr Michael Said
(Chairperson)

Membership ceased
30 September 2017

The Committee’s role is to report to Council and to
provide appropriate advice and recommendations on
matters relevant to its Charter with the aim of facilitating
decision-making by Council.

Mr Homi Burjorjee

Membership ceased
30 September 2017

Councillor Stevan Kozmevski

Re-appointed
21 November 2017

Councillor Sam Alessi

Appointed 21 November 2017

Councillor Ricky Kirkham

Membership ceased
20 November 2017

An independent Audit and Risk Committee is a fundamental
component of a strong corporate governance structure.

Council’s Chief Executive Officer, Director Corporate
Services, Manager Finance and Assets and Internal
Compliance Officer attend the meetings and other
Council officers attend as required.
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Meetings
The Committee meets at least quarterly and additional
meetings are convened as required. The Audit and Risk
Committee met on five occasions during 2017-2018.
COMMITTEE MEMBER

ATTENDANCE

Mr Geoff Harry

3 of 3*

Ms Theresa Glab

3 of 3*

Mr Michael Ulbrick

3 of 5

Mr Michael Said

2 of 2*

Mr Homi Burjorjee

2 of 2*

Councillor Stevan Kozmevski

4 of 5

Councillor Sam Alessi

2 of 2*

Councillor Ricky Kirkham

2 of 3*

*Number of meetings held while a member of the Committee.

Audit and Risk Committee workplan
The Committee’s activities are set out in its annual
workplan and reflect its key responsibilities, as outlined in
its Charter. The Committee confirms annually that it has
met its requirements in accordance with the Charter.

Internal Audit
A key responsibility of the Committee is to monitor
Council’s internal control framework and to oversee the
risk based internal audit program. The internal audit
program is outsourced to an appropriately skilled service
provider whose work is monitored by the Committee.
A rolling, three-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan is
developed by the service provider to ensure that controls
in the higher areas of risk are reviewed regularly. The
Committee reviews the internal audit plan annually and
recommends the plan to Council for approval.
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PwC concluded its contract with Council for provision
of internal audit services on 30 June 2018. Following an
extensive public tender process, Crowe Horwath was
appointed by Council as its internal auditor provider for a
three-year period from 1 July 2018.
The internal audit reports provided at the conclusion of
each review contain audit findings and recommendations
for improvements, together with management responses,
and are presented to the Committee at each meeting.
The Committee reviews the management responses and
actions and monitors their implementation by the agreed
dates. The internal auditor reported on the following
matters during 2017-18:
• Asset Management Framework: This review
evaluated Council’s asset management framework,
strategy, policy and plans against key elements of
the Local Government Asset Management Better
Practice Guide (2015).
• Road Renewal: This review considered key
processes and controls to manage costs associated
with the renewal of Council roads, specifically
the application of procurement policy, contract
variations, verification of renewal works and
approval for contractor payment.
• Human Resources Information System Post
Implementation: This review was a post
implementation evaluation of Council’s human
resources information system.
• Accounts Payable: This review evaluated key
processes and controls over the accounts payable
process, specifically invoice processing, payments
and management of vendor master file data.
• Contract Variation and Contingency
Management: This review considered a selection of
key processes and controls for the management of
contract contingency funds and budget variations.
An assessment of the internal auditor’s performance was
also undertaken by the Committee during the year, with a
positive result noted.

External audit

Other reports and recommendations

The Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO) has appointed
Richmond Sinnott & Delahunty (RSD) to assist in undertaking
Council’s audits of the annual financial statements and the
annual performance report. RSD was first appointed by
VAGO to conduct the audit for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The Committee considered other reports such as risk
management reports, financial performance reports and
compliance reports that are relevant to its responsibilities.
It also provided advice and recommendations on these
matters to Council where necessary. Other significant
reports provided to the Committee included:

The Committee reviews the annual financial statements
and the performance report and receives a report from
RSD on the outcomes of each audit before recommending
adoption of the annual financial statements and
performance report to Council. The Committee also
discusses with the external auditors issues arising from
the audit, including any management letter issues and the
resolution of such matters.

Internal compliance reviews
Council has established an internal compliance review
process that covers Council processes, policies, procedures
and legislative requirements. At each Committee meeting,
a report is provided detailing the outcomes of internal
compliance reviews undertaken between meetings. During
the year significant reviews completed included:
• an examination of the processes in place to
manage bonus payments
• an examination of the process Council undertakes
to acquit grants received from state and federal
governments
• a review of Investment practices
• a review of payroll process
• the processes and practices adopted by Council’s
Committees of Management were assessed against
current legislative requirements and best practice.
Actions arising from internal compliance reviews are agreed
with management. Progress against actions is reported to
the Committee until they are fully implemented.

• review of outstanding internal and external audit
action items
• management responses to reports released by
various regulatory and integrity agencies
• various other operational reviews undertaken by
Council officers as required.

Reporting to Council
After every Committee meeting, minutes are forwarded to
the next ordinary meeting of Council, including any report
that requires explanation of specific recommendations and
key outcomes. The Committee Chairperson also prepares
and presents an annual report on significant Committee
activities to Council.

Officer support
The Committee has a busy annual workplan and touches
many parts of Council’s operations. The success of its work
requires significant commitment from several senior officers
in developing meeting agendas, supporting reports and
information, preparing meeting minutes and disseminating
information to Committee members between meetings.
The Committee acknowledges these efforts and the strong
support it receives from the officers involved.

Summary
The Committee is satisfied that it has fully discharged its
responsibilities as set out in the Charter. The Committee
would also like to acknowledge that Council has
established a strong control environment, has prudent
financial management practices in place and is maturing
with the implementation of its Risk Management
Framework.
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Governance and Management Checklist
The following are the results in the prescribed form of Council’s assessment against the prescribed governance and
management checklist.
GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT ITEMS

ASSESSMENT

GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT ITEMS
15

Internal audit
(independent accounting professionals engaged by the Council
to provide analyses and recommendations aimed at improving
council’s governance, risk and management controls)

Engaged PwC
Date of engagement of current provider: 1 July 2013

16

Performance reporting framework
(a set of indicators measuring financial and non-financial
performance, including the performance indicators referred
to in section 131 of the Act)

Date of operation of current framework:
15 March 2016

17

Council Plan reporting
(report reviewing the performance of the Council against the
Council Plan, including the results in relation to the strategic
indicators, for the first six months of the financial year)

As part of the City of Whittlesea quarterly
performance reporting:
8 November 2017		
9 May 2018
14 February 2018		
20 August 2018

18

Financial reporting
(quarterly statements to Council under section 138 of the Act
comparing budgeted revenue and expenditure with actual
revenue and expenditure)

Statements presented to council in accordance
with section 138(1) of the Act
Date statements presented:
29 August 2017		
6 March 2018
31 October 2017		
1 May 2018

19

Risk reporting
(six-monthly reports of strategic risks to Council’s operations,
their likelihood and consequences of occurring and risk
minimisation strategies)

Date of reports:
31 August 2017		

20

Performance reporting
(six-monthly reports of indicators measuring the results
against financial and non-financial performance, including
performance indicators referred to in section 131 of the Act)

As part of the City of Whittlesea quarterly
performance reporting:
8 November 2017		
9 May 2018
14 February 2018		
20 August 2018

21

Annual report
(annual report under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act to
the community containing a report of operations and audited
financial and performance statements)

Considered at a meeting of council in accordance
with section 134 of the Act
Date statements presented: 6 September 2017

22

Councillor Code of Conduct
(Code under section 76C of the Act setting out the conduct
principles and the dispute resolution processes to be
followed by Councillors)

Reviewed in accordance with section 76C of the Act
Date reviewed: 14 February 2017

23

Delegations
(a document setting out the powers, duties and functions
of Council and the Chief Executive Officer that have been
delegated to members of staff)

Reviewed in accordance with section 98(6) of the Act
Date of review: 5 June 2018

24

Meeting procedures
(a local law governing the conduct of meetings of Council and
special committees)

Meeting procedures local law made in accordance
with section 91(1) of the Act
Date local law made: 8 May 2012

1

Community engagement policy
(policy outlining Council’s commitment to engaging with the
community on matters of public interest)

Consultation and Engagement Framework
Date of operation: 27 June 2017

2

Community engagement guidelines
(guidelines to assist staff to determine when and how to
engage with the community)

Consultation and Engagement Framework
Date of operation: 27 June 2017

Strategic Resource Plan
(plan under section 126 of the Act outlining the financial and nonfinancial resources required for at least the next 4 financial years)

Adopted in accordance with section 126 of the Act
Date of adoption: 26 June 2018

4

Annual budget
(plan under section 130 of the Act setting out the services to
be provided and initiatives to be undertaken over the next 12
months and the funding and other resources required)

Adopted in accordance with section 130 of the Act
Date of adoption: 26 June 2018

5

Asset management plans
(plans that set out the asset maintenance and renewal needs for
key infrastructure asset classes for at least the next 10 years)

Date of operation of current plans:
Bridges: 17 July 2015
Roads, Buildings: 23 October 2015
Reserve Assets: 20 October 2015
Drainage: 26 October 2015

6

Rating strategy
(strategy setting out the rating structure of council to levy
rates and charges)

Date of operation of current strategy: 24 April 2018

7

Risk policy
(policy outlining Council’s commitment and approach to
minimising the risks to Council’s operations)

Date of operation of current policy: 24 May 2018

8

Fraud policy
(policy outlining Council’s commitment and approach to
minimising the risk of fraud)

Date of operation of current policy: 31 August 2015

9

Municipal emergency management plan
(plan under section 20 of the Emergency Management Act
1986 for emergency prevention, response and recovery)

Prepared and maintained in accordance with
section 20 of the Emergency Management Act 1986
Date of preparation: 26 September 2017

10

Procurement policy
(policy under section 186A of the Local Government Act 1989
outlining the matters, practices and procedures that will
apply to all purchases of goods, services and works)

Prepared and approved in accordance with section
186A of the Local Government Act 1989
Date of adoption: 5 June 2018

11

Business continuity plan
(plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to ensure
that key services continue to operate in the event of a disaster)

Date of operation of current plan: 8 August 2017

12

Disaster recovery plan
(plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to recover
and restore business capability in the event of a disaster)

Date of operation of current plan: 8 October 2016

13

Risk management framework
(framework outlining Council’s approach to managing risks to
the Council’s operations)

Date of operation of current framework: 25 May 2017

Audit Committee
(advisory committee of Council under section 139 of the
Act whose role is to oversee the integrity of a Council’s
financial reporting, processes to manage risks to the Council’s
operations and for compliance with applicable legal, ethical,
and regulatory requirements)

Established in accordance with section 139 of the Act
Date of establishment: 1 April 2003

3

14
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ASSESSMENT

8 March 2018

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management arrangements.

Simon Overland
Chief Executive Officer
Dated: 24 September 2018

Cr Kris Pavlidis
Mayor
Dated: 24 September 2018
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Statutory information
Documents available for public inspection
In accordance with regulation 14 (2), the following are prescribed documents that are available for public inspection
or copies of the documents can be obtained for the purposes of section 222 of the Act at the Council Offices,
25 Ferres Blvd, South Morang. If you have any enquiries about these documents, please contact the Council’s
Governance Department on 9217 2170.
LEGISLATIVE PROVISION

DOCUMENT

HOW TO ACCESS THE DOCUMENT

Section 24B

Certified voters roll

Available for inspection for a short period before
an election. During that period the Voters’ Roll is
available for inspection at Council offices.

Section 62A

Election campaign donations returns lodged by
Candidates at the previous election

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Section 75B(3)

Councillor Resources and Facilities Policy

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Section 76C(6)

Code of Conduct for Councillors

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Section 80A

Assemblies of Councillors – record of Assemblies
of Councillors held during the previous 12 months,
including names of Councillors and members of
Council staff attending, the matters considered and any
conflicts of interest disclosed by Councillors or officers.

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Register of Interests – returns lodged by Councillors,
members of Special Committees and nominated
Council officers

A written application is required to inspect the
Register of Interests.

Procedural Matters Local Laws (No.1 of 2018); and
General Municipal Law (No. 1 of 2014)

Current Local Laws are published on Council’s
website. A hard copy is available for purchase
at a cost of $10. Current Local laws are also
available for inspection or purchase at the
Council offices.

Section 125(11)

Council Plan

Available on Council’s website. The Council
Plan is also available for inspection at
Council offices.

Section 126(4)

Strategic Resource Plan

Available on Council’s website. The Strategic
Resource Plan is also available for inspection at
Council offices.

Section 81(10)

Section 120

Section 130(9)

Council Budget

Available on Council’s website. The current
Council Budget is also available for inspection
at Council offices.

Section 133(3)

Annual Report

Available on Council’s website. The current
Annual Report is also available for inspection
at Council offices.

Section 133(3)

Auditor’s Report

Forms part of the Annual Report and is
available on Council’s website. The Annual
Report incorporating the Auditor’s Report is
also available for inspection at Council offices.

Section 186A(8)

Procurement Policy

Available on Council’s website.
The Procurement Policy is also available for
inspection at Council offices.

Section 208F

Best Value Program Report – quality and cost
standards for services to community

The Best Value Program is published in
Council’s Annual Report which is available on
Council’s website.
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Local Government (General) Regulations 2015
LEGISLATIVE PROVISION

DOCUMENT

HOW TO ACCESS THE DOCUMENT

Regulation 12(a)

Details of overseas or interstate travel undertaken
in an official capacity by Councillors and members of
Council staff in the previous 12 months

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Regulation 12(b)

Agendas and minutes of Council meetings, held
during the previous 12 months

Agendas for Council meetings are published
on the Council’s website the Monday morning
before each Council meeting.
Minutes of Council meetings held during
the previous 12 months are published on
Council’s website.
Archived agendas and minutes for meetings
held prior to the previous 12 months can also
be inspected at Council Offices or by calling
9217 2294.

Regulation 12(c)

Minutes of meetings of Special Committees held
during previous 12 months

Council does not currently have any
Special Committees.

Regulation 12(d)

Register of Delegations to Special Committees
and to members of Council staff – including date of
last review

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Regulation 12(e)

A document containing all leases involving land which
were entered into by the Council as lessor, including
the lessee and the terms and value of the lease

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Regulation 12(f)

Register of Authorised Officers appointed under
section 224(1A) of the Local Government Act 1989

Available for inspection at Council offices.

Regulation 12(g)

A list of donations and grants made by the Council
in the previous 12 months, including the names of
persons or bodies which have received a donation or
grant and the amount of each donation or grant.

Available for inspection at the Council offices.
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Best value
The Local Government Act 1989 requires councils to comply with six best value principles and to report to the community
at least once a year on their achievements. The six best value principles are embedded across our entire organisation
for example:

Quality and cost standards
• Demonstrated through the diligent management
of the Council Budget, transparent reporting and
no new loan borrowings
• Almost 75 per cent of Council’s expenditure is
spent via competitively negotiated contracts –
higher than average for local government and in
line with best practice in the private sector
• Strategies for planning and design are rigorous and
detailed before submission for approval by the
Minister for Planning
• Capital works are completed on time and
within budget

Responsiveness
• One-on-one engagement with our residents
involved 170,000 phone calls and 55,000 walk-in
service desk interactions
• New female change rooms were provided at sports
venues in response to greater female participation
• Council creates employment opportunities for
our residents through the Aboriginal Employment
Pathways Strategy, Work Ready program and
student placements
• New parks and playgrounds opened in response to
community feedback

Accessibility
• Council will continue to provide Home and
Community Care services during the transition
to the National Disability Insurance Scheme.
Council’s services continue to meet or exceed all
requirements by the external auditor
• Part of Council’s website redesign has moved more
services to the digital transaction space
• Supports are provided to meet special needs,
cultural or language requirements
• Accessible design principles are applied to improve
access to public facilities
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Continuous improvement
• Council’s website was redeveloped for a better
user experience
• More customer requests can be submitted online
via Council’s website
• Free WiFi services provided for visitors to the
Civic Centre, Youth Services and Plenty Valley
Ranges Arts and Convention Centre
• External service review program resulted in
significant improvements and financial savings

Community consultation
• Whittlesea 2040 reached 4,400 residents to have
their say on the future vision for the municipality
• Participation and Engagement Policy and
Framework was adopted to ensure effective
engagement with the community
• Social media is providing real-time consultation
and improved community engagement
• The planning process involves extensive notification,
exhibition and consultation with the community
• Community opinion is sought on engineering, road
safety and traffic and parking matters

Reporting
• Social media and website promote and report on
significant events and celebrations
• Progress against Council’s major initiatives is
reported quarterly to Council
• The restructured Corporate Accountability and
Risk Department improves Council’s oversight,
management and reporting of risk and compliance
to help safeguard community interests

Carers Recognition Act
Council is required to report annually on its compliance
with the Victorian Carers Recognition Act 2012. Over the
past year, Council has undertaken a number of activities
consistent with its responsibilities under the Act, including:
• Council delivered more than 40,000 hours of
services targeting the support of carers
• Council worked with Department of Health and
Human Services on the Thomas Street Respite facility
project that is at a design phase and will open in 2018
under management by Karingal Disability Services
• Council has consulted carers as a part of
Whittlesea Disability Network and community
consultation on the Disability Action Plan 2017-21
• Council supported the caring role by offering
concessions to holders of the Carer Card in a
number of Council services and programs
• Council maintained and refined a variety of respite
programs based on different needs identified by
carer surveys
• As an employer, Council has a number of carer
friendly arrangements to support Council staff
who are in a care relationship
• Council formed a partnership with a local NDIS
provider to provide continuity of care and a smooth
transition from HACC services to NDIS services including
maintaining access to relevant respite services
• Council’s Positive Ageing Strategy and Action Plan
includes recognition of the voices and needs of carers
in developing local responses to the ageing population
• Council promotes various respite services and
facilities via its website and other materials
• Council supports carers through a Carers Week
lunch in October attended by over 100 carers

• Council refurbished the Barry Road Social Support
Facility to provide enhanced respite for older
residents and their carers
• Council upgraded the Galada Social Support Facility
to provide additional premises for other local
providers of respite care
• Council resolved to realign a number of its existing
services for older residents to reduce the social
isolation of older residents and their carers.

Contracts
During the year, Council did not enter into any contracts for
goods and services valued at $150,000 or more and contracts
for building and construction works valued at $200,000 or
more without first engaging in a competitive process.

Disability Action Plan
Council recognises and values the diversity of our local
community. Our aim is for Council and other community
activities to be inclusive.
Section 38 of the Victorian Disability Act 2006 makes
it mandatory for all public sector bodies to develop a
Disability Action Plan to:
• Reduce barriers to persons with a disability
accessing goods, services and facilities
• Reduce barriers to persons with a disability
obtaining and maintaining employment
• Promote inclusion and participation in the
community of persons with a disability
• Achieve tangible changes in attitudes and practices
which discriminate against persons with a disability.
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Council adopted the City of Whittlesea Disability Action
Plan 2017 – 2021 following extensive consultation with
stakeholders. The Plan identifies action areas for Council
in the following areas:
• inclusive communities
• good health, housing and wellbeing for people
with disabilities
• respect, equity and safety
• contributory lives.
During 2017-2018, major achievements included:
• continued work as outlined in recommendations from
the accessibility audits on Whittlesea Showgrounds
public toilets and the Whittlesea Swim Centre
• over 20 bus stops were made compliant with the
relevant Australian standard and over 15 disabled
persons parking bays created or made compliant
at schools, childcare centres and reserves
throughout the municipality
• continue to support council, community and
services providers to roll out the NDIS
• advocacy regarding public transport accessability
• resourcing of the Whittlesea Disability Network
and its working groups including the employment
and hospital issues groups
• ongoing production of ‘Our News’ newsletter,
distributed to over 700 community members monthly
• facilitate the Accessible and Affordable Housing
forum to encourage the private sector and other
organisations to deliver quality, accessible and
adaptive housing
• implement the North East Disability Service
providers expo which had over 50 services
providers and 500 people attend
• purchase two assisted hearing devices to support
residents to be involved in Council meetings and
community events
• secure State Government funding towards the
development of the All Abilities Play Space
• Secure funding in partnership with Nillumbik and
Banyule Councils to fund the construction of a
portable changing facility for use at community
events by residents with high support needs.
Council has been an active advocate of the rights
of people with disabilities in our community and is
committed to achieving a truly equitable community.

GOVERNANCE
Domestic Animal Management Plan

Freedom of Information

The 2017-2021 Domestic Animal Management Plan was
adopted by Council on 10 October 2017.

The Freedom of Information Act embodies the
following principles:

In accordance with the section 68A of the Domestic
Animals Act, the Plan sets out the arrangements Council
has in place to manage domestic animals.
The Plan provides for a broad range of activities to
ensure Council meets its legislative responsibilities and
ensuring the needs of the wider community are reflected
through Council’s domestic animal management policies,
procedures and practices.
Council’s animal management services include:
• advice to the community and promoting
responsible pet ownership
• investigation of nuisance animal complaints and
dog attacks
• maintaining a domestic animal register and
undertaking registration checks
• impounding wandering animals, unwanted animals
or animals without owners
• reuniting missing pets with their owners and
providing a pet ‘adoption’ service
• administration, inspections and control of
dangerous and restricted dog breeds
• an after-hours emergency service
• registration and inspection of domestic
animal businesses
• administration and inspection of properties
housing multiple animals
• ensuring that animal management officers
maintain up-to-date skills and knowledge.
Each of these services contributes to ensuring that pets
and people can live together safely and harmoniously in
the City of Whittlesea.
Council also recognises that companion animals are an
integral part of many people’s lives and is actively seeking
new and innovative ways to support owners and to
encourage and promote the health and social benefits of
responsible pet ownership.

Food Act Ministerial Directions
In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984,
Council is required to publish a summary of any
ministerial directions received during the financial year in
its annual report.
No ministerial directions were received by Council during
the 2017-18 financial year.
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• members of the public have a legally enforceable
right of access to government information
• government departments and agencies are
required to publish information concerning the
documents they hold
• people may ask for inaccurate, incomplete, out of
date or misleading information contained in their
personal records to be changed
• people may appeal against a decision by a
government body denying access to information
or not amending personal records.
Procedure for making a Freedom of Information request
Freedom of Information Act requests must be made
in writing and provide sufficient information to enable
the requested documents to be identified. The
application must be accompanied by an application fee
which is indexed annually and which may be waived on
hardship grounds.
Upon receipt of a request, Council must make a decision
within 30 days. Where a decision is made to refuse or
defer access, the applicant is notified in writing of the
reasons for the refusal and the process available to
appeal the decision.
All applications for access to information under the
Freedom of Information Act should be addressed to
Freedom of Information Officer, City of Whittlesea,
Locked Bag 1, Bundoora, MDC, 3083.

A decision by Council on a Freedom of Information
request can be referred to the Office of the Freedom of
Information (FOI) Commissioner for review.
The FOI Commissioner is responsible for:
• conducting reviews of decisions made by councils
• handling complaints about councils
• providing advice, education and guidance to
councils on the FOI Act
• monitoring compliance by councils with prescribed
professional standards
• providing advice, education and guidance to the
public on the role of the FOI Commissioner.
An applicant has 28 days from Council’s decision to request
a review by the FOI Commissioner. The Commissioner
has 30 days to decide whether to accept or dismiss the
request. If it is dismissed, the applicant can apply for a
review by the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal.
If the Commissioner accepts the review, it will be referred
back to Council and Council has 30 days to conciliate with
the applicant or make a fresh decision. The review will
be dismissed if the applicant agrees to the fresh decision
otherwise the Commissioner has an additional 30 days
to make a decision. If no fresh decision is made the
Commissioner has 14 days to make a decision.
The FOI Commissioner can deal with complaints regarding
action taken or failed to be taken in the performance of
Council’s functions and obligations under the Freedom of
Information Act 1982. Complaints must be made within 60
days after the action took place or the conduct occurred.

The following table summarises Freedom of Information applications received by Council over the past four years:
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

2014/2015

2015/2016

2016/2017

2017/2018

15

21

26

31

Access granted in full

4

7

8

11

Access granted in part

5

3

7

8

Other: e.g. withdrawn or lapsed

3

3

3

11

Access denied in full

0

0

2

1

Number of internal reviews sought

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Number of external reviews sought

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Number of appeals lodged with the Victorian Civil & Administrative
Appeals Tribunal

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

$1,840

$1,220

$1,433

$2,262.42

Total number of requests

Total fees and charges collected
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Council fully supports these principles and makes a wide range of information available to the public without the need
to make a formal Freedom of Information request. For example, many of Council’s documents are available on Council’s
website and the following documents can be inspected or purchased at the Council Offices.

Documents available for inspection
DESCRIPTION

AVAILABILTY / COST

DESCRIPTION

Various information brochures on Council Services are available

At no charge

COMMUNITY BUILDING AND PLANNING

BUILDING SERVICES
Copies of building plans (Application by property owner only) –
Domestic
Commercial

$103.00
$188.00+ $8 per sheet copy

Building permit details, notices and orders, property information relating to regulations 802 & 803

$46.10 (statutory fee)

CITY DESIGN & TRANSPORT

AVAILABILTY / COST

City of Whittlesea – Social and Affordable Housing Strategy

Available on website

Gender Equity Strategy

Available on website

Municipal Lifelong Learning Strategy & Action Plan

Available on website

Human Services Needs Analysis

Electronic copies available

City of Whittlesea Annual Household Survey Main Report

Available on website

City of Whittlesea – Development Guidelines

Available on website

Place Profiles Report

Available on website

Standard Civil Works Specifications

Available on website

Place Snapshots: a guide to development in your area

Available on website

Standard Drawings

Available on website

Community Building Strategy

Electronic copies available

City of Whittlesea – Road Management Plan

Available on website

Community Plan

Available on website

Register of Public Roads

Available on website

CORPORATE SERVICES

Council Standard Drawings for Road Works

Available on website

Council Annual Budget and Operating Statement

Available on website

Council Standard Road and Drainage Specifications

Available on website

Statement of Financial Position and Notes to the Financial Statements

Whittlesea Integrated Transport Strategy

Available on website

Available on website as part
of Annual Report

Strategic Resource Plan

Available on website

Rating Strategy

Available on website

‘Shaping Our Future’ Council Plan’ 2017-2021

Available on website

COMMUNITY SERVICES
City of Whittlesea – Disability Action Plan 2017-2021

Available on website

City of Whittlesea – Multicultural Action Plan 2014-2018

Available on website

City of Whittlesea Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan 2017 – 2021

Available on website

Register of Premises registered under the Public Health and Wellbeing Act

Available for inspection

Whittlesea Planning Scheme
(and amendments prepared from time to time)

Electronic copies available

Stretch Reconciliation Action Plan 2017 – 2020

Available on website

Advertised planning applications

Recreation Strategy 2012-2017

Available on website

Free to view and only available
prior to a decision being made

Cultural Collection Strategy 2008-2012

No charge

Festivals and Events Plan 2014-2017

No charge

Building Respect: Whittlesea’s Anti-Racism Strategy

Available on website

Arts Development Strategy

No charge

Festivals and Events Plan 2014-17

Available on website

Connect: A Municipal Plan for Children, Young People and their Families in the
City of Whittlesea 2013 to 2018

Available on website

Family Violence Strategy 2014-2018

Available on website

City of Whittlesea Business Newsletter

Available on website

Youth Plan 2030

Available on website

City of Whittlesea Economic Development Strategy

Available on website

Positive Ageing Strategy 2016-2025

Available on website

City of Whittlesea Tourism Strategy 2014-2019

Available on website
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DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT

Copies of plans available for $11
Copies of documentation
available for $21
Planning Register

Free to view
Copies at $31 per month

Copies of planning permits and/or endorse plans

Hard copy $92 each
Soft copy $52 each

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

City of Whittlesea ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 | 79

GOVERNANCE

DESCRIPTION

GOVERNANCE

AVAILABILTY / COST

GOVERNANCE
City of Whittlesea Community Directory

Available on website

City of Whittlesea Annual Report

Available on website

Freedom of Information Explanatory Notes and Application Procedure

Available on website

Manual of Council Policies

Available for Inspection

Register of Dog and Cat Ownership

Available for Inspection

Procedural Matters Local Law

Available on website or $10
for a printed copy

Municipal Fire Management Plan 2016-2019

Available on website

PARKS & OPEN SPACE
City of Whittlesea Open Space Strategy

Electronic copies available

Whittlesea Township Streetscape Masterplan

Available on website

RESILIENCE AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
Municipal Emergency Management Plan

Available for inspection

STRATEGIC PLANNING & DESIGN
Local Structure Plans/Precinct Structure Plans

Electronic copies available

Endorsed Development Plans

Electronic copies available

SUSTAINABILITY PLANNING
Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2012-2022

Available on website

Various Information Brochures are available

No charge

Protected Disclosures
Council is committed to the aims and objectives of the
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 and does not tolerate
improper conduct by its employees, officers or members,
or reprisals against those who come forward to disclose
such conduct.
Council recognises the value of transparency and
accountability in our administrative and management
practices, and supports the making of disclosures
that reveal:
• corrupt conduct
• 'specified conduct' constituting a criminal offence
or constituting reasonable grounds for dismissing
the Councillor or officer engaged in that conduct.
'Specified conduct' is conduct:
• of any person that adversely affects the honest
performance by a public officer or public body of
their functions
• of a public officer or public body that constitutes or
involves the dishonest performance of their functions
• of a public officer or public body that constitutes
or involves knowingly or recklessly breaching
public trust
• of a public officer or public body that involves
the misuse of information or material acquired in
the course of the performance of their functions
whether or not for the benefit of the public officer
or public body or any other person
• that would constitute a conspiracy or an attempt
to engage in any conduct referred to above
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• of a public officer or public body in their capacity
as public officer or public body that involves
substantial mismanagement of public resources
• involves substantial risk to public health and safety
or to the environment.
Council will take all reasonable steps to protect people
who make such disclosures from any detrimental reprisal
action for making the disclosure and will afford natural
justice to the person who is the subject of the disclosure.
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 outlines the process
for reporting disclosures of improper conduct and the
protection provided to persons who make disclosures,
(refer to Appendix 1). To make a disclosure or report
detrimental action, call Council’s Protected Disclosure
Coordinator on 9217 2207.
During the 2017-18 year no disclosures were notified to
Council officers appointed to receive disclosures, or to the
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission.

Road Management Act
Ministerial Directions
In accordance with Section 22 of the Road Management
Act 2004, Council must publish a copy or summary of any
ministerial direction in its annual report.
No ministerial directions were received by Council for the
2017-18 financial year.
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Other non-statutory inclusions

Table 2: DCP land, works, services or facilities accepted as works in-kind (2017-18)
DCP NAME AND YEAR APPROVED

Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014
Council continues to be committed to the responsible
collection and handling of personal information in accordance
with the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014.
Council’s Information Privacy Policy clearly expresses
its approach to the management of personal and
health information.

PROJECT ID

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

ITEM PURPOSE

PROJECT VALUE ($)

DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)

RD-1 (part)

Construction of English Street
(2 lane carriageway) between
Donnybrook Road and Ashbourne
Boulevard (interim treatment)

Road projects

$301,210

DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)

IN-3 (part)

Construction of part English
Street and Ashbourne Boulevard
signalised 4-way intersection
(interim treatment)

Intersection
projects

$988,437

DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)

RD-1

Purchase of land to upgrade
English Street road reserve from
20m to 34m wide (ultimate
treatment) – LAND

Road projects

$292,889

DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)

IN-1 (part)

Purchase of land for English Street
and Donnybrook Road intersection
(ultimate treatment) – LAND

Intersection
projects

$931,124

DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)

IN-2 (part)

Purchase of land for English
Street and Norman Road
intersection (ultimate treatment)
– LAND

Intersection
projects

$227,370

DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)

IN-3 (part)

Purchase of land for
English Street and Ashbourne
Boulevard intersection (ultimate
treatment) – LAND

Intersection
projects

$844,021

DCPO10 – Epping North East Local
Structure Plan DCP (2008)

CO01

Community Activity Centre (CAC)
to the west of Epping Road – LAND

Community
& indoor
recreation
facilities

$302,288

DCPO10 – Epping North East Local
Structure Plan DCP (2008)

OS01 (part)

Land for two Soccer Fields and
Pavilion – LAND

Unencumbered
active open
space

$448,083

WORKS

Council takes all reasonable precautions to ensure that
the personal information collected, used and disclosed
is accurate, complete and up-to-date and that personal
information is protected from misuse or loss and from
unauthorised access, modification or disclosure.
Council’s policy and other documents relating to information
privacy are available on Council’s website.

LAND

Infrastructure and developer contributions
Under sections 46GZI and 46QD of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 (the Act) introduced in 2016, Council, as the
development or infrastructure contributions collecting agency (or development agency) must report to the Minister for
Planning on the receipt and expenditure of infrastructure levies under the Infrastructure Contributions Plan (ICP) and
Development Contributions Plan (DCP) systems.

Ministerial reporting requirements for Development Contributions Plans
Requirements apply to the preparation of a report by a collecting agency or development agency under section 46QD of
the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

Table 1: Total DCP levies received in 2017-18
DCP NAME AND YEAR APPROVED
DCPO1 – Epping North Strategic Plan DCP (2002)
DCPO2 – Harvest Home Local Structure Plan DCP (2002)
DCPO5 – 9 – Mernda Strategy Plan DCP (2004)

LEVIES RECEIVED IN 2017-18 ($)
$890.75
$234,137.42
$5,455,792.34

DCPO3 – Drainage Levy (2006)

$282,285.40

DCPO4 – Cooper Street Employment Area DCP (2007)

$779,231.66

DCPO10 – Epping North East Local Structure Plan DCP (2008)
DCPO11 – Lockerbie DCP (2012)
DCPO12 – Lockerbie North DCP (2012)
DCPO14 – Epping Central DCP (2015)
DCPO13 – Quarry Hills DCP (2016)
DCPO15 – English Street DCP (2016)
DCPO16 – Wollert DCP (2017)
TOTAL
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$6,175,294.05
$833,963.58
$0.00

Table 3: Total DCP contributions received and expended to-date
(for DCPs approved after 1 June 2016)
DCP NAME AND YEAR APPROVED

TOTAL LEVIES
RECEIVED ($)

TOTAL LEVIES
EXPENDED ($)

TOTAL WORKS-INKIND ACCEPTED

DCPO13 – Quarry Hills DCP (2016)

$0

$0

$0

$0

DCPO16 – Wollert DCP (2017)

$0

$0

$0

$0

$190,188.01
$0.00
$2,758.20

TOTAL DCP CONTRIBUTIONS
RECEIVED (LEVIES AND
WORKS-IN-KIND) ($)

$0.00
$13,954,541.41
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OTHER
CONTRIBUTIONS
($)

$292,889

$0

$0

$292,889

100%

14%

Purchase of land for
English Street and
Donnybrook Road
intersection (ultimate
treatment) – LAND

IN-1
(part)

DCPO15 – English
Street DCP (2016)

$0

$931,124

$0

$0

$931,124

92%

$5,540,000

100%

IN-2
(part)

DCPO15 – English
Street DCP (2016)

$0

$227,370

$0

$0

$227,370

23%

$301,210

50%

Purchase of land
for English Street
and Norman Road
intersection (ultimate
treatment) – LAND
Purchase of land for
English Street and
Ashbourne Boulevard
intersection (ultimate
treatment) – LAND

IN-3
(part)

DCPO15 – English
Street DCP (2016)

$0

$844,021

$0

$0

$844,021

98%

Community Activity
Centre (CAC) to the
west of Epping Road
– LAND

CO01

DCPO10 – Epping
North East Local
Structure Plan DCP
(2008)

$0

$302,288

$0

$0

$302,288

100%

Land for two soccer
fields and pavilion

OS01
(part)

DCPO10 – Epping
North East Local
Structure Plan DCP
(2008)

$0

$448,083

$0

$0

$448,083

13%

Acquisition of land
for railway station
within Mernda Strategy
Plan area

PT01
(part)

DCPO5 – 9 –
Mernda Strategy
Plan DCP (2004)

$0

$0

$1,287,359

47%

DCP FUND
EXPENDED ($)

% OF ITEM
DELIVERED

COUNCIL'S
CONTRIBUTION
($)

TOTAL PROJECT
EXPENDITURE ($)

DCP NAME
AND YEAR
APPROVED

$0

WORKS-INKIND ACCEPTED
($)

PROJECT ID

DCPO15 – English
Street DCP (2016)

PROJECT
DESCRIPTION

RD-1

% OF ITEM
DELIVERED

Purchase of land to
upgrade English Street
road reserve from 20m
to 34m wide (ultimate
treatment) – LAND

TOTAL PROJECT
EXPENDITURE ($)

OTHER
CONTRIBUTIONS
($)

COUNCIL'S
CONTRIBUTION
($)

DCP FUND
EXPENDED ($)

WORKS-INKIND ACCEPTED
($)

Land, works, services or facilities delivered in 2017-18 from DCP levies collected

DCP NAME
AND YEAR
APPROVED

Table 4: Land, works, services or facilities delivered in 2017-18 from DCP levies collected

PROJECT ID

GOVERNANCE

PROJECT
DESCRIPTION

GOVERNANCE

LAND

WORKS
Construction of off-road
pedestrian and cycle
trails throughout the
open space network in
Precinct 2A.

PC01
(part)

DCPO5 – 9 –
Mernda Strategy
Plan DCP (2004)

$0

$0

Construction of off-road
pedestrian and cycle
trails throughout the
open space network in
Precinct 4.

PC04
(part)

DCPO5 – 9 –
Mernda Strategy
Plan DCP (2004)

$0

TEI01 Signalised
intersection Childs
Road and Dalton Road

DIRD02

DCPO14 – Epping
Central DCP (2015)

Construction of
English Street (2 lane
carriageway) between
Donnybrook Road and
Ashbourne Boulevard
(interim treatment)

RD-1
(part)

Construction of part
English Street and
Ashbourne Boulevard
signalised 4-way
intersection (interim
treatment)

$3,767

$0

$3,767

1%

$54,610

$0

$0

$54,610

$0

$0

$0

$5,540,000

DCPO15 – English
Street DCP (2016)

$0

$301,210

$0

$0

IN-3
(part)

DCPO15 – English
Street DCP (2016)

$0

$988,437

$0

$0

Regional bike path
construction

PC01
(part)

DCPO10 – Epping
North East Local
Structure Plan DCP
(2008)

$0

$29,323

$0

$0

Drainage improvement
works – various
locations in DCP03 area

N/A

$36,724

$0

$0

$0

$36,724

N/A

Queenscliff Road and
Michigan Terrace
Thomastown drainage
upgrade

N/A

$1,012,235

$0

$0

$0

$1,012,235

N/A

DCPO 3 – Drainage
Levy (2006)
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$988,437

55%

30%

$1,287,359
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Ministerial reporting requirements for Infrastructure Contribution Plans

Local Government Improvement Incentive Program

Requirements apply to the preparation of a report by a collecting agency or development agency under section 46GZI of the
Planning and Environment Act 1987.

Table 1 – Total ICP monetary component received in 2017-18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

MONETARY COMPONENT
IN LEVIES RECEIVED IN
2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR ($)

VALUE OF WORKS IN KIND
RECEIVED IN SATISFACTION OF
MONETARY COMPONENT IN
2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR ($)

TOTAL MONETARY
CONTRIBUTION
RECEIVED IN 2017/18
FINANCIAL YEAR ($)

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/
Woodstock ICP

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

TOTAL

Table 2 – Inner public purpose land received in 2017-18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

LAND (OR PROJECT ID)

LAND (OR PROJECT DESCRIPTION)

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

none

none

National Competition Policy Compliance: 2017-2018
Certification by Chief Executive Officer
City of Whittlesea Council has complied with the requirements of the National Competition Policy for the period 1 July
2017 to 30 June 2018, in accordance with the requirements of the National Competition Policy and Local Government –
A Revised Statement of Victorian Government Policy December 2008; as set out below:
A. Trade Practices Compliance
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant.
If non-compliant, justify or cite actions to redress.

Compliant

B. Local Laws Compliance
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant.
List any local laws made or remade during 2017-18 which
impose a restriction on competition.

Compliant

Table 3 – Total land equalisation amount (LEA) received and land credit amount (LCA) paid in 2017-18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

TOTAL OF ANY LEAs RECEIVED IN
2017-18 FINANCIAL YEAR ($)

TOTAL OF ANY LCAs PAID IN
2017-18 FINANCIAL YEAR ($)

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

$0

$0

Table 4 – ICP works, services or facilities accepted as works in-kind in 2017-18

No changes were made to the City of Whittlesea
General Municipal Law (No. 1 of 2014).
No changes were made to the Procedural Matters
Local Law (No.1 of 2012).

C. Competitive Neutrality Compliance

Compliant

I certify that:

COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

PROJECT ID

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

ITEM PURPOSE

PROJECT VALUE ($)

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

none

none

n/a

$0

a) this statement has been prepared in accordance with the 2011-2012 National Competition Policy reporting
guidelines, which is pursuant to the 2008 Statement; and
b) this statement presents fairly the Council’s implementation of the National Competition Policy.

Table 5 – Total ICP monetary contributions expended by development agency in 2017-18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

PROJECT ID

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

ICP MONEY
EXPENDED ($)

% OF PROJECT
DELIVERED

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

none

none

$0

0%

Signed:

Table 6 – Use and development of inner public purpose land or outer public purpose land which has vested in, been
acquired by or been transferred to, the development agency in 2017-18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

PROJECT ID

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

USE AND DEVELOPMENT OF LAND

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

none

none

n/a

Simon Overland
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 30 June 2018

Table 7 – Use of works, services or facilities accepted as works in-kind in 2017-18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

PROJECT ID

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

USE OF LAND

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

none

none

n/a

Table 8 – Expenditure of ICP land equalisation amounts in 2017/18
COLLECTING AGENCY

NAME OF ICP

PROJECT ID

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

LAND EQUALISATION AMOUNTS
EXPENDED ($)

City of Whittlesea

Donnybrook/Woodstock ICP

none

none

$0
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT
Sustainable Capacity Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Performance Statement

RESULTS

For the year ended 30 June 2018

INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS

Population

Expenses per head of municipal population
[Total expenses / Municipal population]

Description of municipality
The City of Whittlesea is located in Melbourne’s northern
suburbs, about 20 kilometres from the city centre. It is
one of Melbourne’s largest municipalities, covering a land
area of approximately 490 square kilometres.
The majority of the City of Whittlesea population live in
urban areas. This is split across the major established
suburbs of Bundoora, Epping, Lalor, Mill Park and
Thomastown, the current growth area precincts
of Mernda, Doreen, South Morang, Epping North
and Wollert, and the rural areas of Donnybrook and
Whittlesea Township and surrounds. Significant future
growth is projected for Wollert and Donnybrook.

The rural areas of the municipality are characterised
by farming, forested areas and historic township
communities including Whittlesea Township.
The Wurundjeri Willum people were the original
inhabitants of the area and are the traditional owners
of this land. Compared with other municipalities, the
City of Whittlesea has the fourth largest population of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders (ATSI) by person
count in Metropolitan Melbourne, with 1,639 ATSI
residents, whose median age is 21 years.

Infrastructure per head of municipal population
[Value of infrastructure / Municipal population]
Population density per length of road
[Municipal population / Kilometres of local roads]

$919

$922

$901

$894

It is considered that the decrease in
cost this year is not significant.

$9,552

$9,464

$9,610

$9,598

It is considered that the decrease in
cost this year is not significant.

152

153

159

176

The City of Whittlesea is Victoria’s
third fastest growing municipality. As
more land becomes subdivided and
infill housing continues to increase,
this indicator will continue to rise.

$806

$745

$855

$828

This year we had no newly identified
assets which has decreased this ratio.

$182

$109

$177

$182

We have a slight increase in grants
per head this year, we do not
consider this to be significant.

6

5

5

5

Own-source revenue

Own-source revenue per head of municipal
population
[Own-source revenue / Municipal population]
Recurrent grants

Recurrent grants per head of municipal population
[Recurrent grants / Municipal population]
Disadvantage

Relative socio-economic disadvantage
[Index of Relative Socio-economic Disadvantage
by decile]

This ratio remains the same as last year.

Definitions
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004
"population" means the resident population estimated by council
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants)
"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile
for the relevant financial year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage
(Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA
"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
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Sustainable Performance Indicators

Sustainable Performance Indicators

For the year ended 30 June 2018

For the year ended 30 June 2018

RESULTS
SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

RESULTS

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS

6.41

5.98

5.22

4.18

This year 2016/17 saw an increase
of $2 each fortnight for our “Learn
to Swim” program. This extra cost
may have discouraged community
members from using our facilities.

Animal management
Health and safety
Animal management prosecutions
[Number of successful animal management
prosecutions]

5.00

2.00

1.00

7.00

85.00%

99.24%

100.00%

100.00%

This year we successfully prosecuted
seven dog attack cases at the
Magistrates Court.

Food safety
Health and safety
Critical and major non-compliance notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance notifications
and major non-compliance notifications about
food premises followed up / Number of critical noncompliance notifications and major non-compliance
notifications about food premises] x100

This year we completed 100% of
follow up inspections required from
all notifications that had received
a critical or major non-compliance
determination.

Governance
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with Council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with
how Council has performed in making decisions
in the interest of the community]
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2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL VARIATIONS

Participation
Participation in the MCH service
[Number of children who attend the MCH service
at least once (in the year) / Number of children
enrolled in the MCH service] x100

79.00%

78.44%

78.23%

76.96%

We do not believe that this decrease is
of a material nature.

Participation
Participation in the MCH service by
Aboriginal children
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the
MCH service at least once (in the year) / Number
of Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH
service] x100

72.00%

70.95%

65.37%

71.63%

This year we have assisted Aboriginal
families to feel comfortable in
participating and choosing the
Maternal Child Health service to suit
their children.

65

64

62

62

62.00%

55.56%

38.89%

55.00%

VCAT affirmed 11 out of 20 of our
decisions. We also had a number
of consent orders reached and one
overturned.

43.00%

39.86%

41.80%

39.51%

Our diversion rates have remained
similar over recent years. Our green
waste tonnages are less than we
predicted, due to low rain falls. Our
recycling tonnages have increased
slightly.

Roads
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed local roads
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with
how Council has performed on the condition of
sealed local roads]

We remain at the same level as last year.

Statutory Planning
64

58

60

56

This decrease in satisfaction may be
due to a number of issues, such as
difficulties with our waste collection
services when we changed contractors.
We are actively working to improve
communication of Council’s decisions.

Libraries
Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library members / Municipal
population] x100

2015

Maternal and child health

Aquatic facilities

Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities /
Municipal population]

SERVICE/INDICATOR/MEASURE

Decision making
Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set
aside Council’s decision in relation to a planning
application / Number of VCAT decisions in
relation to planning applications] x100
Waste Collection

16.00%

13.83%

14.89%

12.81%

The drop in active library members
relates to changing usage patterns with
some digital platforms not providing
enough data at this time to include
people who are not identified as
‘active’ because they have moved
to digital content only. Yarra Plenty
Regional Library has been reviewing the
way this data is collated to better align
it with the guidelines.

Waste diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green organics
collected from kerbside bins / Weight of garbage,
recyclables and green organics collected from
kerbside bins] x100
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

Definitions
"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT
Financial Performance Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2018

"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006
"active library member" means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library
"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose national language is
not English
“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food
premises under section 19C of that Act
“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984 , that have been declared as class 2 food
premises under section 19C of that Act
"Community Care Common Standards "means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, published
from time to time by the Commonwealth
"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act
1984 , or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to
public health
"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984
"HACC program" means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the
Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth
"HACC service" means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004
"major non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act
1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat
to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken

RESULTS
DIMENSION/
INDICATOR/MEASURE

FORECASTS

2015

2016

2017

2018

2015

2016

2017

2018

Revenue level
Average residential rate
per residential property
assessment
[Residential rate revenue
/ Number of residential
property assessments]

$1,378.00

$1,382.74

$1,448.57

$1,488.14

$1,572.64

$1,605.68

$1,640.98

$1,694.30

Our rates
remain stable.

Expenditure level
Expenses per property
assessment
[Total expenses / Number
of property assessments]

$2,337.00

$2,280.49

$2,277.41

$2,304.57

$2,344.20

$2,241.43

$2,219.42

$2,206.29

Our expenses per
assessment have
remained stable.

Workforce turnover
Resignations and
terminations compared to
average staff
[Number of permanent
staff resignations and
terminations / Average
number of permanent
staff for the financial
year] x100

7.58%

7.21%

9.36%

16.03%

8.30%

8.30%

8.20%

8.20%

This year saw
a number of
services change
due to external
legislative
reforms and
new contractual
arrangements.
Whittlesea has
traditionally had
low levels of staff
turn over, the
industry average
is 12%.

Working capital
Current assets compared
to current liabilities
[Current assets / Current
liabilities] x100

303.33%

316.33%

378.51%

364.32%

347.95%

309.53%

317.92%

247.99%

Our liquidity
remains stable.

Unrestricted cash
Unrestricted cash
compared to current
liabilities
[Unrestricted cash /
Current liabilities] x100

137.35%

131.28%

125.02%

103.30%

*217.77%

*157.75%

*171.34%

*108.12%

This year there
was a high
proportion of
carried forward
capital works
funding due to
a number of
factors outside
of our control.

Efficiency

"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and development of children within
the municipality from birth until school age
"population" means the resident population estimated by council
"target population" has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home and Community Care Act
1985 of the Commonwealth
"WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident" means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be
notified to the Victorian WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004.

MATERIAL
VARIATIONS

Liquidity

*The forecast
numbers
have been
recalculated in
line with LGPRF
calculation
methods.
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

Financial Performance Indicators

Financial Performance Indicators

For the year ended 30 June 2018

For the year ended 30 June 2018

RESULTS
DIMENSION/
INDICATOR/MEASURE

2015

2016

FORECASTS

2017

2018

2015

2016

RESULTS

2017

2018

MATERIAL
VARIATIONS

Obligations

2015

2016

Rates concentration
Rates compared to
adjusted underlying
revenue
[Rate revenue / Adjusted
underlying revenue] x100

65.14%

77.26%

Rates effort
Rates compared to
property values
[Rate revenue / Capital
improved value of
rateable properties in the
municipality] x100

0.34%

0.35%

2017

2018

2015

2016

2017

2018

MATERIAL
VARIATIONS

63.97%

65.22%

70.96%

71.87%

72.57%

73.23%

This ratio
remains stable.

0.34%

0.34%

0.27%

0.27%

0.27%

0.27%

This ratio
remains stable.

Stability

Asset renewal
Asset renewal compared
to depreciation
[Asset renewal expenses /
Asset depreciation] x100

12.06%

24.49%

25.17%

36.49%

43.67%

36.70%

62.54%

62.70%

We have
increased our
expenditure on
renewal of our
assets this year.

Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings
compared to rates
[Interest bearing loans
and borrowings / Rate
revenue] x100

27.08%

23.31%

20.54%

11.32%

25.12%

28.24%

33.79%

50.66%

We repaid a loan
this year which
has decreased
this ratio.

Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings
repayments compared
to rates
[Interest and principal
repayments on interest
bearing loans and
borrowings / Rate
revenue] x100

3.51%

Indebtedness
Non-current liabilities
compared to own
source revenue
[Non-current liabilities
/ Own source revenue]
x100

22.07%

3.23%

3.17%

9.36%

3.09%

5.50%

4.42%

4.93%

We repaid a loan
this year which
has increased
this ratio.

Definitions
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:
20.98%

16.15%

9.44%

20.72%

26.11%

31.46%

45.98%

We repaid a loan
this year which
has decreased
this ratio.

(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure
"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability
of the asset to its original capability
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS

Operating position
Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying
surplus (or deficit)
[Adjusted underlying
surplus (deficit)/ Adjusted
underlying revenue] x100

DIMENSION/
INDICATOR/MEASURE

FORECASTS

5.15%

-6.58%

13.72%

12.22%

6.85%

9.80%

10.02%

10.97%

This year we
had no newly
identified assets
which has
decreased
this ratio.

"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets
"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be
received again during the period covered by a council's Strategic Resource Plan
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including
government grants
"population "means the resident population estimated by council
“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges
"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant
"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential
properties
"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a
purpose for which it is restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT
Certification of the Performance Statement

Other Information

For the year ended 30 June 2018

1. Basis of preparation
Council is required to prepare and include a performance
statement within its annual report. The performance
statement includes the results of the prescribed
sustainable capacity, service performance and financial
performance indicators and measures together with a
description of the municipal district and an explanation
of material variations in the results. This statement has
been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local
Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning
and Reporting) Regulations 2014.
Where applicable the results in the performance
statement have been prepared on accounting bases
consistent with those reported in the Financial
Statements. The other results are based on information
drawn from council information systems or from third
parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics).
The performance statement presents the actual results
for the current year and for the prescribed financial
performance indicators and measures, the results
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forecast by the Council’s strategic resource plan. The
Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations
2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the
results contained in the performance statement. Council
has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each
indicator and measure and explanations have not been
provided for variations below the materiality thresholds
unless the variance is considered to be material because
of its nature.
The forecast figures included in the performance
statement are those adopted by Council in its strategic
resource plan on 06 June 2018 and which forms part of
the Council plan. The strategic resource plan includes
estimates based on key assumptions about the future
that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed
at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed
information on the actual financial results is contained in
the General Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic
resource plan can be obtained by contacting Council.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Councillors of City of Whittlesea
Opinion

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this performance
statement.

I have audited the accompanying performance statement of City of Whittlesea
(the council) which comprises the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2018
sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018
service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018
financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018
other information and
the certification of the performance statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

In my opinion, the performance statement of City of Whittlesea in respect of
the year ended 30 June 2018 presents fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the
Local Government Act 1989.
Basis for Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. I further
describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the performance statement section
of my report.

•

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of
the performance statement in Victoria and have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

•

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my opinion.
Councillors'
responsibilities for the
performance
statement

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and for such internal control
as the Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair
presentation of the statement of performance that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s
responsibilities for the
audit of the
performance
statement

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
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identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of performance
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the council’s internal control
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
performance statement, including the disclosures, and whether
performance statement represents the underlying events and results in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

MELBOURNE
12 September 2018

Tim Loughnan
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Councillors of City of Whittlesea
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of City of Whittlesea (the council) which comprises the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

balance sheet as at 30 June 2018
comprehensive income statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
statement of cash flows for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
certification of the financial report.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the council as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.

Councillors’
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

•

•
•

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors
conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
council to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE
12 September 2018
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Tim Loughnan
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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City of Whittlesea
2017/2018 Financial Report

City of Whittlesea
2017/2018 Financial Report

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2018

Comprehensive Income Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
Note

Income
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Grants - operating
Grants - capital
Contributions - monetary
Contributions - non-monetary assets
Net gain (or loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Fair value adjustments for investment property
Share of net profits of associate
Other income
Newly identified assets
Total income
Expenses
Employee costs
Materials and services
Depreciation and amortisation
Bad and doubtful debts
Borrowing costs
Other expenses
Total expenses

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4(a)
2.4(b)
2.5
2.5
2.6
5.3
5.2
2.7

Total Comprehensive result

143,822
11,336
12,956
30,326
12,710
19,757
47,921
327
165
63
10,613
289,996

2017
$'000

Note

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6

4.1(a)

55,288

63,597

Other financial assets

4.1(b)

113,500

79,500

Trade and other receivables

4.1(c)

22,485

19,706

Inventories

4.2(a)

169

210

Other assets
Total current assets

4.2(b)

4,166

3,528

195,608

166,541

2,838

2,775

22
3,398,930

22
3,024,908

2,600

2,435

793

719

3,405,183

3,030,859

3,600,791

3,197,400

23,289

14,409

Other financial assets
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

96,412

106,926

5.2
4.2(c)
5.1(a)

Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

5.3
4.2(d)

Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

4.3(a)

Trust funds and deposits

4.3(b)

10,168

9,072

Provisions

4.4(a)

18,168

18,001

4.5

2,066

2,517

53,691

43,999

4.4(a)

2,720

2,678

4.5

14,212

25,579

16,932

28,257

70,623

72,256

3,530,168

3,125,144

Total current liabilities

405,024

160,012

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment in associate

(84,180)
(57,380)
(25,919)
(1,480)
(1,982)
(14,044)
(184,985)

53,086

$'000

Non-current assets

(85,054)
(62,493)
(27,514)
(793)
(1,637)
(16,093)
(193,584)

308,612

2017

Current assets

Interest-bearing liabilities
8.1(a)

2018

Assets

136,977
10,050
13,029
33,668
14,063
15,361
53,323
194
158
9,314
5,774
291,911

Investment property

Surplus for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods
Net asset revaluation increment / (decrement)

2018
$'000

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Interest-bearing liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

Total liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Accumulated surplus
Reserves

8.1

Total Equity

2,399,763

2,350,574

1,130,405

774,570

3,530,168

3,125,144

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note
2018
Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Net asset revaluation increment / (decrement)
Transfers from other reserves
Transfers to other reserves
Balance at end of the financial year

8.1(a)
8.1(b)
8.1(b)

3,125,144
96,412
308,612
3,530,168

2,350,574
96,412
43,901
(91,124)
2,399,763

Accumulated
Total
Surplus
$'000
$'000

2017
Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Net asset revaluation increment / (decrement)
Transfers from other reserves
Transfers to other reserves
Balance at end of the financial year

Accumulated
Total
Surplus
$'000
$'000

8.1(a)
8.1(b)
8.1(b)

2,965,132
106,926
53,086
3,125,144

2,237,247
106,926
39,091
(32,690)
2,350,574

Asset
Asset
Asset
Revaluation Replacement Development
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
$'000
$'000
$'000
679,882
308,612
988,494

37,194
(39,335)
70,767
68,626

57,494
(4,566)
20,357
73,285

Asset
Asset
Asset
Revaluation Replacement Development
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
$'000
$'000
$'000
626,796
53,086
679,882

47,164
(29,716)
19,746
37,194

53,925
(9,375)
12,944
57,494

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2018
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$'000

2017
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$'000

142,925
10,227
12,022
30,472
12,722
19,828
4,794
11,021
6,015
10,386
(68)
(59,378)
(9,935)
(17,652)
(85,030)
88,349

136,577
9,320
10,956
33,760
14,106
11,569
4,620
9,571
8,899
11,581
115
(65,973)
(9,171)
(21,621)
(83,214)
71,095

(49,898)
695
(34,000)
(83,203)

(64,370)
1,016
55,600
(7,754)

Repayment of borrowings
Finance costs
Net cash used in financing activities

(11,818)
(1,637)
(13,455)

(2,349)
(1,982)
(4,331)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

4.1(a)

(8,309)
63,597
55,288

59,010
4,587
63,597

Financing arrangements
Restrictions on cash assets

4.6
4.1(b)

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Grants - operating
Grants - capital
Contributions - monetary
Interest received
Trust funds and deposits taken
Other receipts
Net GST refund
Net Fire Services Levy
Materials and services
Trust funds and deposits repaid
Other payments
Employee costs
Net cash provided by operating activities

8.2

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Net purchase of investments (maturing later than 90 days)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2017/2018 Financial Report

Statement of Capital Works
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Capital expenditure areas
Property
Land
Buildings
Total Property
Plant and Equipment
Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture
Plant and equipment
Artworks
Total Plant and Equipment
Infrastructure
Roads
Drainage
Playgrounds
Feasibility and planning
Total Infrastructure
Total capital works expenditure
Represented by:
New asset expenditure
Asset renewal expenditure
Asset upgrade expenditure
Asset expansion expenditure
Total capital works expenditure

OVERVIEW
Introduction

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

11,069
12,931
24,000

9,904
26,463
36,367

483
965
17
1,465

795
3,042
14
3,851

16,485
1,063
1,895
303
19,746
45,211

14,979
10,041
18,804
1,387
45,211

The City of Whittlesea was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 15 December 1994 and is a body corporate.
The Council's main office is located at 25 Ferres Boulevard, South Morang, Victoria.
The purpose of the Council is to:
- provide for the peace, order and good government of its municipal district;
- to promote the social, economic and environmental viability and sustainability of the municipal district;
- to ensure that resources are used efficiently and effectively and services are provided in accordance with the Best Value
Principles to best meet the needs of the local community;
- to improve the overall quality of life of people in the local community;
- to promote appropriate business and employment opportunities;
- to ensure that services and facilities provided by the Council are accessible and equitable;
- to ensure the equitable imposition of rates and charges; and
- to ensure transparency and accountability in Council decision making.
The City of Whittlesea has the following key business relationships:
External Auditor - Auditor-General of Victoria
Internal Auditor - PricewaterhouseCoopers (Crowe Horwath appointed 1 July 2018)
Bankers - Westpac Banking Corporation
Website address - www.whittlesea.vic.gov.au
Statement of compliance
These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and notes accompanying these
financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

14,186
753
2,961
257
18,157
58,375

Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of accounting
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity,
income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

28,594
6,510
20,345
2,926
58,375

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on professional judgement derived
from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are
affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AAS's that have significant
effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

- the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1)
- the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1)
- the determination of amortisation on intangible assets (refer to Note 4.2)
- the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 4.4)
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate,
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any material
changes to comparatives.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Performance against budget

a) Income and Expenditure (continued)

This note compares Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance. The Local Government (Planning and
Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances. Council has adopted a materiality threshold with explanations
provided if the variance is greater than 10% and is greater than $1m. Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality
threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

(i) Explanation of material variations
Variance reference
1

Item
Grants - operating

Explanation
Variance due to an increase in the annual Grants Commission allocation
($1.49M). The total amount received in 2017/18 ($15.5M) is made up of 50% of
the 17/18 allocation and 50% of the 2018/19 allocation. Also contributing to the
variance was higher than budgeted grants received for Maternal & Child Health
services ($747K), Early Years ($320K), Immunisation ($411K), Aged & Disability
($355K), School Crossings ($164K), Landcare Facilitator program ($127K).

2

Grants - capital

Funding received for a range of capital projects that was not budgeted include
Mill Park Leisure Centre redevelopment ($3.2M), Main St Reserve ($2.0M),
Waterview Recreation Reserve ($1.8M), All Abilities Playspace ($1.0M),
Glenburnie Road ($781K), and Mill Park Library Refurbishment ($559K). There
were 8 grants with a total value of $5.1M that were budgeted for that were not
received during the year. There was also an amount budgeted for two soccer
pitches in Doreen that was part received during the year.

3

Contributions - monetary

Variance due to higher than budgeted developer contributions which have
increased from $11.2M in 2016/17 to $18.4M in 2017/18.

4

Contributions - non monetary

2017/18 Budget was based on 2015/16 trend where $94.9M was received. The
amount of non-money assets transferred to council from developers has
decreased over the last two financial years.

5

Other income

Variance due to higher than budgeted interest received from investment
($690K), Workcover reimbursements ($495K), reimbursement for capital works
($783K), insurance claims recovered ($113K), court costs and other cost
recoveries ($434K).

6

Depreciation and amortisation

2017/18 Budget had a conservative estimate of depreciation based on 2015/16
amount of $23.5M. Depreciation can vary due to new works and revaluation on
existing assets.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 6 June 2017. The Budget was based on assumptions that were relevant at the
time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for revenue and expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s
planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term. The Budget did not reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset
revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.
a) Income and Expenditure
Ref
Income
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Grants - operating
Grants - capital
Contributions - monetary
Contributions - non-monetary
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property,
infrastructure, plant and equipment
Other income
Share of net profit of associate
Fair value adjustments
for investment property
Total income
Expenses
Employee costs
Materials and services
Bad and doubtful debts
Depreciation and amortisation
Borrowing costs
Other expenses
Total expenses
Surplus for the year

1
2
3
4

5

6

Actual
2018
$'000

Budgeted
2018
$'000

Variance
$'000

%

143,822
11,336
12,956
30,326
12,710
19,757
47,921

142,864
10,762
12,199
26,209
10,351
11,605
96,154

958
574
757
4,117
2,359
8,152
(48,233)

0.7%
5.3%
6.2%
15.7%
22.8%
70.2%
-50.2%

327
10,613
63

164
7,713
-

163
2,900
63

99.4%
37.6%
100.0%

165
289,996

318,021

165
(28,025)

100.0%
-8.8%

85,054
62,493
793
27,514
1,637
16,093
193,584

86,741
62,370
391
24,839
2,113
15,995
192,449

(1,687)
123
402
2,675
(476)
98
1,135

-1.9%
0.2%
102.8%
10.8%
-22.5%
0.6%
0.6%

96,412

125,572

(29,160)

-8.2%
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Performance against budget (cont'd)

Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services
2.1 Rates and charges

1.2 Capital Works
Ref

Property
Land
Buildings
Total Property

1
2

Plant and Equipment
Fixtures, fittings and
furniture
Plant, machinery and equipment
Computers and telecommunications
Artworks
Total Plant and Equipment

3

Infrastructure
Roads
Drainage
Playgrounds
Waste management
Other
Total Infrastructure
Total Capital Works expenditure

4
5
6
7

Represented by:
New asset expenditure
Asset renewal expenditure
Asset expansion expenditure
Asset upgrade expenditure
Total Capital Works expenditure

8

Budgeted
2018
$'000

$'000

%

11,069
12,931
24,000

10,545
10,545

11,069
2,386
13,455

100.0%
22.6%
127.6%

483
965
17
1,465

145
1,541
1,304
2,990

Variance

338
(576)
(1,304)
17
(1,525)

16,485
1,063
1,895
303
19,746
45,211

14,828
143
24,870
250
1,727
41,818
55,353

1,657
920
(22,975)
(250)
(1,424)
(22,072)
(10,142)

11.2%
643.4%
-92.4%
-100.0%
-82.5%
-52.8%
-18.3%

14,979
10,041
18,804
1,387
45,211

25,139
8,998
1,309
19,907
55,353

(10,160)
1,043
17,495
(18,520)
(10,142)

-40.4%
11.6%
1336.5%
-93.0%
-18.3%

2

Buildings

The Civic Centre HVAC project (multi year project) progressed ahead of the planned budget to be
offset against 2018/19 project budget.

3

Computers and
telecommunications

Projects not fully expended against budget include: ICT Infrastructure Asset Program $114k, HRIS
Review $168k, Telephone System BCP and Renewal $100k, Health Systems and Mobile
Application $100k, Replacement of Issue Infringement Software System $220k and Plan Mark up
and Data Capture System $160k.
Roads projects were delivered over budget due to additional unbudgeted income being received.

Roads

5
6
7

Drainage
Playgrounds
Other
Total capital works
expenditure

8

2017
$'000

139,806
777
210
3,029
143,822

132,545
1,155
203
3,074
136,977

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2017/18 year was $2,159m
(2016/17 $2,098m). The 2017/18 rate in the NAV dollar for general rates was
0.06532185 cents in the dollar (2016/17 0.06389510 cents).
The valuation base used to calculate farm rates for 2017/18 year was $19.8m (2017/18
$17.9m). The 2017/18 rate in the NAV dollar for farm rates was 0.05431084 cents in
the dollar (2016/17 0.05431084 cents).
General rates
Farm rates
Special rates (marketing schemes)
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments
Total rates and charges

233.1%
-37.4%
-100.0%
100.0%
-51.0%

Land

4

2018
$'000

Council uses Net Annual Value (NAV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within
the municipal district. The NAV of a property is its imputed rental value.

Actual
2018
$'000

Variance Reference
1

Item

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The date of the prior general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2016, and the valuation was
first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2016.
The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2018, and the valuation will
be first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2018.
Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary rates are recognised
when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice is issued.
2.2 Statutory Fees & Fines
Permit fees
Certificates and regulatory service fees
Total statutory fees and fines

5,915
5,421
11,336

4,909
5,141
10,050

Statutory fees and fines are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has
been applied, whichever first occurs.

Explanation
Realignment of projects to Land that were previously budgeted within the Playgrounds category and
purchase of land that was funded from Reserve.

2.3 User Fees
Fines
Registrations
Leisure centre fees
Property leases and rentals
Tip fees
Other fees and charges
Total user fees

4,495
1,658
1,584
2,559
1,906
754
12,956

4,492
1,606
1,824
2,480
1,857
770
13,029

User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or council has otherwise earned the income.
2.4 Funding from other levels of government
Grants were received in respect of the following:
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants
State funded grants
Other
Total grants received

The Queenscliff Road and Michigan Terrace project incurred additional costs due to rock
encountered on-site that needed to be removed.
Realignment of projects to Land that were previously budgeted within the Playgrounds category.
Realignment of projects to Roads that were previously budgeted within the Other category.

25,188
17,831
17
43,036

28,326
19,285
120
47,731

Realignment of New Assets and Upgrade projects to Renewal and Expansion. Multi year projects
not fully expended against budget that will be expended in 2018/19.
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2.4 Funding from other levels of government (continued)
(a) Operating Grants

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Victoria Grants Commission - Financial Assistance Grant*
Victoria Grants Commission - Road funding

13,356
2,191

17,171
3,055

6
96
76
4,883
74
284
35
60

2
92
134
5,100
27
310
34
-

418
651
50
1,579
127
744
3,422
60
23
156
134

83
228
563
1,594
39
479
2,777
30
3
153
102

658

669

*Federal Government has prepaid 50% of 2018/19 allocation in 2017/18. 50% of 2017/18 allocation prepaid in 2016/17.

Community Services
Family Day Care
Community Care
Vacation Care
Home & Community Care
Senior Citizens
Social Support
Community Wellbeing
Economic Development
Recurrent - State Government
Community Services
Community Care
Early Years
Family Day Care
Community Care
Home & Community Care
Community Development
Community Wellbeing
Maternal & Child health
Resilience & Emergency Management
Senior Citizens
Social Support
Youth Services
Infrastructure & Technology
Infrastructure
Planning and Development
Strategic Planning & Projects
Growth Area Development Assessment
Sustainability Planning
Corporate & Economic Development
Local Laws
Other
Total recurrent operating grants
Non-recurrent - State Government
Maternal & Child Health
Early Years
Engineering & Transportation Service
Community Wellbeing
Senior Citizens
Youth services
Infrastructure
Leisure & Community Inclusion
Community Cultural Development
Economic Development
Sustainability Planning
Other
Non-recurrent - Other
Resilience & Emergency Management
Total non-recurrent operating grants
Total operating grants
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624
58
29,765
98
5
300
20
19
18
2
82
17
561
30,326

30
59
48
447
10
33,239
-

-

1
10
88
80

87
27
103
12
11
10
429
33,668

14

2.4 Funding from other levels of government (continued)
(b) Capital Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery
Roads & Paths
Recurrent - State Government
Roads & Paths
Parks & Gardens
Total recurrent capital grants

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

1,296
1,015

2,178
-

994
90
3,395

849
3,027

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Building Maintenance & Construction
Community Cultural Development
Non-recurrent - State Government
Building Maintenance & Construction
Community Cultural Development
Strategic Planning & Projects
Parks & Gardens
Roads & Paths
Other
Total non-recurrent capital grants
Total capital grants

1,816
-

210
13

7,129
154
216
9,315
12,710

5,862
310
125
3,442
974
100
11,036
14,063

Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner
Balance at start of year
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year
Balance at year end

10,252
9,734
(10,252)
9,734

1,762
10,252
(1,762)
10,252

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. Control is normally obtained upon receipt (or acquittal) or
upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured.
2.5 Contributions
Monetary
Non-monetary
Total contributions

19,757
47,921
67,678

15,361
53,323
68,684

Contributions of monetary assets were received from the following sources:
Sponsorships received
Community Infrastructure Levy
Other contributions & donations
State Government Contributions
Total non-developer contributions
Developer contributions
Total monetary contributions

20
487
649
168
1,324

156
411
3,628
10
4,205

18,433
19,757

11,156
15,361

Contributions of non monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes.
Subdivision infrastructure
Land
Total non monetary contributions
Total contributions

40,479
7,442
47,921
67,678

39,887
13,436
53,323
68,684

Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.
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2.6 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets
Written down value of assets sold
Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

611
(284)
327

938
(744)
194

1,130
4,837
4,624
22
10,613

1,213
4,214
3,812
75
9,314

2.7 Other income
Sales
Interest
Reimbursements
Other
Total other income

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council gains control over
the right to receive the income.

Reimbursements mainly consist of workcover and insurance recovered, and reimbursements of capital works undertaken.
Note 3 The cost of delivering services
3.1 Employee costs
75,813
6,940
2,218
223
(140)
85,054

75,166
6,551
2,121
315
27
84,180

260
260
-

289
289
-

(a) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:
Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)
Employer contributions payable at reporting date
Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)

Employer contributions payable at reporting date

6,680
6,680
6,940
-

3.2 Materials and services
External works (contractors)
Support services
Design work
Facilities management
Supplies & services
Plant and fleet operations
Computer services
Catering services
Communications & PABX
Construction materials
Travel & accommodation
Total materials and services

2018
$'000
39,303
7,384
1
1,536
7,992
1,958
1,791
323
1,153
855
197
62,493

2017
$'000
35,856
7,277
4
1,349
7,176
1,890
1,340
338
1,033
887
230
57,380

3.3 Depreciation and amortisation

Interest is recognised as it is earned.
Sales mainly consist of food and beverage and ticket sales made at the Plenty Ranges Arts and Convention Centre and the Growling Frog
Golf Course.

Wages and salaries
Superannuation
Workcover
Fringe benefits tax
Other
Total employee costs

Notes to the Financial Report
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6,262
6,262
6,551
-

Refer to note 8.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.

Infrastructure
19,517
Property
5,657
Plant and equipment
1,615
Furniture and equipment
639
Total depreciation
27,428
Intangible Assets
86
Total depreciation and amortisation
27,514
Refer to note 4.2(d) and 5.2 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and accounting policy.

18,565
5,209
1,573
514
25,861
58
25,919

3.4 Bad and doubtful debts
Parking infringement
Animal infringement
Local Laws infringement
Litter infringement
Fire infringement
Asset infringement
Planning infringement
Other
Total bad and doubtful debts
Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year
New Provisions recognised during the year
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible
Balance at end of year

386
143
38
8
74
104
30
10
793

702
401
43
16
107
151
41
19
1,480

(1,106)
(447)
544
(1,009)

(967)
(964)
825
(1,106)

Provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred. Bad debts are written off
when identified following regular review.
3.5 Borrowing costs
Interest - Borrowings
Total borrowing costs

1,637
1,637

1,982
1,982

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised as part of a
qualifying asset constructed by Council.
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3.6 Other expenses
Contributions
- Grants to community
- Yarra Plenty Regional Library Contributions
- Other
Utilities
Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance
statement and grant acquittals
Auditors' remuneration - Internal
Other financial costs
Loan repayment fee
Developer contributions paid
Insurance premium
Councillor allowances

(c) Trade and other receivables
2018
$'000
1,666
4,633
5,235

2017
$'000
1,389
4,846
249
4,692

75
149
1,189
1,013
943
758
432
16,093

65
146
1,692
557
408
14,044

Note 4 Our financial position
4.1 Financial assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Term deposit
Total cash and cash equivalents
(b) Other financial assets
Term deposits - current
Total other financial assets
Total financial assets

13
10,275
45,000
55,288

113,500
113,500
168,788

13
23,984
39,600
63,597

79,500
79,500
143,097

2017
$'000

10,765
7,203
(1,009)
2,063

9,706
6,025
(1,106)
(98)
2,067

3,463
22,485

3,112
19,706

Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an
impairment has occurred. Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Other debtors include reimbursements of capital works undertaken.
(a) Ageing of Receivables
The ageing of the Council's trade & other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) that are not impaired was:
Current (not yet due)
944
Past due by up to 30 days
432
Past due between 31 and 180 days
2,087
Total trade & other receivables
3,463

1,441
981
690
3,112

(b) Ageing of individually impaired Receivables
At balance date, debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $1m
(2017: $1.1m) were impaired. The amount of the provision raised against these debtors
was $1m (2017: $1.1m). They are impaired as a result of their doubtful collection.
Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council's debt
collectors or are on payment arrangements.

Past due by more than 1 year
Total trade & other receivables
10,168
73,285
83,453
85,335

9,072
57,494
66,566
76,531

68,626

37,194

Intended allocations
Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific
future purposes by Council:
Asset replacement reserves (note 8.1(b))

Current
Statutory receivables
Rates debtors
Infringement debtors
Provision for doubtful debts - Infringements
Special assessment
Net GST receivable
Non statutory receivables
Other debtors
Total Trade and other receivables

2018
$'000

The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at
reporting date was:

Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit
amounts available for discretionary use. These include:
Trust funds and deposits (note 4.3(b))
Asset development reserves (note 8.1(b))
Total restricted funds
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

City of Whittlesea
2017/2018 Financial Report

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or
less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised gains and
losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.

4.2 Non-financial assets
(a) Inventories
Fuels
Depot workshop items and signs
Stationery and other consumables
Total inventories

1,106
1,106

28
90
51
169

157
34
19
210

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. All other inventories,
including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where inventories are acquired for no cost
or nominal consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.
(b) Other assets
Accrued interest
Other accrued income
Prepayments
Total other assets
(c) Other financial assets
Shares in MAPS Group Ltd
Total other financial assets
Unlisted shares in the MAPS Group Limited are valued at cost. Dividends are
recognised when they accrue.
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1,009
1,009

429
3,374
363
4,166

386
2,861
281
3,528

22
22

22
22
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4.4 Provisions
4.2 Non-financial assets (continued)
(d) Intangible assets
Software
Total Intangible Assets

Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 July 2017
Additions
Balance at 30 June 2018
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 July 2017
Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2018
Net book value at 30 June 2018
Net book value at 30 June 2017

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

793
793

719
719

Software
$'000

Total
$'000

783
160
943

783
160
943

(64)
(86)
(150)

(64)
(86)
(150)

793
719

793
719

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

(a) Trade and other payables

7,597
3,502
1,387
1,923
14,409

14,062
7,529
1,481
217
23,289

(b) Trust funds and deposits
Retention amounts
Refundable Deposits
Other trusts / deposits
Total trust funds and deposits

29
8,701
342
9,072

27
9,994
147
10,168

Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are returned,
transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in Council gaining control
of the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit.
Purpose and nature of items
Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements or a related
warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the elapsing of time, these
amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations.
Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government. Council remits amounts
received on a quarterly basis. Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line with that process.
Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to building
works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.
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$ '000

$ '000

6,351
(20)
(18)

14,091
2,728
(1,533)

237
2,020
(1,992)

20,679
4,728
(3,543)

6,313

(976)
14,310

265

(976)
20,888

6,056
317
(22)

13,606
3,091
(1,602)

177
79
(19)

19,839
3,487
(1,643)

6,351

(1,004)
14,091

237

(1,004)
20,679

2018
$'000
4,621
1,692
1,624
9,966
265
18,168

2017
$'000
4,649
1,702
1,600
9,813
237
18,001

2,720
2,720

2,678
2,678

18,168
2,720
20,888

18,001
2,678
20,679

Balance at the end of the financial year

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised as an expense on a systematic basis over the asset's useful life. Amortisation is generally

Current
Trade Creditors
Accrued expenses
Fire service levy
Other
Total trade and other payables

$ '000

Balance at beginning of the financial
year
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Change in the discounted amount
arising because of time and the effect of
any change in the discount rate
2017
Balance at beginning of the financial
year
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Change in the discounted amount
arising because of time and the effect of
any change in the discount rate

City of Whittlesea
Notes to the Financial Report
calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.
2017/2018 Financial
Report
For themethod
Year are
Ended
30atJune
2018 and adjustments made where appropriate.
Estimates of the remaining useful lives and amortisation
reviewed
least annually,
4.3 Payables

2018

Long service
leave
$ '000

Balance at the end of the financial year

Annual leave

(a) Employee provisions
Current
Annual leave - expected to be taken within 12 months
Annual leave - expected to be taken after 12 months
Long Service leave - expected to be taken within 12 months
Long Service leave - expected to be taken after 12 months
Other - expected to be taken within 12 months*
Total current employee provisions
Non-current
Long service leave
Total non-current employee provisions

Other*

Total

Aggregate carrying amount of
employee benefits:
Current
Non-current
Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions

857
Average employee numbers during the year (not in $'000)
* Other represents accumulated staff time in lieu and rostered days off.
The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting date.

795

Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to be wholly settled
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the
reporting date, classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.
Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee
benefits as current liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
Long service leave
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured at present value. Unconditional
LSL is disclosed as a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of
employment, is disclosed as a non - current liability.
The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of
employee benefits:
City of Whittlesea
Notes to the Financial Report
Weighted
average increase in employee costs
2017/2018 Financial
Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
Weighted average discount rates
Weighted average settlement period (months)

2018

2017

3.87%
2.44%
13

3.81%
2.41%
13
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4.5 Interest-bearing liabilities

Bank borrowings - Secured
Current
Non-current
Total

City of Whittlesea
2017/2018 Financial Report
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

2,066
14,212
16,278

2,517
25,579
28,096

Borrowings are secured by a mortgage over the general rates and charges of council.
(a) The maturity profile for Council's
borrowings is:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2,066
11,279
2,933
16,278

2,517
17,354
8,225
28,096

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction costs. The
measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as
either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference
between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net result over the period of the borrowing using the
effective interest method.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the classification of its
interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition.
4.6 Financing arrangements
The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June 2018.
Overdraft facility
Credit card facilities
Used facilities
Unused facilities

200
559
(96)
663

200
559
759

4.7 Commitments
The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are
disclosed at their nominal value and presented inclusive of the GST payable.

2018
Operating
Consultancy
Building maintenance
Health
Information technology and systems
Transport & local laws
Parks Maintenance
Leisure
Other

Capital
Consultancy
Building works
Information technology and systems
Infrastructure
Parks works
Leisure
Other

2017
Operating
Consultancy
Building maintenance
Health
Information technology and systems
Transport & local laws
Parks Maintenance
Leisure
Other

Capital
Parks & Gardens
Building and infrastructure construction
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Not later than
1 year

Later than 1
year and not
later than 2
years

Later than two
years and not
later than 5
years

$'000

$'000

$'000

Total
$'000

3
1,623
30
2,217
1,505
8,565
2,505
1,704
18,152

416
325
1,381
7
58
670
2,857

465
9,756
43
10,264

3
2,504
30
2,542
12,642
8,572
2,563
2,417
31,273

486
1,244
622
857
4,340
9,321
295
17,165

161
84
591
1,588
8,918
3
11,345

13
3
133
4,546
4
4,699

660
1,331
1,346
857
5,928
22,785
302
33,209

Not later than
1 year

Later than 1
year and not
later than 2
years

Later than two
years and not
later than 5
years

$'000

$'000

$'000

Total
$'000

237
1,488
195
1,983
555
10,976
2,323
1,709
19,466

519
23
925
102
8,157
18
1,009
10,753

582
417
55
7
3
247
1,311

237
2,589
218
3,325
712
19,140
2,344
2,965
31,530

648
4,803
5,451

6
762
768

822
822

654
6,387
7,041
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4.7 Commitments (continued)

(a) Summary
(a) Summary
of and
Property,
of Property,
Plant
Plant
and
and
Equipment
Equipment
andand
Infrastructure
Infrastructure
5.1 Property,
plant
equipment,
infrastructure

Operating lease commitments
At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the lease of equipment and land
and buildings for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

704
1,427
1,188
3,319

1,410
3,093
1,113
5,616

Property
Property
Plant
Plant
andand
equipment
equipment
Property

Infrastructure
Infrastructure
Plant
and
Work
Work
in progress
in progress
equipment
Infrastructure
Work in progress

$'000
11,010
11,010
1,303,820
1,694,668
1,694,668
15,410
15,410
11,010
3,024,908
3,024,908
1,694,668

15,410
3,024,908
Summary
of Work
in Progress
(b) (b)
Summary
of Work
in Progress

Land
Land
Buildings
Buildings
Plant
Plant
andand
equipment
equipment
Land
Infrastructure
Infrastructure
Buildings
Other
Other
Plant
and equipment

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note 5 Assets we manage

Infrastructure
Other

Note Content
5.1 Property, Plant and Equipment
(a) Summary of Property, Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment
(b) Summary of Work in Progress
(c) Details of Property Category
(d) Details of Infrastructure Category
(e) Details of Plant and Equipment Category
(f) Recognition
(g) Depreciation and Amortisation
(h) Revaluation
(i) Valuation of Property
(j) Valuation of Infrastructure
(k) Reconciliation of Specialised Land

$'000
1,392
1,392
16,633
14,383
14,383
12,803
12,803
1,392
45,211
45,211
14,383

$'000
- 7,442
40,479
40,479
- 47,921
47,921
40,479

12,803
45,211

308,612

Additions
Additions
$'000
$'000

Transfers
Transfers
$'000
$'000

1,809
1,809 Additions
5,542
5,542
Opening WIP
$'000 6,628
$'000 1,825
6,628
1,825
630630
73 73
1,809
5,542
5,661
5,661
5,060
5,060
6,628
1,825
682
303
630682
73303
15,410
15,410
12,803
12,803
5,661
5,060
682
303
15,410
12,803

Disposal
Disposal

Write-off
Write-off

At Fair
At Fair
Value
Value
30 30
June
June
2018
2018

Transfers
Transfers

$'000
(2,254)
(2,254)
(5,657)
(19,517)
(19,517)
- (2,254)
(27,428)
(27,428)
(19,517)
(27,428)

Write
Write
OffsOffs
$'000
$'000

$'000
(277)
- (277)
(7) (7)
- (277)
(284)
(284)
(7)

$'000
- - (10)
- (10)
(10)
- (10)

(284)

(10)
(10)

$'000
48 48
5,488
3,088
3,088
(8,624)
(8,624)
48
- 3,088
(8,624)
-

$'000
9,919
9,919
1,611,737
1,757,695
1,757,695
19,579
19,579
9,919
3,398,930
3,398,930
1,757,695
19,579
3,398,930

Closing
Closing
WIPWIP
$'000
$'000

Transfers (72)(72) Write Offs- - Closing WIP
7,279
7,279
3,037
$'000(5,416)
$'000 3,037
(5,416) $'000 - 655655
(48)
- (72)(48)
7,279
7,633
7,633
(3,088)
(3,088)
- 3,037
(5,416)
975
-(48)(10)
655975
- (10)
(10)
19,579
19,579
(8,624)
(8,624)
7,633
(3,088)
- (10)
(8,624)

(10)
(10)

975
19,579

Notes to the Financial Report
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5.1 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (continued)
(c) Details of property category

At fair value 1 July 2017
Accumulated Depreciation at 1 July 2017
Movements in fair value
Additions
Contributions
Revaluation
Transfers
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Revaluation increments/decrements
Fair value 30 June 2018
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018

Buildings

Land

Specialised
$'000

5.3 Investment property

Depreciation
Depreciation

$'000
- 284,011
24,601
24,601
- 308,612
308,612
24,601

47,921

2017/2018 Financial Report

5.2 Investments in associates

Revaluation
Revaluation

$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000 At Fair Value
$'000
$'000
At Fair Value
30
1,303,820
16,633
16,633 Contributions
7,442
7,442 Revaluation
284,011
284,011 Depreciation
(5,657)
(5,657) Disposal - 5,488
5,488
1,611,737
1,611,737
Additions
Write-off - Transfers
30 1,303,820
June
2017
June
2018

Opening
WIPWIP
(b) Summary of Work in Progress Opening
$'000
$'000

Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight line basis, rather than
expensed in the years in which they are incurred.

City of Whittlesea
2017/2018 Financial Report

At Fair
At Fair
Value
Value
(a) Summary of Property,
Plant
and Equipment and Infrastructure
Additions Contributions
Contributions
30 June
30 June
2017
2017 Additions

Non-specialised
$'000

Land Under Roads
$'000

Total Land
$'000

Specialised
$'000

Total Buildings
$'000

Work in progress
$'000

Total Property
$'000

1,054,940
-

2,787
-

616
-

1,058,343
-

365,875
(120,398)

365,875
(120,398)

8,437
-

1,432,655
(120,398)

1,054,940

2,787

616

1,058,343

245,477

245,477

8,437

1,312,257

5,527
7,429
249,885
72

279
-

13
(4)
-

5,527
7,442
250,160
72

11,106
38,110
5,416

11,106
38,110
5,416

7,367
(5,488)

24,000
7,442
288,270
-

262,913

279

9

263,201

54,632

54,632

1,879

319,712

1,317,853
1,317,853

3,066
3,066

625
625

1,321,544
1,321,544

(5,657)
(4,259)
(9,916)
420,507
(130,314)
290,193

(5,657)
(4,259)
(9,916)
420,507
(130,314)
290,193

10,316
10,316

(5,657)
(4,259)
(9,916)
1,752,367
(130,314)
1,622,053

See details later in this note for a reconciliation of specialised land.

29
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5.1 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (continued)

For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

5.1 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (continued)
(d)
of Infrastructure
(e)Details
Details
of Plant andcategory
Equipment category
Roads
$'000
At fair value 1 July 2017
Accumulated Depreciation at 1 July 2017

At fair value 1 July 2017

Movements in fair value
Accumulated Depreciation at 1 July 2017
Additions
Contributions
Revaluation
Movements in fair value
Disposal
Additions
Transfers

Disposal
Movements
Transfers in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Revaluation increments/decrements

Movements in accumulated depreciation
Fair
value 30 June
2018
Depreciation
and
amortisation
City of Whittlesea
Accumulated
depreciation
at 30 June
2018
Accumulated
depreciation
of disposals
2017/2018 Financial Report

1,425,306
(166,587)
1,258,719

Drainage

Bridges
$'000

Furniture
$'000 and
equipment
461,465
(88,792)
$'000

Plant27,223
and equipment
(6,360)
$'000

372,673

9,966
(8,303)
1,049
4,038
1,663

10,694
36,220
21,217
2,138
70,269

4,504
483
663
10,254 -

-

(12,460)
(3,667)
(16,127)
1,495,575
(182,714)
1,312,861

Playgrounds
$'000

(4,731)
483
2,676
(2,055)
471,719(639)
(90,847) 380,872

20,863
599
599

(316)
(147)
(463)
27,822
(6,823)
20,999

13,670
(7,304)
6,366
892
(914)
(22)

(1,615)
Notes to the Financial Report
637
For the Year(639)
Ended 30 June 2018
(978)
Fair value 30 June 2018
10,449
13,648
5.1 Property,depreciation
plant and equipment,
(continued)
Accumulated
at 30 June infrastructure
2018
(8,942)
(8,282)
1,507
5,366
(e) Details of Plant and Equipment category

Furniture and
equipment
$'000
At fair value 1 July 2017
Accumulated Depreciation at 1 July 2017
Movements in fair value
Additions
Disposal
Transfers
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Accumulated depreciation of disposals
Fair value 30 June 2018
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018

9,966
(8,303)
1,663

Plant and equipment
$'000
13,670
(7,304)
6,366

Telecommunication
conduits
$'000

Public Lighting
$'000

25,004
(4,253)
20,751

14,532

14,470 Artworks
(7,340) $'000
7,130
1,853
361
41
2,255

2,981
- 2,981-

550
-

17- 550
48
(509)
65

(177)
(702)
(879)
16,725
(8,219)
8,506

(94)
(603)
25,554
(4,856)
20,698

3,046
3,046

Artworks
$'000

Work in progress Total Infrastructure
and
$'000 Total Plant$'000

Work in25,682
progress
(11,150)
$'000
787
221
(459)
(7)
246
788
(1,324)
(237)
(1,561)
26,470
(12,711)
13,759

630
630
73
(48)
25
655
655

Work in progress
$'000
2,981
2,981

630
630

Equipment 1,984,811
5,661
$'000 (284,482)
5,661
1,700,329

5,060
(3,088)
1,972
7,633
7,633

27,247
(15,607)
19,443
40,479
11,640

26,772
(7)

1,465 (914)
86,687
(19,517)
551

(2,171)
(21,688)
2,071,498
(2,254)
(306,170)
637
1,765,328

(1,617)
27,798
(17,224)
10,574
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5.1 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (continued)
(f) Recognition
Acquisition
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as
consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs
incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads.
Refer to note 7.4 for further details on the definition of fair value.
Recognition Thresholds
In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class
and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year. The threshold limits for each asset class are listed below.
Land under roads
Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair value.
Repairs and maintenance
Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the
cost is capitalised and depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed.
(g) Depreciation and Amortisation
Buildings, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over
their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.
Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed
annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually.

Total Plant and
Equipment
$'000
27,247
(15,607)
11,640

483
483

892
(914)
(22)

17
48
65

73
(48)
25

1,465
(914)
551

(639)
(639)
10,449
(8,942)
1,507

(1,615)
637
(978)
13,648
(8,282)
5,366

3,046
3,046

655
655

(2,254)
637
(1,617)
27,798
(17,224)
10,574
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Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned
distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.
30

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life.
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.
Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.
Depreciation
Period
Land & land improvements
land
land improvements
Buildings
buildings
building and leasehold improvements
Plant and Equipment
plant, machinery and equipment
computers and telecommunications
Equipment
leased plant and equipment
Infrastructure
roads - pavements
roads - surface
roads - formation and earthworks
Newly identified assets
parks, open spaces and streetscapes
off street car parks
bridges - deck
footpaths and cycleways
drainage
light pole and lanterns
conduits and pits
Intangible assets
software

100 years

Threshold
Limit
$'000

10
5

30 - 150 years
50 years

10
5

5 - 7 years
3 years

1
1

3 years

1

50 - 120 years
10 - 25 years
500 years
100 years
20 years
50 - 120 years
25 - 100 years
20 - 100 years
100 years
20 years
50 years

5
5
5
1
1
5
1
1
1
1
1

10 years

-
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5.1 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (continued)

5.1 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (continued)
(h) Revaluation
Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured at
their fair value, being the amount for which the assets could be exchanged subsequent to initial recognition. At reporting date
each year, Council reviews the carrying value of the individual classes of assets to ensure that each asset materially
approximates their fair value. Where the carrying value materially differs from the fair value, the class of assets is revalued.

(i) Valuation of Property
In accordance with Council policy, a revaluation was undertaken for land and buildings at the reporting date. For land and buildings, fair
value is market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted
through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the
valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy, changes to which can only occur if an external
change in the restrictions or limitations on the use of an asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest and best
use of the asset. Further details of the fair value hierarchy are explained below for each class of asset.

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) characteristics, access
rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services. This adjustment is an unobservable
input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

In addition, Council undertakes a formal valuation of land, buildings and infrastructure assets annually. The valuations are
performed either by appropriately experienced Council officers or independent experts engaged by Council.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant impact on the fair value of
these assets.

Where assets are revalued, the revaluation increments arising from the valuations are credited directly to the asset revaluation
reserve except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had previously been
recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. Revaluation
decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments have been included in the asset revaluation reserve
for that class of asset in which case the decrement is debited to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments. Within
the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.
Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison
technique. Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use
and the market cost of land per square metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use
varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land values between 5% and 95%. The
market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land and the current
market conditions. Currently land values range between $1 and $12,775 per square metre.
Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique.
Significant unobservable inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful
lives of buildings. Current replacement cost is calculated on a square metre basis and ranges
from $275 to $5,200 per square metre. The remaining useful lives of buildings are
determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary from 10 years to 100
years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or
decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to
changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of
buildings.
Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant
unobservable inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of
infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined on the basis
of the current condition and design lives of the asset and vary from 15 years to 120 years.
Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease
in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes
in use, expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of
infrastructure assets.

2018
$'000

1,317,853

Valuation of land and buildings was undertaken by City of Whittlesea's Manager Property & Valuation Services , Mr Gino Mitrione, Fellow
of Australian Property Institute as at 30 June 2018.
The date of the current valuations are detailed in the following table. An indexed based revaluation was conducted in the current year on
buildings. This valuation was based on movement of values in the market and the construction industry. A full revaluation of these
assets will be conducted in 2018/19.

2017
$'000

Details of the Council’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy in as at 30 June 2018 are as follows:

Non-Specialised land
Specialised land
Specialised buildings
Total

1,054,940

Level 1
$'000
-

Level 2
$'000
3,066
3,066

Level 3
$'000
1,321,544
290,193
1,611,737

Date of Valuation
30/06/2018
30/06/2018
30/06/2018

Refer to note 7.4 for further details on the definition of fair value.
No transfers between levels occurred during the year.
(j) Valuation of infrastructure

245,477

In accordance with Council policy, a revaluation was undertaken of infrastructure assets at the reporting date. For infrastructure, fair
value is replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as the date of valuation. The date of the current valuation is detailed in the
following table.

290,193

Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with a valuation undertaken by Council's Manager City Design and
Transport, Mr. Ben Harries, Bachelor of Engineering (Civil).
Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy in $'000 as at 30 June 2018 are as follows:

1,765,328

1,700,329

Roads
Bridges
Drainage
Playgrounds
Telecommunication Conduits
Public Lighting
Total

Refer to note 7.4 for further details on the definition of fair value.

Refer to note 7.4 for further details on the definition of fair value.
No transfers between levels occurred during the year.
(k) Reconciliation of specialised land
Land
Total specialised land
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Level 1
$'000
-

Level 2
$'000
-

Level 3
$'000
1,312,861
20,999
380,872
8,506
20,698
13,759
1,757,695

Date of Valuation

2018
$'000
1,321,544
1,321,544

2017
$'000
1,054,940
1,054,940

30/06/2018
30/06/2018
30/06/2018
30/06/2018
30/06/2018
30/06/2018
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5.2 Investments in associates
(a) Investments in associates
Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service (Incorporated)

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

2,838

2,775

Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at start of year
Reported surplus(deficit) for year
Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at end of year
Movement in carrying value of specific investment
Carrying value of investment at start of year
Share of total change in equity for the year
Carrying value of investment at end of year
Council's share of expenditure commitments
Operating commitments
Council's share of expenditure commitments

Note 6 People and relationships
6.1 Council and key management remuneration
(a) Related Parties
Parent entity
City of Whittlesea is the parent entity.

Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service (Incorporated)
Background
Represents the City of Whittlesea's share in the net assets of the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service
which became an incorporated body on 12 January, 1996. The Council's 37.45% (2016/17 37.34%)
share of the net assets from their draft financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been
treated as an investment in the Balance Sheet, with an increase in the investment for the reporting period
of $63K (increase of $158K for 2016/17, which is accounted for using the equity method and shown in the
Comprehensive Income Statement.
Fair value of Council's investment in Yarra Plenty Regional Library (Incorporated)

Subsidiaries and Associates
Interests in subsidiaries and associates are detailed in Note 5.2.

2,838

2,775

1,367
63
1,430

1,224
143
1,367

2,775
63
2,838

2,617
158
2,775

658
246

937
350

(b) Key Management Personnel
Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at any time during the year are:
Councillors
Cr Kris Pavlidis - Mayor (2 November 2017 - 30 June 2018)
Cr Sam Alessi
Cr John Butler (1 July 2017 - 6 September 2017)
Cr Lawrie Cox
Cr Alahna Desiato
Cr Tom Joseph (10 October 2017 - 30 June 2018)
Cr Norm Kelly
Cr Ricky Kirkham (Mayor from 1 July 2017 - 2 November 2017)
Cr Stevan Kozmevski
Cr Mary Lalios
Cr Caz Monteleone
Cr Emilia Lisa Sterjova
CEO and executive
leadership team

Council's share of contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service does not have any contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.
Associates are all entities over which Council has significant influence but not control or joint control. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.
5.3 Investment property
Balance at beginning of financial year
Fair value adjustments
Balance at end of financial year

Notes to the Financial Report
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Mr Simon Overland
Mr Russell Hopkins
Mr Nick Mann
Ms Helen Sui
Ms Liana Thompson
Mr Steve O'Brien

Total Number of Councillors

2018
No.
12

Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel

6

8

18

24

2018
$'000
1,854
136
289
2,279

2017
$'000
1,785
140
389
454
2,768

2018
No.
1
1
8
1
1
-

2017
No.
5
5
4
1
1
1
1

Total Key Management Personnel

2,435
165
2,600

2,435
2,435

(c) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel
Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
Short-term benefits
Post employment benefits
Long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Total

Investment property is held to generate long-term rental yields. Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Costs incurred
subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefit in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset
will flow to the Council. Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment property is carried at fair value, determined annually by independent valuers.
Changes to fair value are recorded in the comprehensive income statement in the period that they arise.

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any
related entities, fall within the following bands:

Valuation of investment property
Valuation of investment property has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation by Gino Mitrione, Fellow of Australian Property Institute,
who has recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The valuation is at fair value, based on the current market value for the
property.

$0 - $9,999
$20,000 - $29,999
$30,000 - $39,999
$50,000 - $59,999
$70,000 - $79,999
$80,000 - $89,999
$170,000 - $179,999
$200,000 - $209,999
$210,000 - $219,999
$230,000 - $239,999
$240,000 - $249,999
$250,000 - $259,999
$310,000 - $319,999
$330,000 - $339,999
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2017
No.
16

-

-

2
1
2
1
18

-

-

1
1
2
2
24
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6.1 Council and key management remuneration (continued)
(d) Senior Officer Remuneration

Note 7 Managing uncertainties
7.1 Contingent assets and liabilities

A Senior Officer is an officer of Council, other than Key Management Personnel, who:
a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or
b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $145,000

(a) Contingent assets
Operating lease receivables
The Council has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property, consisting of surplus
freehold office complexes and factories. These properties held under operating leases have remaining noncancellable lease terms of between 1 and 10 years. All leases include a CPI based revision of the rental
charge annually.

The number of Senior Officers are shown below in their relevant income bands:

Income Range:
<$145,000
$145,000 - $149,999
$150,000 - $159,999
$160,000 - $169,999
$170,000 - $179,999
$180,000 - $189,999
$190,000 - $199,999
$200,000 - $209,999
$210,000 - $219,999
$230,000 - $239,999
$260,000 - $269,999
$270,000 - $279,999
$290,000 - $299,999
$300,000 - $309,999
$310,000 - $319,999
$340,000 - $349,999

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, amounted to
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2018
No.
10
9
5
6
6
2
6
1
1
1
47

2017
No.
12
6
4
6
6
4
3
1
1
1
1
1
1
47

$'000
7,496

$'000
8,016

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2018
$'000
907
2,658
2,547
6,112

2017
$'000
920
3,094
2,353
6,367

(b) Contingent liabilities
Superannuation
Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional contributions to the
scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below. As a result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making
such contributions in future periods exists. (Refer to note 8.3).
Guarantees for loans to other entities
Council has guaranteed one loan for the Epping RSL for $630,000 (2016/17 $630,000) - expires 28 February 2022. The outstanding balance on
this loan as at 30 June 2018 is $266,000. This loan does not include a redraw facility.
Financial guarantee contracts are not recognised as a liability in the balance sheet unless the lender has exercised their right to call on the
guarantee or Council has other reasons to believe that it is probable that the right will be exercised.
7.2 Change in accounting standards
The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. Council has assessed these pending
standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow from the application of these standards in future reporting periods.

6.2 Related party disclosure
(a) Transactions with related parties

Financial Instruments - Disclosures (AASB 7) (applies 2018/19)
This Standard requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate: (a) the significance of financial
instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which
the entity is exposed.

During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties.
Nil
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to

Financial Instruments (AASB 9) (applies 2018/19)
The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging accounting
model and a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed to the current approach that recognises
impairment only when incurred.

Nil

Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for LG sector)
The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is determined based on what the customer
expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the amount expected to be entitled
for performing under the contract. The full impact of this standard is not known however it is most likely to impact where contracts extend over
time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or amount of the consideration, or where there are multiple performance
elements. This has the potential to impact on the recognition of certain grant income.

(c) Loans to/from related parties
The aggregate amount of loans in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed
or secured by the council to a related party as follows:
Nil

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2019.

(d) Commitments to/from related parties
The aggregate amount of commitments in existence at balance date that have been made,
guaranteed or secured by the council to a related party are as follows:

Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)
The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will be recognised in the Balance Sheet
by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease payments will be
recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or loss will change. Rather than being shown as rent, or as
leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will
be calculated using the effective interest method, which will result in a gradual reduction of interest expense over the lease term.

Nil

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058 ) (applies 2019/20)
This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for transactions where the consideration to
acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value to enable to not-for-profit entity to further its objectives.
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7.3 Financial Instruments (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

(a) Objectives and policies
The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables), payables
(excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings. 'Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the
criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the Notes of the financial statements. 'Risk management is carried out
by senior management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to
Council and appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

(b) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
The Council's exposures to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other price risks and no
exposure to foreign currency risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. Council's interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates
which exposes council to fair value interest rate risk. Council does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at
fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
through its cash and deposits that are at floating rates.

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of Council's operational liquidity requirements, Council will not have sufficient funds to settle a
transaction when required, and Council will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a financial
asset.
To help reduce these risks Council:
- has an investment policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
- have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;
- have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;
- monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and
- set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal repayments to rate revenue.
The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face of the balance sheet
and the amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 7.1(b), and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and
current assessment of risk.
There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or the
methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade. Details of the maturity profile
for borrowings are disclosed at Note 4.5.
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989 . Council manages interest
rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:

(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

- diversification of investment product;
- monitoring of return on investment; and
- benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of the
financial markets, Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:
- A parallel shift of +0.25% and -0.25% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 1.50%.
These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a material
City of Whittleseaimpact on the results of Council's operations. Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
7.4 Fair value measurement

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing interest rate risk or
the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year end result.
(c) Credit risk

Fair value hierarchy
Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. Council's financial assets and liabilities
are measured at amortised cost.

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause Council to make a
financial loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our balance sheet. To help manage this risk:

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair
value measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair
value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.

- Council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities Council deal with;
- Council may require collateral where appropriate; and
- Council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our investment policy.
Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. Credit risk associated
with the Council's financial assets is minimal. Rates debtors are secured by a charge over the rateable property. Council has assessed that
14% of parking infringement debts owing to Council are unlikely to be collected and has raised a provision for doubtful debts over those
debts based on an assessment of collectability. The collection of long overdue parking infringement debts is managed by Fines Victoria.

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable;
and
Level 3 — Valuation
techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics
and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when Council provide a
guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 7.1(b).
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable;
and
Level
3 — Valuation
techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
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asset.
measured
at fair value
to ensure
asset
approximated
value. by
Where
the carrying
value Standards.
materially differed
from
the
Council measures
certain
assets that
and each
liabilities
at materially
fair value where
requireditsorfair
permitted
Australian
Accounting
AASB 13
Fair
fair
value
at
balance
date,
the
class
of
asset
was
revalued.
value measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair
To help reduce these risks Council:
value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.
- has an investment policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
Fair value
valuations
determined
in accordance
with
a valuation
Changes
to the valuation
will only
occur if between
an
13 defines
fair are
value
as thefacilities
price
thatand
would
received
to sellhierarchy.
an asset
or
paid to transfer
a liabilityhierarchy
in an orderly
transaction
-AASB
have readily
accessible
standby
otherbefunding
arrangements
in place;
external
change in the
restrictions
or limitations
of use
of under
an asset
result
inis changes
to the
permissible
or practical
highest
and
best use of
market
participants
at
the
measurement
date.
Fair
value
AASB
13
an
exit
price
regardless
of
whether
that
price
is
directly
- have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;
the asset. Inoraddition,
Council
a formal
revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from 1
observable
estimated
using undertakes
another valuation
technique.
-tomonitor
to actual performance
on a regular
basis; andcouncil officers or independent experts.
3 years.budget
The valuation
is performed either
by experienced
-Allsetassets
limits and
on borrowings
percentage
of loans
to rate revenue
and percentage
of loan
repayments
to rate
liabilities forrelating
which to
fairthe
value
is measured
or disclosed
in the financial
statements
are principal
categorised
within a fair
valuerevenue.
hierarchy,
Where theas
assets
are based
revalued,
the lowest
revaluation
creditedtodirectly
the asset
revaluation
described
follows,
on the
level increments
input that isare
significant
the fairtovalue
measurement
asreserve
a whole:except to the extent that an
increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is
Level
1 — Quoted
(unadjusted)
pricesrisk
in active
markets amounts
for identical
assets orliabilities
liabilitiesas disclosed in the face of the balance sheet
The
Council's
maximum
exposuremarket
to liquidity
is the carrying
of financial
recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior
and
the2amounts
related
to financial
disclosed
Notethat
7.1(b),
and is deemed
insignificant
based on prior
periods'
and
Level
— Valuation
techniques
for guarantees
which the lowest
levelininput
is significant
to the fair
value measurement
is directly
or data
indirectly
increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the
current
assessment
risk.
observable;
and oftechniques
Level
3
—
Valuation
for
which
the
lowest
level
input
that
is
significant
to
the
fair
value
measurement
is
unobservable.
extent of the remaining increments. Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.
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Note 8 Other matters

8.1 Reserves

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

988,494
68,626
73,285
1,130,405

679,882
37,194
57,494
774,570

Summary
The Council at the end of the reporting period held the following reserve balances:
Asset revaluation reserves
Asset replacement reserve
Asset development reserve

Balance at
beginning of
reporting
period
(a) Asset revaluation reserves

Increment
(decrement)

Balance at end
of reporting
period

$'000

$'000

$'000

78,453
326,740
1,726
272,963
679,882

33,850
250,161
24,601
308,612

112,303
576,901
1,726
297,564
988,494

78,453
326,740
1,726
219,877
626,796

53,086
53,086

78,453
326,740
1,726
272,963
679,882

2018
Buildings
Land
Artworks
Infrastructure
2017
Buildings
Land
Artworks
Infrastructure

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.

Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets 41
have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is
expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is
recognised directly against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not
exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.
7.5 Events occurring after balance date
On 12 July 2018, Council formally announced a planned organisational restructure that became effective as of 27 July 2018. Under the
restructure, the number of Council directorates will be reduced from five to four, with the Planning and Major Projects directorate to be
disbanded.
The aim of this restructure is to create better alignment between Council structure and objectives with key outcomes expected including;
·
better alignment between departments, directorates and strategy;
·
improved reporting lines, authority and accountability;
·
increased quality assurance and legislative compliance to minimise risk to Council and the community;
·
increased efficiency, productivity and performance;
·
better ability to effectively serve the community
Due
to
an
ongoing
internal consultation
process currently being undertaken, no reliable estimate of monetary savings to Council resulting
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Note 8 Other matters

Note 8 Other matters

8.1 Reserves (continued)
Balance at
beginning of
reporting
period
(b) Other reserves*

8.1 Reserves (continued)
Purpose of Reserves
Transfer from
accumulated
surplus

Transfer to Balance at end
accumulated
of reporting
surplus
period

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

37,194
57,494
94,688

70,767
20,357
91,124

(39,335)
(4,566)
(43,901)

68,626
73,285
141,911

47,164
53,925
101,089

19,746
12,944
32,690

(29,716)
(9,375)
(39,091)

37,194
57,494
94,688

2018
Asset replacement reserve
Asset development reserve
2017
Asset replacement reserve
Asset development reserve
*see below for breakdown of other reserves
Asset replacement reserve
Plant replacement
Tip replacement
Computer equipment replacement
Land sales
Non Standard Street lighting contributions
Synthetic Turf replacement
Green Waste Bin replacement
Traffic Lights construction
Lutheran Church
Unspent budgeted capital works
Unspent recurrent projects
Technology improvement fund
LASF defined benefit plan liability
Other
Asset development reserve
Parklands contribution
Community facilities
Car parking
Planning Permit Drainage Levy
Net Gain Compensation
Plenty Road Duplication
Other

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

1,899
2,455
734
2,853
1,670
3,761
370
380
20,138
12,242
5,661
3,288
13,175
68,626

6,953
8,134
41
574
2,806
1,460
2,994
329
380
4,512
4,393
2,576
2,042
37,194

2,650
62,947
28
1,361
3,166
1,567
1,566
73,285

1,643
47,760
28
2,128
3,076
1,233
1,626
57,494
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Asset replacement reserve
Plant replacement
Tip replacement
Computer equipment replacement
Land sales
Non Standard Street lighting contributions
Synthetic Turf replacement
Green Waste Bin replacement
Traffic Lights construction
Lutheran Church
Unspent budgeted capital works
Unspent recurrent projects
Technology improvement fund
LASF defined benefit plan liability

Enable replacement of fleet and heavy plant
Support tip restoration requirements as per EPA licences
Enable replacement of computing equipment
Accumulate funds for land purchases and asset development as determined by Council
Maintain non-standard lights for agreed period
Enable replacement of Synthetic Turf Pitches at designated locations
Enable replacement of Green Waste Bins
Maintain traffic signals for agreed period
Enable funding to purchase the church site
Recognise outstanding commitment for incomplete capital works projects
Recognise outstanding commitment for incomplete recurrent works projects
Enable replacement of technology hardware and software
Protection against future calls on employees defined benefits superannuation fund

Asset development reserve
Parklands contribution
Community facilities
Car parking
Planning Permit Drainage Levy

Funding from developers for the provision of open space and associated infrastructure
Developer contributions received for future community facilities and assets
Provision of car parking spaces
Funding from developers to expand drainage infrastructure to absorb extra inflow due to
multi-unit developments
Net Gain Compensation
Replanting of trees as per planning permit condition
City of Whittlesea
Notes to the Financial Report
Plenty Road Duplication
Funding from developers for Plenty Road duplication works
2017/2018 Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Share of net profits of associate
Depreciation
Contributions - Non-monetary assets
(Profit)/loss on disposal of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Finance costs
Fair value adjustments for investment property
Found assets
Other including GST related to investing activities
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
(Decrease)/increase in trust funds and deposits
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions

96,412
(63)
27,514
(47,921)
(327)
1,637
165
4,123

106,926
(158)
25,919
(53,323)
(194)
1,982
(5,774)
5,720

(2,779)
41
(638)
8,880
1,096
209

(1,381)
(82)
(2,208)
(7,572)
400
840

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

88,349

71,095

8.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit)
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8.3 Superannuation

Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local
Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an
expense in the Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.
Accumulation
The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receive both employer and employee
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of
employee earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2018, this was 9.5% as required under Superannuation
Guarantee legislation).
Defined Benefit
Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined
Benefit category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers
as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that
the aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of
participation of Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating
employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between
employers for the purposes of AASB 119.

Notes to the Financial Report
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8.3 Superannuation (continued)
Employer contributions
Regular contributions
On the basis of the results of the 2017 triennial actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council
makes employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee.
For the year ended 30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2016/2017). This rate will
increase in line with any increases in the SG contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover
the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement
benefit.
Funding calls
If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the Defined
Benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the
Defined Benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in
place so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on
a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97%.
In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s
participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall.
Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on
the pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with
the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated.
Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the
Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up.
If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. In the event that a
participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to that
employer’s successor.

Funding arrangements
Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the
Trustee on the advice of the Fund Actuary.
As at 30 June 2017, a full triennial actuarial investigation was completed. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the
Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer was 103.1%. To determine the VBI, the Fund
Actuary used the following long-term assumptions:
Net investment returns 6.5% pa
Salary information 3.5% pa
Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa.
Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 30 June 2018 was 106%.
The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2017
actuarial investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no
change was necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

2017 triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts
The Fund’s triennial investigation as at 30 June 2017 identified the following in the defined benefit category of
which Council is a contributing employer:
A VBI surplus of $69.8 million
A total service liability surplus of $193.5 million.
A discounted accrued benefits surplus of $228.8 million.
The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations
exceed the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on
30 June 2017. Council was notified of the 30 June 2017 VBI during August 2017.
2018 interim actuarial investigation
An interim actuarial investigation will be conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2018. It is anticipated that
this actuarial investigation will be completed in December 2018.
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Protected Disclosure Act 2012
PROCEDURES
August 2016
1.

City of Whittlesea
Protected Disclosure Act Procedures
Statement of Support

(b)

The City of Whittlesea (Council) is committed to the aims and objectives of the
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (the Act). It does not tolerate improper conduct by its
employees, officers or members, nor the taking of reprisals against those who come
forward to disclose such conduct. Council recognises the value of transparency and
accountability in its administrative and management practices, and supports the
making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving a substantial
mismanagement of public resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public
health and safety or the environment.
Council will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures
from any detrimental action in reprisal for making the disclosure. It will also afford
natural justice to the person who is the subject of the disclosure.
2.

These procedures are designed to complement normal communication channels
between supervisors and employees. Employees are encouraged to continue to raise
appropriate matters at any time with their supervisors. As an alternative, employees
may make a disclosure of improper conduct or detrimental action under the Act in
accordance with these procedures.
Objects of the Act

The Act commenced operation on 10 February 2013. The purpose of the Act is to
encourage and facilitate disclosures of improper conduct by public officers and public
bodies. The Act provides protection to persons who make disclosures in accordance
with the Act (disclosers), and establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be
assessed and, if they constitute protected disclosure complaints, investigated. Council
might also, depending on the outcome of an investigation, be required to take rectifying
action.
4.

Definitions of Key Terms

Three key concepts in the reporting system are improper conduct, corrupt conduct and
detrimental action. Definitions of these terms are set out below.
4.1

(2)

Improper conduct

A disclosure may be made about improper conduct by a public body or public official.
Improper conduct is defined by section 4 of the Act as follows:
(1)

conduct specified in subsection (2) that is not corrupt conduct
but that, if proved, would constitute –
(i)

a criminal offence; or

(ii)

reasonable grounds for dismissing or dispensing with,
or otherwise terminating the services of the officer who
was, or is, engaged in that conduct.

For the purposes of subsection (1)(b), specified conduct is conduct –
(a)

of any person that adversely affects the honest performance
by a public officer or public body of his or her or its functions
as a public officer or public body; or

(b)

of a public officer or public body that constitutes or involves
the dishonest performance of his or her or its functions as a
public officer or public body; or

(c)

of a public officer or public body that constitutes or involves
knowingly or recklessly breaching the public trust; or

(d)

of a public officer or public body that involves the misuse of
information or material acquired in the course of the
performance of his or her or its functions as a public officer or
public body, whether or not for the benefit of the public officer
or public body or any other person; or

(e)

that could constitute conspiracy or an attempt to engage in
any conduct referred to in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d); or

(f)

of a public or public body in his or her capacity as a public
officer or its capacity as a public body that –

Purpose of These Procedures

These procedures establish a system for reporting disclosures of improper conduct or
detrimental action by Council or its members, officers or employees. The system
enables such disclosures to be made to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or to one
of the nominated Protected Disclosure Officers. Disclosures may be made by
employees or by members of the public.

3.

City of Whittlesea
Protected Disclosure Act Procedures

(i)

involves substantial
resources; or

mismanagement

of

(ii)

involves substantial risk to health or safety; or

(iii)

involves substantial risk to the environment.

public

The conduct must be serious enough to constitute, if proved, a criminal offence or
reasonable grounds for dismissal.
Examples
To avoid closure of a town’s only industry, an environmental health officer
ignores or conceals evidence of illegal dumping of waste.
A building inspector tolerates poor practices and structural defects in the
work of a leading local builder.

For the purposes of this Act, improper conduct means –
(a)

corrupt conduct; or
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4.2

4.3

Corrupt conduct

Corrupt conduct is defined by section 4 of the Independent Broad-based Anticorruption Commission Act 2011 (and is adopted by section 3 of the Act) as follows:
(1)

For the purposes of this Act, corrupt conduct means conduct –
(a)

of any person that adversely affects the honest performance
by a public officer or public body of his or her or its functions
as a public officer or public body;

(b)

of a public officer or public body that constitutes or involves
the dishonest performance of his or her or its functions as a
public officer or public body;

(c)

of a public officer or public body that constitutes or involves
knowingly or recklessly breaching public trust;

(d)

of a public officer or a public body that involves the misuse of
information or material acquired in the course of the
performance of his or her or its functions as a public officer or
public body, whether or not for the benefit of the public officer
or public body or any other person;

(e)

City of Whittlesea
Protected Disclosure Act Procedures

The Act makes it an offence for a person to take detrimental action against a person in
reprisal for making a protected disclosure. Detrimental action is defined by section 3 of
the Act as including:

(a)
(b)

all or any part of the conduct occurs outside Victoria, including
outside Australia; and
the conduct would be corrupt conduct if it occurred in Victoria.

The conduct must be serious enough to constitute, if proved, a criminal offence, being
an indictable offence, an attempt to pervert the course of justice, bribery of a public
official or perverting the course of justice.
Examples
A Councillor/Council employee takes a bribe or receives a payment other
than his or her wages or salary (in the case of employees) in exchange for
the discharge of a public duty.
A Council employee favours unmeritorious applications for jobs or permits
by friends and relatives.
A Councillor/Council employee sells confidential information.

action causing injury, loss or damage;

(b)

intimidation or harassment;

(c)

discrimination, disadvantage or adverse treatment in relation to a
person's employment, career, profession, trade or business, including
the taking of disciplinary action.

The Council refuses a deserved promotion of a person who makes a
disclosure.
The Council demotes, transfers, isolates in the workplace or changes the
duties of a person due to the making of a disclosure.
A person threatens, abuses or carries out other forms of harassment
directly or indirectly, against a person who makes a disclosure or his or her
family, friends or associates.

that could constitute a conspiracy an attempt to engage in any
conduct referred to in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) –

Conduct may be corrupt conduct for the purposes of this Act if –

(a)

Examples

The Council discriminates against a person who makes a disclosure or his
or her family, friends or associates in subsequent applications for jobs,
permits or tenders.

being conduct that would, if the facts were found proved beyond a
reasonable doubt at a trial, constitute a relevant offence.
(2)

Detrimental action

5.

The Reporting System

5.1

Contact persons within Council

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by Council or its members,
officers or employees, may be made to the following officers:
•

The Protected Disclosure Coordinator
Michael Tonta, Manager Governance - 9217 2207

•

The Protected Disclosure Officer
Angelo Mamatis, Team Leader Governance - 9217 2223

All correspondence, phone calls and emails from persons making a disclosure to
someone other than the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or the Protected Disclosure
Officer will be referred, at first instance, to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator.
Where a person is contemplating making a disclosure and is concerned about
approaching the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or the Protected Disclosure Officer
in the workplace, he or she can call the relevant officer and request a meeting in a
discreet location away from the workplace.

-5-6-
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5.2

Alternative contact persons

A disclosure about improper conduct or detrimental action by Council or its members,
officers or employees, may also be made directly to the Independent Broad-based Anticorruption Commission (IBAC):
Address:

Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3001
GPO Box 24234
Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Phone:
Fax:
Internet:

1300 735 135
(03) 8635 6444
www.ibac.vic.gov.au

or to the Ombudsman:
Address:

Level 2, 570 Bourke Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Phone:
Email:
Internet:

(03) 9613 6222
ombudsmanvic@ombudsman.vic.gov.au
www.ombudsmanvic.vic.gov.au

The following table sets out where disclosures about persons other than employees of
Council should be made.
Person who is the subject of the
disclosure

Person/body to whom the disclosure must
be made

Member, officer or employee of
Council

Council or the IBAC

Councillor

The IBAC or the Ombudsman

Member of Parliament
(Legislative Assembly)

Speaker of the Legislative Assembly

Member of Parliament
(Legislative Council)

President of the Legislative Council

Ombudsman Officer

The IBAC or the Victorian Inspectorate

The IBAC or an IBAC Officer

The Victorian Inspectorate

Chief Commissioner of Police

The IBAC

Member of the police force

A member of police personnel with a rank of
sergeant or above or the IBAC

-7-
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6.

Roles and Responsibilities

6.1

Employees

Employees are encouraged to report known or suspected incidences of improper
conduct or detrimental action in accordance with these procedures. All Council
employees have an important role to play in supporting those who have made a
legitimate disclosure. They must refrain from any activity that is, or could be perceived
to be, victimisation or harassment of a person who makes a disclosure. Furthermore,
they should protect and maintain the confidentiality of a person they know or suspect to
have made a disclosure.
6.2

Protected Disclosure Officer

The Protected Disclosure Officer will:
•

Be a contact point for general advice about the operation of the Act for any
person wishing to make a disclosure about improper conduct or detrimental
action

•

Receive any disclosure directed to the Protected Disclosure Officer made orally
or in writing (including by telephone, email and letter) from members of the
public or employees seeking to make a disclosure

•

Commit to writing any disclosure made orally

•

Make arrangements for a disclosure to be made privately and discreetly and, if
necessary, away from the workplace

•

Impartially assess the allegation and form a view as to whether it is a disclosure
made in accordance with Part 2 of the Act (ie a protected disclosure)

•

Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the person making the
disclosure and the identity of the person who is the subject of the disclosure are
kept confidential

•

Forward all disclosures, supporting evidence and recommendations to the
Protected Disclosure Coordinator for assessment and final determination of
whether the disclosure is a protected disclosure.

6.3

Protected Disclosure Coordinator

The Protected Disclosure Coordinator has a central clearinghouse role in the internal
reporting system. He or she will:
•

Receive all disclosures forwarded from the Protected Disclosure Officer for
assessment and final determination of whether the disclosure is a protected
disclosure

•

Receive any disclosure directed to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator made
orally or in writing (including by telephone, email and letter) from members of
the public or employees seeking to make a disclosure
-8-
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•

Commit to writing any disclosure made orally

7.

•

Make arrangements for a disclosure to be made privately and discreetly and, if
necessary, away from the workplace

•

Impartially assess each disclosure to determine whether it is a disclosure made
in accordance with Part 2 of the Act (ie a protected disclosure)

Council will take all reasonable steps, in accordance with sections 52 and 53 of the Act,
to protect and keep confidential the content of the disclosure and the identity of the
person making it. Maintaining confidentiality is crucial in ensuring that reprisals are not
made against a discloser.

•

Within 28 days of receipt, notify a disclosure which the Protected Disclosure
Coordinator thinks is a protected disclosure to the IBAC for assessment

•

Appoint a Welfare Manager to support the discloser and to protect him or her
from any reprisals

•

Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the person making the
disclosure and the identity of the person who is the subject of the disclosure are
kept confidential

Confidentiality

The Act prohibits any person who receives information via a protected disclosure from
disclosing the content, or information about the content, of that disclosure, or the
identity of the person making it, except in certain limited circumstances. Disclosure of
information in breach of section 52 or 53 constitutes an offence that is punishable by a
maximum fine of 120 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months or both for a natural
person and 600 penalty units for a body corporate.
The circumstances in which a person may disclose information obtained about a
protected disclosure include circumstances where:
•

Advise, to the extent possible, the discloser of the progress of an investigation
into the protected disclosure (it is noted that any investigation will be managed
by the IBAC, meaning that Council may have limited information about its
progress)

The discloser has given their consent, in writing, to the disclosure of their
identity;

•

The IBAC has determined that an assessable disclosure is not a protected
disclosure (then the confidentiality provisions cease to apply)

•

Establish and manage a confidential filing system

•

It is necessary for the purpose of the exercise of Council's functions under the
Act

•

Collate and publish statistics on disclosures made

•

It is necessary for the purpose of obtaining legal advice

•

Liaise with the chief executive officer of the public body.

•

It is necessary to use an interpreter for persons who require such assistance

6.4

Welfare Manager

•

The information is disclosed to a parent or guardian of a person who is under 18
years of age

•

The information is disclosed to an independent person for the purpose of
enabling a person who is suffering a disability to understand an obligation under
the Act.

•

The Welfare Manager is responsible for looking after the general welfare of the
discloser. The Welfare Manager will:
•

Examine the immediate welfare and protection needs of a discloser and seek to
foster a supportive work environment

•

Advise the discloser of the legislative and administrative protections available to
him or her

•

Listen and respond to any concerns of harassment, intimidation or victimisation
in reprisal for making disclosure

•

Ensure the confidentiality of the identity of the discloser and the content of the
disclosure in accordance with the Act

•

Ensure the expectations of the discloser are realistic.

-9-
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While Council is required to include certain information about protected disclosures in
its Annual Report, the Act prohibits the inclusion of particulars in any report or
recommendation that are likely to lead to the identification of the discloser or the
person who is the subject of the disclosure.
Council will ensure all files, whether paper or electronic, are kept in a secure room and
can only be accessed by the Protected Disclosure Coordinator, Protected Disclosure
Officer or the Welfare Manager (in relation to welfare matters). The Welfare Manager
will be given access only to those files which relate to the discloser in respect of whom,
and the disclosure in respect of which, they have been appointed.
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All printed material will be kept in files that are clearly marked as a Protected
Disclosure Act matter, and warn of the criminal penalties that apply to any unauthorised
divulging of information concerning a protected disclosure. All electronic files will be
produced and stored on a stand-alone computer and be given password protection.
Backup files will be kept on floppy disc or USB which will be kept by the Protected
Disclosure Coordinator in a secure place. All other types of materials relevant to
protected disclosure, such as tapes from interviews, will also be stored securely with
the disclosure files.
Council will not email documents relevant to a protected disclosure matter and will
ensure all phone calls and meetings are conducted in private.
8.

Collating and Publishing Statistics

Section 70 of the Act requires Council to include in its Annual Report, the number of
disclosures (ie protected disclosures) notified to the IBAC during the preceding
financial year.
For this purpose, the Protected Disclosure Coordinator will establish a secure register
to record that information, and to generally keep account of the status of disclosures
made to Council. The register will be confidential and will not record any information
that may identify the discloser.
The register will contain the following information:
•

The number and types of disclosures made to Council during the year

•

The number of disclosures assessed by Council to be protected disclosures and
notified to the IBAC during the year

•

The number and types of disclosures assessed by Council not to be protected
disclosures

•

The numbers and types of protected disclosures investigated, referred or
dismissed by the IBAC (to the extent that Council has access to that
information)

•

9.

Any recommendations made by the IBAC or the Ombudsman that relate to
Council.
Receiving and Assessing Disclosures

Where a disclosure has been received by the Protected Disclosure Officer or the
Protected Disclosure Coordinator, he or she will assess whether the disclosure has
been made in accordance with Part 2 of the Act and is, therefore, a protected
disclosure.
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9.1

Has the disclosure been made to the appropriate person?

For Council to treat the disclosure as a disclosure made under the Act, it must concern
an employee, member or officer of the City of Whittlesea. A disclosure can be made:
•

To the Chief Executive Officer

•

To Council’s Protected Disclosure Coordinator or Protected Disclosure Officer

•

If the person making the disclosure is an employee or officer of the Council, to
an employee who directly or indirectly supervises or manages that person

•

If the disclosure relates to an employee or officer of a Council, to an employee
who directly or indirectly supervises or manages that person.

If the disclosure concerns a member, officer or employee of another public body,
Council will endeavour to advise the person who has made the disclosure of the correct
person or body to whom the disclosure should be directed (see the table in paragraph
5.2 above). If the disclosure has been made anonymously, it should be referred to the
IBAC.
If a disclosure concerns a Councillor, it must be made to the IBAC or the Ombudsman.
If a disclosure concerning a Councillor is made to Council, the discloser will be advised
of the correct person to whom, or body to which, the disclosure should be directed.
9.2

Does the disclosure contain the essential elements of a protected
disclosure?

To be a protected disclosure, a disclosure must satisfy the following criteria:
•

Did a natural person (that is, an individual person rather than a corporation)
make the disclosure?

•

Does the disclosure relate to conduct of a member, officer or employee of
Council acting in their official capacity?

•

Is the alleged conduct either improper conduct or detrimental action taken
against a person in reprisal for making a protected disclosure?

•

Does the person making the disclosure have reasonable grounds for believing
that the alleged conduct has occurred?

Where a disclosure is received by the Protected Disclosure Officer, the Protected
Disclosure Officer will make an initial assessment about whether it is a protected
disclosure.
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will determine whether the
disclosure is a protected disclosure.
Where the Protected Disclosure Coordinator determines that a disclosure is a
protected disclosure, he or she will notify the protected disclosure to the IBAC. That
notification must be made within 28 days of receiving the disclosure and the person
making the disclosure must also be notified of it.

- 12 -

City of Whittlesea ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 | 153

APPENDIX 1

APPENDIX 1
City of Whittlesea
Protected Disclosure Act Procedures

City of Whittlesea
Protected Disclosure Act Procedures

Where a disclosure is assessed not to be a protected disclosure, Council must notify
the person making the disclosure of that decision and the matter does not need to be
dealt with under the Act. The Protected Disclosure Officer will decide how the matter
should be responded to in consultation with the Protected Disclosure Coordinator, and
the person making the disclosure will be advised of alternative complaint mechanisms
available for addressing the allegations comprising the original disclosure.

Other statutory protections (contained in the Act) applicable to a person who makes a
protected disclosure include:
•

Immunity from civil and criminal liability and disciplinary action for the making of
the disclosure (section 39)

In reaching a conclusion as to whether a disclosure is a protected disclosure, the
Protected Disclosure Coordinator will consider whether the disclosure would, if proved
true, show, or tend to show, that the member, officer or employee of Council to whom
the disclosure relates:

•

Immunity from liability for breaching a confidentiality provision (section 40)

•

Protection from actions in defamation (section 41)

•

Provision of a statutory right to sue for damages for reprisals made (section 45)

•

Has engaged, is engaging or proposes to engage in improper conduct in his or
her capacity as a member, officer or employee of Council; or

•

Provision of a statutory right to apply for reinstatement where detrimental action
involves termination or variation of employment (section 46); and

•

Has taken, is taking, or proposes to take detrimental action in reprisal for the
making of the protected disclosure.

•

Provision of a statutory right to apply to the Supreme Court for an injunction or
order requiring detrimental action to be remedied (section 49).

10.2

Keeping the discloser informed

Where the Protected Disclosure Coordinator concludes that the disclosure amounts to
a protected disclosure, he or she will:
•

Notify the person who made the disclosure of that conclusion; and

•

Notify the disclosure to the IBAC for formal determination as to whether it is a
protected disclosure complaint.

The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will ensure the discloser is kept informed of
action taken in relation to his or her disclosure, and the time frames that apply. To the
extent possible, the discloser will be informed of the conduct of an investigation (if any),
the findings of an investigation, and the steps taken by Council to address any
improper conduct that has been found to have occurred. All communication with the
discloser will be in plain English.

10.

Managing the Welfare of the Discloser

10.3

10.1

Commitment to protecting disclosers

If a discloser reports an incident of harassment, discrimination or adverse treatment
that would amount to detrimental action taken in reprisal for the making of the
disclosure, the Welfare Manager will:

Council is committed to the protection of persons making genuine disclosures against
detrimental action taken in reprisal for the making of protected disclosures. The
Protected Disclosure Coordinator is responsible for ensuring disclosers are protected
from direct and indirect detrimental action, and that the culture of the workplace is
supportive of protected disclosures being made.
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will appoint a Welfare Manager to all persons
who have made a protected disclosure. The Welfare Manager will undertake the
responsibilities set out in paragraph 6.5 above in respect of a discloser to whom they
are appointed.
All employees will be advised that it is an offence for a person to take detrimental
action in reprisal for a protected disclosure. The maximum penalty is a fine of 240
penalty units or two years imprisonment or both. The taking of detrimental action in
breach of this provision can also be grounds for making a disclosure under the Act and
can result in an investigation.
The Welfare Manager must not divulge any details relating to the disclosed matter to
any person other than the Protected Disclosure Coordinator (or the Protected
Disclosure Officer, as the case may be). All meetings between the Welfare Manager
and the discloser must be conducted discreetly to protect the confidentiality of the
disclosure and the discloser.
- 13 -
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Occurrence of detrimental action

•

Record details of the incident

•

Advise the discloser of his or her rights under the Act

•

Advise the Protected Disclosure Coordinator of the detrimental action.

The taking of detrimental action in reprisal for the making of a disclosure can be an
offence against the Act as well as grounds for making a further disclosure. Where such
detrimental action is reported, the Protected Disclosure Coordinator will assess the
report as a new disclosure under the Act. Where the Protected Disclosure Coordinator
is satisfied that the disclosure is a protected disclosure, he or she will notify it to the
IBAC for assessment and, if the IBAC sees fit, action.
10.4

Disclosers implicated in improper conduct

Where a person who makes a disclosure is implicated in misconduct, Council will
handle the disclosure and protect the discloser from reprisals in accordance with the
Act and these procedures. Council acknowledges that the act of making a disclosure
should not shield the person making the disclosure from the reasonable consequences
flowing from any involvement in improper conduct.
- 14 -
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Section 42 of the Act specifically provides that a person's liability for his or her own
conduct is not affected by their disclosure of that conduct under the Act. However, in
some circumstances, an admission may be a mitigating factor when considering
disciplinary or other action.

12.2

It is an offence for a person to disclose information about the content of a
protected disclosure without legislative authority. The Act provides a maximum
penalty of 120 penalty units or six months imprisonment or both for a natural
person and 600 penalty units for a body corporate.

12.3

It is an offence for a person to obstruct IBAC Officers or the Ombudsman in the
performance of their responsibilities under the Act. The Act provides a
maximum penalty of 120 penalty units or 12 months imprisonment or both.

12.4

It is an offence for a person to knowingly provide false information under the Act
with the intention that it be acted on as a disclosed matter. The Act provides a
maximum penalty of 120 penalty units or 12 months imprisonment or both.

The intention to proceed with disciplinary action is not causally connected to the
making of the disclosure (as opposed to the content of the disclosure or other
available information)

13.

Review

•

There are good and sufficient grounds that would fully justify action against any
other person (ie not making the disclosure) in the same circumstances

These procedures will be reviewed annually to ensure they meet the objectives of the
Act and accord with any guidelines published by the IBAC.

•

There are good and sufficient grounds that justify exercising any discretion to
institute disciplinary or other action.

-oOo-

The Chief Executive Officer will make the final decision, on the advice of the Protected
Disclosure Coordinator, as to whether disciplinary or other action will be taken against
a person making a disclosure. Where disciplinary or other action relates to conduct
that is the subject of the relevant disclosure, the disciplinary or other action will only be
taken after the disclosed matter has been appropriately dealt with.
In all cases where disciplinary or other action is being contemplated, the Chief
Executive Officer must be satisfied that it has been clearly demonstrated that:
•

The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will thoroughly document the process, including
recording the reasons why the disciplinary or other action is being taken, and the
reasons why the action is not in retribution for the making of the disclosure. The
Protected Disclosure Coordinator will clearly advise the discloser of the proposed
action to be taken, and of any mitigating factors that have been taken into account.
11.

Management of the Person Against Whom a Disclosure has been Made

Council recognises that employees against whom disclosures are made must also be
supported during the handling of disclosures. Council will take all reasonable steps to
ensure the confidentiality of the person who is the subject of the disclosure.
Council will give its full support to a person who is the subject of a disclosure where the
allegations contained in a disclosure are clearly wrong or unsubstantiated. If the matter
has been publicly disclosed, the Chief Executive Officer will consider any request by
that person to issue a statement of support setting out that the allegations were clearly
wrong or unsubstantiated.
12.

Criminal Offences

Council will ensure that officers appointed to handle protected disclosures and all other
employees are aware of the following offences created by the Act:
12.1

It is an offence for a person to take detrimental action against a person in
reprisal for a protected disclosure being made. The Act provides a maximum
penalty of a fine of 240 penalty units or two years imprisonment or both.
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